Quantum dots: modern methods of synthesis and optical properties

Andrey A. Rempel,^{a,b} Oleg V. Ovchinnikov,^c Ilya A. Weinstein,^{a,b} Svetlana V. Rempel,^d Yulia V. Kuznetsova,^d Andrey V. Naumov,^{e, f,g} Mikhail S. Smirnov,^c Ivan Yu. Eremchev,^{f,g} Alexander S. Vokhmintsev,^b[©] Sergey S. Savchenko^b[©]

^a Institute of Metallurgy of the Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences ul. Amundsena 101, 620016 Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation

^b Ural Federal University

ul. Mira 19, 620002 Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation

^c Voronezh State University

Universitetskava pl. 1, 394006 Voronezh, Russian Federation

^d Institute of Solid State Chemistry of the Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences ul. Pervomaiskava 91, 620990 Ekaterinburg, Russian Federation

^e Troitsk Branch of the P.N.Lebedev Physical Institute, Russian Academy of Sciences

ul. Fizicheskaya 11, 108840 Troitsk, Moscow, Russian Federation

^f Moscow Pedagogical State University

ul. M. Pirogovskava 29, 119992 Moscow, Russian Federation ^g Institute of Spectroscopy of the Russian Academy of Sciences ul. Fizicheskaya 5, 108840 Troitsk, Moscow, Russian Federation

Quantum dots are the most exciting representatives of nanomaterials. They are synthesized using advanced methods of nanotechnology pertaining to both inorganic and organic chemistry. Quantum dots possess unique physical and chemical properties; therefore, they are used in very different fields of physics, chemistry, biology, engineering and medicine. It is not surprising that the Nobel Prize in chemistry in 2023 was given for discovery and synthesis of quantum dots. This review addresses modern methods for the synthesis of quantum dots and their optical properties and practical applications. In the beginning, a short insight into the history of quantum dots is given. Many gifted scientists, including chemists and physicists, were engaged in these studies. The synthesis of quantum dots in solid and liquid matrices is described in detail. Quantum dots are well-known owing to their unique optical properties; that is why the attention in the review is focused on the quantum-size effect. The causes for Implantation fascinating blinking of quantum dots and techniques for observation of a single quantum dot are considered. The last part of the review describes important applications of quantum dots in biology, medicine and quantum technologies.

The bibliography includes 772 references.

Keywords: quantum dots, size effects, excitons, blue shift, aqueous synthesis, optical spectroscopy, blinking, biolabels, luminescence thermometry, memristors.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Synthesis of quantum dots	6
2.1. At the roots: discovery of quantum dots and first results	6
2.2. Synthesis of QDs in a solid matrix	7
2.2.1. Glass melt quenching	7
2.2.2. Sol-gel method	8
2.2.3. Ion implantation	8
2.2.4. Ion exchange method	8
2.2.5. Femtosecond laser irradiation	9
2.3. Synthesis of QDs in colloidal solutions	9
2.3.1. Nonaqueous synthesis of QDs	9
2.3.2. Aqueous synthesis of QDs	11
3. Optical properties of colloidal quantum dots	11
3.1. Quantum size effect in optical absorption	11
3.2. Quantum size effect in luminescence	16
3.3. Specific features of exciton dynamics	23

3.4. Temperature behaviour of spectral parameters	26
3.5. Photonics of single quantum dots	29
3.5.1. Photoluminescence blinking	30
3.5.2. Photon antibunching	30
3.5.3. Spectral diffusion	31
3.5.4. Raman spectra of single QDs	32
3.5.5. Fluorescence nanoscopy of single QDs	32
4. Some applications of quantum dots	34
4.1. Biology and medicine	34
4.2. Luminescent nanothermometry	37
4.3. Quantum technologies: photon sources and detectors	40
and memristor structures	
5. Conclusion	41
5. List of abbreviations and symbols	42
7. References	43



1. Introduction

In the second half of the 20th century, active development of chemical processes for fabrication and doping of multicomponent glasses, nanoparticle synthesis by colloidal chemistry techniques¹⁻⁷ and epitaxial growth of films and nanostructures (in particular, by molecular-beam and metal-organic vapour-phase epitaxy)⁸⁻¹³ resulted in the appearance of a fundamentally new class of nano-objects, quantum dots (QDs).

The term 'quantum dot' was proposed much later than the discovery. Reed introduced this term while considering the electron transport in a three-dimensionally confined semiconductor quantum well ¹⁴ and used it in relation to the epitaxial quantum dots formed as ordered three-dimensional coherently strained (that is, dislocation-free) nanometre-sized islets formed upon self-organization effects in the molecular-beam and vapour-phase epitaxy from organometallic compounds (Fig. 1 *a*).^{10–12}

Quantum dots are separate (isolated from one another) semiconductor nanocrystals (most often, binary or ternary) with the size approximately equal to or smaller than the radius of the Wannier–Mott exciton in the corresponding substance. The Wannier–Mott exciton radii for various

A.A.Rempel. Academician of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Doctor of Physics and Mathematics, Professor, Director of the Institute of Metallurgy, Ural Branch of the RAS, Chief Researcher of the Laboratory of High-Entropy Alloys of the Institute of Metallurgy, Ural Branch of the RAS, Professor at the Physical Methods and Devices of Non-Destructive Testing Department of the Institute of Physics and Technology, Ural Federal University.

E-mail: rempel.imet@mail.ru

Current research interests: materials science, materials with increased entropy, quantum-size effects, nanomaterials, nanotechnologies.

O.V.Ovchinnikov. Doctor of Physics and Mathematics, Professor, Head of the Optics and Spectroscopy Department, Dean of the Faculty of Physics, Voronezh State University.

E-mail: Ovchinnikov O V@rambler.ru

Current research interests: optical spectroscopy of quantum dots, luminescence, quantum-size effects, photoprocesses in nanostructures, nanotechnologies.

I.A.Weinstein. Doctor of Physics and Mathematics, Professor, Professor of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Chief Researcher at the NANOTECH Centre of the Ural Federal University; Professor of the Physical Methods and Devices of Non-Destructive Testing Department of the Institute of Physics and Technology, UrFU; Chief Researcher of the Laboratory of High-Entropy Alloys of the Institute of Metallurgy, Ural Branch of the RAS.

E-mail: i.a.weinstein@urfu.ru

Current research interests: widegap nanostructured materials, optical and luminescent spectroscopy, memristive properties of oxide nanostructures.

S.V.Rempel. Candidate of Physics and Mathematics, Associate Professor, Leading Researcher at the Laboratory of Non-Stoichiometric Compounds of the Institute of Solid State Chemistry, Ural Branch of the RAS, Leading Researcher at the NANOTECH Centre of the Ural Federal University.

E-mail: svetlana rempel@ihim.uran.ru

Current research interests: optical materials, quantum dots, nanostructured oxides and sulfides, nanocomposite materials for biology and medicine.

Yu.V.Kuznetsova. Candidate of Chemistry, Senior Researcher at the Laboratory of Non-Stoichiometric Compounds of the Institute of Solid State Chemistry, Ural Branch of the RAS.

E-mail: jukuznetsova@mail.ru

Current research interests: nanotechnologies, quantum dots, ceramics, glasses, optical spectroscopy, luminescence, quantum-size effects in semiconductors.

semiconductors vary from a few nanometres to a few tens of nanometres.²

A fundamental feature of the QD energy structure is size quantization effect, which means that the decrease in the linear size of the semiconductor crystal down to several nanometres is accompanied by an increase in the energy distances both between the neighbouring states of the valence band occupied with electrons and between the vacant states of the conduction band by a value exceeding kT (Fig. 2).

$$E_{i+1} - E_i > kT \tag{1}$$

The quantum size effect present in QDs provides the possibility of controlling the energy, absorption, transport and luminescent properties by varying the size and geometry of nanocrystals without changing their chemical composition.^{1–7}

Currently, colloidal QDs of a variety of compositions are being successfully produced. The quantum dots that are synthesized, studied and practically used most often are made of semiconductors A^{II}B^{VI} (CdSe, CdS, ZnS, ZnSe, ZnTe CdTe, HgS, HgSe, HgTe), A^{III}B^V (GaN, GaAs, InP, InAs), A^IB^{VI} (Ag₂S, Ag₂Se, Ag₂Te), A^IB^{VII} (CuCl, CuBr, AgI) and A^{IV}B^{VI} (PbSe, PbS, PbTe, SnTe, SnS). Quantum dots of more complex compositions (InGaAs, CdSeTe, CdHgTe, ZnSeS, ZnCdSe,

A.V.Naumov. Doctor of Physics and Mathematics, Corresponding Member of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Professor of the RAS, Head of the Troitsk Branch of the P.N. Lebedev Physical Institute RAS, Head of Department at the Moscow Pedagogical State University, Head of Division at the Institute of Spectroscopy RAS. E-mail: a v naumov@mail.ru

Current research interests: photonics, spectroscopy, microscopy, luminescence, fluorescence nanoscopy, single molecules, quantum dots, color centers, diamond, polymers, perovskites, nanostructures, condensed state matter, low temperatures.

M.S.Smirnov. Doctor of Physics and Mathematics, Associate Professor, Professor of the Optics and Spectroscopy Department at the Faculty of Physics of the Voronezh State University.

E-mail: Smirnov_M_S@mail.ru

Current research interests: photoprocesses in colloidal quantum dots and plasmonic nanoparticles, IR photodetection, nonlinear optics, size effects and luminescence in semiconductor nanoparticles.

I.Yu.Eremchev. Candidate of Physics and Mathematics, Senior Researcher at the Institute of Spectroscopy RAS, Senior researcher at the Moscow Pedagogical State University.

E-mail: eremchev@isan.troitsk.ru

Current research interests: photonics, spectroscopy, microscopy, luminescence, fluorescence nanoscopy, single molecule, quantum dots, color centers, diamond, polymers, perovskites, nanostructures, condensed state of matter, low temperatures.

A.S.Vokhmintsev. Candidate of Physics and Mathematics, Associate Professor, Associate Professor of the Physical Methods and Devices of Non-Destructive Testing Department of the Institute of Physics and Technology, Ural Federal University, Senior Researcher at the NANOTECH Centre of the UrFU.

E-mail: a.s.vokhmintsev@urfu.ru

Current research interests: optical materials, memristors, nanostructured compounds.

S.S.Savchenko. Candidate of Physics and Mathematics, Associate Professor of the Physical Methods and Devices of Non-Destructive Testing Department of the Institute of Physics and Technology, Ural Federal University, Senior Researcher at the NANOTECH Centre of the UrFU.

E-mail: s.s.savchenko@urfu.ru

Current research interests: quantum dots, low-dimensional materials, optical and luminescent spectroscopy, temperature effects, nanophotonics.

Translation: Z.P.Svitanko.



Figure 1. Most frequently encountered types of QDs: (*a*) epitaxial QDs; (*b*) QDs in glass; (*c*) QDs passivated by organic molecules: colloidal QDs; (*d*) colloidal QDs in polymers; (*e*) QDs in reverse micelles; (*f*) core/shell colloidal QDs.



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the size effect for energy states of QDs

ZnHgSe, ZnSeTe, CuInS₂, CuInSe₂, CuGaS₂, AgInS₂, AgInSe₂, and AgGaS₂) are also known, including perovskite QDs [CsPbX (X = Cl, Br, I)].^{1-5, 15-19} It is the semiconductor colloidal quantum dots that are the subjects of the present review.

Prerequisites for the fabrication of QDs appeared immediately after the development of quantum mechanics and consideration of the state quantization problem for a microparticle (electron) in a one-dimensional potential well of both finite and infinite depths.^{20,21} Back in the 1930s, it was noted that qualitatively

new effects not inherent in bulk samples appear in semiconductor and semimetallic films with the thickness $L \sim 100$ nm (and thinner).^{22,23} However, systematic study of the quantum size effect in semiconductors was initiated much later, in the 1960s, by Sandomirskiĭ, Tavger and Demikhovskiĭ. It was predicted that the fundamental absorption edge in thin crystal films should shift to blue region as the film thickness decreases.^{24,25} The development of molecular beam epitaxy methods led in a few years to the design of semiconductor quantum wells and superlattices.^{9,10}

The first brief communication describing empirical observation of the change in the band gap width with decreasing size of A^{II}B^{VI} nanocrystals grown in glasses appeared somewhat later.²⁶ No data that would support these statement were given in the publication and, what is more important, the interpretation of the observed effect was incorrect.

In 1980, Aleksey Ivanovich Ekimov and Aleksey Arkadievich Onushchenko, who worked at the S.I.Vavilov State Optical Institute and had graduated from the E.F. Gross Department of Molecular Physics, Faculty of Physics, Leningrad State University, fabricated the first CuCl QDs, at a suggestion of Viktor Alekseevich Tsekhomsky, Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Head of the department engaged in the development of copper halide photochromic glasses. The first quantum dots were CuCl nanocrystals grown during diffusion-controlled phase separation of a supersaturated solution in glasses under variable conditions such as synthesis temperature and time of heat treatment (Fig. 1b).27,28 Valery Viktorovich Golubkov, Doctor of Chemical Sciences, employee of the I.V.Grebenshchikov Institute of Silicate Chemistry of the Academy of Sciences, future honoured scientist of the Russian Federation, established the formation of CuCl and CdS nanocrystals with a size of 3 nm or more using small-angle X-ray scattering. A decrease in the size of grown nanoparticles induced a blue shift of exciton absorption bands, which was interpreted as a quantum size effect.27-30

In the same period of time, Soviet physicists Aleksandr Lvovich and Alexei Lvovich Efroses reported the first analytical consideration of the quantum mechanical problem of light absorption in a small semiconductor sphere using the effective mass approximation.³¹ Experimental studies of quantum size effect for glasses containing copper halide and cadmium chalcogenide nanocrystals started at the same time. A series of publications demonstrated the quantum size effect in the optical absorption spectra of CuCl, CuBr, CdSe, CdS and CdSSe QDs.^{32–39} As the nanocrystal size decreased from 20 to 1.5 nm, an increase in the blue shift of narrow absorption peaks was observed at low temperatures. The photoluminescence spectra of CuCl and CuBr nanocrystals exhibit very intense peaks located at 2-5 meV distance from the absorption peaks (below referred to as Stokes shift), while in the case of CdSe and CdS nanocrystals of 1.5-6 nm size, apart from the narrow peaks with a Stokes shift of 2-25 meV, broad structureless luminescence bands were observed.

Distinctive features of the formation of QDs in glasses are high synthesis temperatures (473–973 K, 200–700 °C), a significant size variation of the formed nanocrystals, and the absence of possibilities for additional passivation and functionalization of QD interfaces or construction of hybrid nanostructures with organic molecules, fullerenes, *etc.*

A fundamental step towards more facile processes of QD synthesis, providing a considerable expansion of the scope of potential applications, was made by the development of colloidal synthesis in hydrophilic and hydrophobic media (Fig. 1c), in particular in polymers (Fig. 1d).

The first successful attempts to obtain colloidal solutions containing nanocrystals with properties differing from the similar properties of bulk crystals were made almost simultaneously with QD fabrication in glasses.^{40–43} The facts demonstrating the size effect in the absorption and luminescence spectra were reported,^{40,41} but they were not analyzed or explained in detail.

The development of colloidal chemistry of QDs in polar media started with the studies of Brus and Rossetti in 1982.42,43 They used aqueous colloidal CdS nanocrystals to attain a greater surface area needed to study organic oxidation and reduction reactions on the surface of photoexcited semiconductors. The variations of the optical properties of synthesized nanocrystals that took place on storage were interpreted as changes in the band gap width caused by Ostwald ripening and increasing particle size. The results were correctly interpreted using modelling of the quantum size effect in the framework of the effective mass approximation.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ A new approach, wet synthesis, made it possible to simplify the procedures and conditions of QD synthesis and to eliminate the glass matrix and single-crystalline substrates (in the case of epitaxial QDs) and provided access to interfaces and possibility of further functionalization. A typical feature of QDs synthesized using mainly phosphates and amines for passivation is relatively low quantum yield and selectivity of luminescence bands. The use of thiol passivation resulted in some improvement of parameters of QD luminescence.^{19,47,48} However, the attained degree of dispersion of QDs in an ensemble precluded gaining in-depth understanding of the QD exciton structure and observed spectral features. These drawbacks delayed the active use of the unique size-dependent properties of QDs, especially their luminescence. There also remained difficulties of the preparation of small (1.5-2.5 nm) ODs. A progress along this line was important for understanding of the fundamental problem of substance evolution from molecules to bulk crystals. The fabrication of small-size (1.5-2.5 nm) colloidal QDs was started in the second half of the 1980s by Alivisatos and Bawendi, post-graduate

students under the supervision of Brus, in close cooperation with Steigerwald, who specialized in organometallic synthesis.^{49,50} These studies initiated the next major step in the development of synthesis of QDs with specified size-dependent absorption and luminescent properties. In 1993, Bawendi and his post-graduates Norris and Murray implemented a new organometallic synthesis.51 The synthesis in high-boiling solvents [trioctylphosphine (TOP), trioctylphosphine oxide (TOPO), tributylphosphine (TBP) and trioctylphosphine selenide (TOPSe)] was based on pyrolysis of organometallic reagents, which were rapidly injected into hot coordinating solvents; this ensured the appearance of numerous identical crystallization nuclei. A decrease in the solution temperature as a result of injection provided controlled uniform growth of QDs without formation of new nuclei. By slow growth of nanocrystals attained high-temperature annealing by (473–573 K, 200-300 °C) in a coordinating solvent, it was possible to minimize the concentration of defects and increase the uniformity of the crystal structure of the resulting QDs.⁵¹ The variation of conditions of colloidal synthesis made it possible to synthesize QDs of various diameters and shapes, to control their size and, what is most important for practical applications, to attain bright and stable luminescence (with a quantum yield of \sim 70-80%) with size-dependent characteristics (position of the maximum, intensity, luminescence quantum yield and luminescence lifetime).4,51

The appearance of new techniques of colloidal QD synthesis stimulated theoretical studies in physics and physical chemistry of the size effect. The progress in the size effect description using the method of effective mass³¹ started with theoretical models developed by Brus.^{44–46} Numerous studies ^{52–72} resulted in the formation of views explaining the experimental regularities of the quantum size effect in the optical absorption and luminescence spectra of colloidal QDs, including the temperature effects and exciton dynamics. The development of wet synthesis of various QDs, which can be obtained over a broad range of sizes using the same technique, demonstrated significant discrepancies between the experimental and theoretical size dependences of the optical absorption spectra.⁶⁶⁻⁷² It became evident that it is necessary to take into account the nonparabolicity of the energy bands and to adequately use crystalline theory for 1-2 nm QDs.

A considerable progress in the understanding of quantum size effect in QDs was gained due to *ab initio* calculations.^{73–75} These calculations were actively performed in the last decade with the growth of computing capabilities that provide calculations for QDs of 3-5 nm size. First of all, *ab initio* calculations confirmed the views of discrete energy structure of QDs established using the effective mass approximation and considerably corrected these views.^{76–78} In addition, the basic views on the physicochemistry of localized states in QDs started to form, related to both their non-stoichiometry and impurity atoms and passivating agents (organic molecules, semiconductor shells, dielectrics and polymers) and also to mechanisms of their participation in photophysical and photochemical processes.^{79–86}

By this time, it was already clear that many properties of QDs, especially luminescent properties, are determined not only by the nanocrystal and matrix nature but also by the state of interface between them^{87,88} (see^a). Despite the substantial progress in the synthesis of perfect QDs with highly selective exciton luminescence peaks, additional broad luminescence

^a Due to the undefined terminology, terms such as heteroboundary or interface are used.

bands were observed for many QD compositions. It was established that characteristics of this luminescence are related to the type of organic agents used for passivation and perfection of passivating shells, while luminescence is caused by the capture of excitons to interface defect levels. This gave rise to a new trend, often called Stokes shift engineering, which is engaged in finding the optimal conditions for passivation of nanocrystal surface, selection of passivating agents and control of the non-stoichiometry of QD compositions. However, the central problem determining the development of this trend is elucidation of the nature of Stokes shift.⁸⁹⁻⁹¹ Therefore, active investigations of QD exciton structure and dynamics are of great importance.56,92-95 In some cases, a simplified interpretation of the Stokes shift based on molecular theory (configuration coordinates) in luminescence is used.96-98 However, the decrease in the QD size variability attained in the method of synthesis proposed by Murray et al.51 revealed abnormal features in the QD exciton dynamics that are not fit into the used models.99 This stimulated the formation of another approach taking into account the band structure of the compound from which the nanocrystals were prepared and the exciton fine structure.56,93,95

The development of views on the nature of the Stokes shift and exciton dynamics for a wide range of QD compositions is still a relevant and not finally solved problem, since the model substantiated for CdSe QDs is not versatile. For example, for compounds A^{IV}B^{VI}, such as PbS or PbSe, the band structure is markedly different and requires considering the 64-fold degeneracy of the exciton and delocalization of the exciton wave function, because it efficiently interacts with all optical and acoustic phonon modes.⁹⁵

For luminescence arising upon optical transitions at the structural defect levels, substantiation of the recombination model remains the key problem. This problem has been addressed in a number of studies.^{100–107} In some cases, the authors were able to justify the mechanism of luminescence at structural impurity defect levels in QDs by analyzing exciton dynamics using femtosecond transient absorption spectroscopy, photon echo, pico- and nanosecond luminescence kinetics and analysis of the appropriate size dependences.

The above problems indicate the necessity of development of this field of materials science in close connection of chemical techniques of QD synthesis and physical models describing the unique properties of QDs. Apparently, the most important achievement of the colloidal QD chemistry was the development of two key approaches to the synthesis of QDs with sizedependent spectral, luminescent, transport and other properties in polar and non-polar media. One approach includes the preparation of hydrophilic colloidal solutions of QDs stabilized by water-soluble polymers, surfactants and other hydrophilic molecules.^{47,103,104,108-110} According to the other approach, hydrophobic colloidal QDs are obtained by high-temperature organometallic synthesis in high-boiling solvents (Fig. 1*c*,*d*).^{51,87,88,111-113}

The synthesis in reverse micelles has also been markedly advanced; this method includes elements of both above approaches: the formation of a water–oil type suspension and stabilization of the resulting QDs by surfactants (Fig. 1 e).^{114–116} According to this method, QDs are formed within highly dispersed drops of water. The size of reverse micelles restricts the size of particles synthesized in them.

In order to reduce the influence of non-radiative decay channels of electronic excitation on the luminescence quantum yield and to increase the QD photostability, nanocrystals are coated, at the final stage of the synthesis, by a layer of wideband-gap material, *e.g.*, ZnS or CdS for CdTe, CdSe (core/shell QDs) (Fig. 1*f*).^{2,87,117} The shell serves as a barrier for carrier tunnelling into the matrix and reduces the concentration of dangling bonds at QD interfaces.

Thus, the feasibility of most procedures of colloidal synthesis, the specific luminescent properties determined by sizedependent energy structure of QDs and a number of currently established factors affecting the QD luminescence are of primary importance for QD applications; the following applications are discussed most frequently:

— luminescent sensorics of gases, heavy metals and toxic substances;^{118–122}

 — electroluminescence emitters such as organic light emitting diode — quantum dots (OLED-QDs);¹²³⁻¹²⁹

— luminescent labelling and imaging of tissues and cells *in vivo* and *in vitro* in biomedicine;^{130–148}

- elemental base of photovoltaics (solar cell);^{126,149-156}

- photocatalysts;^{157–160}
- photodynamic therapy;^{161–163}
- quantum cryptography;^{164–168}
- laser technology;^{169–176}
- luminescence temperature sensors;177-184
- luminescence pH indicators;^{185–189}

— optoelectronic devices (systems for the control of light flux intensity, up-converters, active media for higher harmonic generation, *etc.*).^{190–197}

An important distinctive feature of colloidal QDs is the approach to their preparation in which the nanocrystal interfaces are in contact with organic passivating agents. Therefore, colloidal QDs should be treated as inorganic-organic (or hybrid) low-dimensional objects.

The organic component may perform different functions. In some cases, the organic component improves the properties of semiconductor nanocrystals, providing stabilization (passivation) of QD interfaces, hydrophilicity or hydrophobicity of the corresponding colloidal solution, control over the concentration of dangling bonds and, hence, over the quantum yield, lifetime and other characteristics of nanocrystal luminescence.^{138, 198–201}

Hybridization with functional molecules such as organic dyes, DNA fragments, *etc.*, and with plasmonic nanoparticles markedly expands of the range of hybrid properties arising mainly *via* interaction between the organic and inorganic components. The QD association with molecules such as organic dyes, DNA fragments, *etc.* may be implemented as covalent bonding,^{202,203} hydrogen bonding,²⁰² dipole — dipole interactions^{204,205} and secondary functionalization effect (Fig. 3).^{206,207} This further expands the range of possible applications in the following fields:

— design of singlet oxygen photosensitizers for the photodynamic therapy;^{200,208,209}

- development of photobactericidal coatings and wound-healing compositions;^{210,211}

- fabrication of organic-inorganic charge separation systems;^{212,213}

— design of systems for the control of laser radiation parameters; $^{94,190-197}$

— development of biomarkers and sensors;^{214–219}

— fabrication of single photon sources and quantum computers. $^{\rm 220}$

The present review is devoted to the diversity of modern methods for the synthesis of semiconductor colloidal quantum dots, details of the electronic structure of quantum dots, optical



Figure 3. Key routes of passivation and functionalization of colloidal QDs by covalent bonding (a), hydrogen bonding (b), secondary functionalization (c) and dipole–dipole interactions (d).

spectroscopy of size effects, features of exciton dynamics and luminescence mechanisms, effect of defects and interface structure on the exciton spectra and dynamics, effect of crystallization and passivation conditions on the optical properties of QDs and practical applications of QDs.

2. Synthesis of quantum dots

2.1. At the roots: discovery of quantum dots and first results

The techniques used to grow colloidal particles in glass have been known for a very long time. However, the work of Ekimov of 1979, devoted to physicochemical mechanisms of colouring of commercial light filters (Schott) was a turning point in their development. The primary goal of this study was not only to determine the growth mechanisms of colloidal particles in a dielectric matrix, but also to establish their structure and chemical composition. Although commercial colour filters were composed of complex particles based on cadmium sulfoselenides (CdSSe),^b Ekimov's attention was focused on the effect of glass activation with binary copper- or cadmium-based compounds: copper chloride or bromide (CuCl, CuBr) and cadmium sulfide or selenide (CdS, CdSe). As a result, in 1981, copper chloride (CuCl) QDs were synthesized for the first time in a multicomponent silicate glass matrix.²²¹ Unlike the spectra of non-activated glass, the spectra of activated samples containing

chloride and copper ions exhibited two narrow bands after heat treatment. The observed spectrum coincided with the absorption spectrum of bulk CuCl crystals, which was caused by excitation of excitons associated with the spin-orbit split valence subbands. This result unambiguously indicated that the colour of glasses of this type is due to crystalline impurities (in this case, CuCl) dispersed in the amorphous glass matrix. In addition, it was found that the position of exciton lines markedly depended on the temperature and duration of sample annealing: the lower the temperature, the more pronounced the blue shift of the optical absorption edge relative to that for bulk CuCl. Subsequently, it was shown by small-angle X-ray scattering measurements that the particle diameter changes from 3.4 to 62 nm as the annealing temperature increases from 773 K (500 °C) to 973 K (700 °C).^{33,222} Ekimov and co-workers attributed the obtained results to the quantum size effect.

Despite the considerable progress in the studies of the properties of QDs in glasses, investigation of colloidal semiconductor QDs was restricted at that time to their applications in solar energy generation.^{223–227} Before Brus and co-workers discovered quantum size effect for CdS particles in 1983,43 they investigated the photochemical processes on the CdS surface by Raman spectroscopy in an aqueous colloidal solution. The aqueous colloidal solutions of CdS for this study were obtained by controlled precipitation after fast injection of the initial components. The authors ascertained that the optical absorption edge of particles depended on the solution lifetime and was blue-shifted as the OD size decreases to 4.5 nm. The particle size increased with time to 12.5 nm, while the absorption edge shifted back to the value corresponding to the band gap of bulk CdS. Relying on these results, Brus applied the effective mass theory to describe the measured shift depending on the size.44,45 After Alivisatos joined the Brus' research team in

^b Glass is synthesized using a mixture of cadmium sulfide and selenide, which affords particles of CdSSe type ternary compounds. By varying sulfur to selenium ratio, it is possible to obtain yellow to red filters.

1986, they together with Steigerwald developed a process for the synthesis of colloidal QDs,^{49,228} using procedures and techniques of organometallic chemistry to remove oxygen: the Schlenk line and glove boxes were adapted for this purpose.

After that, unique behaviour upon a change in the size of semiconductor particles to the nanoscale was discovered for quite a few objects such as ZnS, ZnSe, CdSe and PbS.²²⁹⁻²³¹ Brus,^{43–46,229,231,232} to the efforts of Owing Henglein,^{223,225,233} Fendler,²²⁷ Grätzel^{224,234} and Nozik,²³⁵ CdS QDs became the first semiconductor particles that were used for an in-depth study of physical and physicochemical properties of zero-dimensional objects. Alexander and Alexey Efroses³¹ and Brus and co-workers 44, 45, 236 used the knowledge gained for CdS QDs to carry out the first series of theoretical studies for determination of the electronic structure of quantum dots in order to predict and understand their optical properties, which depend on the QD size, structure and size distribution. The history of the discovery and development of the views on the quantum size effect will be discussed in detail in the next chapter.

The key drawback of the above-described methods for the synthesis of QDs in a glass matrix and in solutions is the lack of full control of the nucleation and growth and poor reproducibility. At the end of the 1980s, it was found that Lewis bases form coordination bonds with the surface of cadmium atoms, thus favouring the dispersion of QDs in a solvent volume.²²⁸ The subsequent experiments on the synthesis of CdSe QDs demonstrated that the presence of phosphonic acid impurity in tri-n-butylphosphine oxide plays a crucial role for the preparation of high-quality QDs.¹¹² In 1993, Murray and Bawendi developed an effective and reproducible method for the synthesis of monodisperse QDs.⁵¹ The high-temperature colloidal synthesis is based on the pyrolysis of organoelement reagents, which are introduced into a hot coordinating solvent (tri-n-octylphosphine or tri-n-octylphosphine oxide) to give CdX nanocrystals (X = S, Se, Te). The proposed method not only complied with the main condition for the formation of monodisperse particles, that is, separation of nucleation and growth processes, but also led to higher crystallinity of the particles.²³⁷ This was possible owing to the fact that the introduction of organometallic reagents decreased the solvent temperature and terminated the particle growth. The subsequent heating of the reaction mixture not only provided control over the particle size, but also ensured the particle annealing; this resulted in ordering of the crystal structure and extrusion of defects from the particle bulk. The particles obtained in this way had a uniform shape and a passivated surface and demonstrated a relatively steep absorption edge and a narrow luminescence spectrum at room temperature.

Later, a new high-temperature colloidal synthesis was used to obtain QDs based on semiconductors of various types: A^{II}B^{VI}, A^{II}B^V and A^{IV}B^{IV} (see references in Refs 238 and 239). Thus, the proposed method not only enabled the control of the particle size and particle size distribution, but also provided particles with minimized concentration of defects and a nearly ideal crystal structure. Further development of this method included the search for new precursors, ligands and methods of surface modification in order to enhance the luminescence efficiency.

2.2. Synthesis of QDs in a solid matrix

The knowledge of the synthesis of glasses and glass colouring and properties was summarized by I.I.Kitaigorodsky,²⁴⁰ V.V.Vargin²⁴¹ and W.Weyl²⁴² in the first half of the 20th century. In addition, Weyl was one of the first to observe the Tyndall effect in coloured glasses. The appearance of this effect implied that these glasses were composed of a matrix with dispersed colloidal dye particles. Classical examples of colloidal glass colouring are gold ruby and cadmium glasses. In the former case, colloidal particles of gold metal are formed in glass and colour the glass red. In the latter case, particles of cadmium chalcogenides are grown and cause yellow to red colour of glass.

Currently, glasses are widely used as matrices or substrates because of their inertness. The growth of QDs in an inorganic glass^c can result in chemical, thermal and mechanical stability, thus providing a long service life and good prospects for the manufacture of devices.^{243,244}

2.2.1. Glass melt quenching

The formation of semiconductor nanoparticles in a glass matrix includes preparation of a supersaturated solution followed by its phase separation.²⁴⁵ A supersaturated solution is obtained by decomposition of the initial glass components at high temperature and subsequent quenching of this state. The QD formation in an amorphous glass matrix is based on the thermodynamic precipitation from a supersaturated solution (Fig. 4). The isolation of a semiconductor phase in a glass matrix is caused by its low solubility at low temperature; it is controlled by ion diffusion and is accomplished via the heat treatment of glass in the glass transition temperature range.^{244–246} This system can be conceived as a solution in which the glass matrix is the solvent and the QD-forming ions are the solutes.243,244,246 At high temperature where glass exists as a melt, this solution is not supersaturated. However, as the temperature decreases on cooling of the melt, the solution becomes supersaturated. The glass viscosity at room temperature is too high for the formation of QDs upon ion movement. A sufficient ion diffusion and active ion movement start at the glass transition temperature T_g . The QD growth in glass occurs in three stages.^{245,247,248} Nucleation takes place in the first stage through random fluctuations of the local concentrations of reactants. The second stage is the diffusion-limited growth of the nuclei in which the average nanoparticle size increases in proportion with the square root of the heat treatment time. When the concentration of available reactants decreases to a critical level, Ostwald ripening, or competitive growth takes place. In this stage, larger particles grow at the expense of smaller ones, with the average QD radius increasing in proportion to the cube root of the heat treatment time.245,247 Owing to the difference between the activation energies of the nucleation, normal growth and competitive growth, it is possible to obtain QDs of identical size by appropriate combination of heat treatment temperature and time.²⁴⁶ In the general case, the longer the heat treatment or the higher the temperature, the larger the QD size. The Gibbs free energy difference is the driving force for the change in the local

^c In the technology of glass and optical materials, organic and inorganic glasses are distinguished. Organic glass is a synthetic polymer of methyl methacrylate, which is a transparent plastic known under the commercial name Plexiglas. The synthesis of QDs in a polymer matrix is also a way of producing functional materials. Here we consider the main advantages of glass over another polymer-based solid matrix. The term 'inorganic glasses' includes the whole diversity of amorphous (glass) materials based on silicon, lead, germanium and other elements widely used for glass manufacturing.



Figure 4. Basic diagram of the MX type QDs (M = Cd, Cu, Pb; X = S, Se, Cl, Br, Te) synthesis in the glass matrix. After quenching, glass is a colourless transparent matrix with uniformly distributed metal (M) and chalcogen (X) ions. The additional heat treatment at temperatures near or above the glass transition temperature T_g leads to the formation and growth of QDs.

concentration of the reactants. Thus, the initial state is unstable provided that any vibration can reduce the free energy. Hence, the rate-limiting diffusion process becomes the only obstacle to these fluctuations. The heat treatment in the temperature range $T_g < T < T_m$ makes it possible to overcome this limitation and attain the final stable state (T_g is the glass transition temperature at which cleavage and repeated formation of covalent bonds in the amorphous network take place, and T_m is the melting temperature of the matrix at which the glass viscosity is rather high).^{246,247}

After successful synthesis of CuCl, CuBr, CdS and CdSe QDs in glass carried out by Ekimov and co-workers,^{221,222,249} works along this line were actively pursued by other research teams.²⁵⁰⁻²⁵⁸ Although they enabled obtaining and studying quantum dots, a considerable drawback of QDs synthesized in glass was the wide dispersion of particle size. A decade after the first synthesis of semiconductor particles in glass, the procedure used by Ekimov and co-workers was modified: the heat treatment was separated into two stages.³⁷ Subsequently, this approach was actively used to study the influence of heat treatment conditions on the QD-containing glasses.²⁵⁹⁻²⁶² The first heat treatment stage was carried out at temperatures well below the glass transition temperature. This provided the formation of nuclei of the future semiconductor phase. The repeated annealing at higher temperatures resulted in the growth of the existing nuclei. Finally, the separation of nucleation and particle growth processes decreased the dispersion of particle size from 15 to 5%.

One more drawback is the use of high temperatures for the synthesis of glass based on silica. This stimulated the search for new compositions that would enable the synthesis to be performed at lower temperatures (below 1673 K, or 1400 °C): telluride, phosphate, germanate and gallate glasses.^{263–265} They are manufactured by replacement of Si by Te, P, Ge and Ga with a minor loss of stability for better transmission at a definite wavelength. However, new materials had poorer mechanical properties than silica-based glasses.

2.2.2. Sol-gel method

The sol-gel method is based on the use of high-purity starting compounds, which are homogeneously mixed in the liquid phase. The chemical hydrolysis and condensation reactions are carried out to give stable transparent sol system in solution (Fig. 5*a*).²⁶⁶ Then sol is subjected to ageing to form a threedimensional network with a non-flowing solvent. After that, the gel is dried and sintered to obtain a material of molecular or even nano-scale structure. After a successful use of the sol–gel process to implant QDs into a transparent silicate glass at relatively low temperaturs,²³⁵ this method proved to be reliable and convenient for obtaining QDs in solid matrices.^{267,268} However, it was difficult to obtain bulk samples owing to high residual stresses arising in the silicon-and-oxygen framework after removal of the solvent. Nevertheless, this method allowed obtaining QD-based composites as thin films.

2.2.3. Ion implantation

According to this method, ions accelerated with an electron field are injected on a material surface to form defects or composite structures (Fig. 5*b*).²⁶⁹ Initially, this method was used for doping of semiconductors, but it was soon adapted to study the effect of implantation in a silicate matrix.^{266,267} Subsequently, attempts were made to implant various ions into glass to obtain metallic, semiconductor and ferromagnetic nanocrystals.^{270–273} Despite the fact that ion implantation method allows for controlled formation of QDs, the penetration of the implanted ions is restricted to the surface layer of the matrix (several hundred nanometres) and barely reaches its interior. This results in increasing size dispersion of QDs and complicates the control of QD distribution across the matrix. In addition, the ion beam may damage the matrix, and the equipment used to implement this method is sophisticated and expensive.

2.2.4. Ion exchange method

One more method that was used for the synthesis of QDs in a solid matrix is ion exchange, which is a chemical reaction on the surface of a solid matrix placed in a salt solution (Fig. 5*c*).²⁷⁴ The most reactive monovalent ions, Na⁺, K⁺, Ag⁺ and Cu⁺, are used for modification of materials.^{275–277} Although QD precipitation can be performed in a near-surface region up to 5 mm depth, the exchange area is still too large and cannot be accurate to a micron level in three dimensions.²⁷⁰ In addition, it was shown that the interaction of a plasmon with an electric field may promote precipitation of QDs and affect the spatial distribution of particles, thus changing the position of photoluminescence bands.²⁷⁸



Figure 5. Basic diagrams of QD synthesis in a solid matrix: (a) sol-gel method;²⁶⁶ (b) ion implantation;²⁶⁹ (c) ion exchange;²⁷⁴ (d) femtosecond laser irradiation.

2.2.5. Femtosecond laser irradiation

The use of a femtosecond laser was yet another attempt to separate the nucleation and growth processes.²⁷⁹ The irradiation leads to a local heating of the matrix, which initiates the nucleation of a new phase (Fig. 5*d*). The process is controlled by laser beam parameters such as temperature and time of treatment. The growth of the nuclei takes place during the subsequent heat treatment. This method has been also successfully used in other systems for selective QD growth, including Ag,²⁸⁰ Cu,²⁸¹ Si²⁸² and InGaAs²⁸³ nanoparticles. In addition, CdSe²⁷⁹ and PbS²⁷⁰ QDs were synthesized in glass using a femtosecond laser and heat treatment; however, long-term laser irradiation resulted in increased size dispersion of particles and damage to the glass matrix.

To date, the fundamental mechanisms of QD nucleation and growth are well-understood and described in the literature,²⁴⁵ but there are still quite a few unsolved challenges. Studies of the kinetics of nucleation and crystal growth are limited, most often, to glass ceramic systems, in which the major glass component crystallizes during heat treatment (see references in Refs 284 and 285), but little is known about the nucleation and growth of the particles of minor components or trace elements in glass. Therefore, the subsequent studies addressed the mechanisms of growth of QDs embedde into an amorphous matrix and to their atomic structures and optical properties (see Chapter 3).^{261,286–293}

2.3. Synthesis of QDs in colloidal solutions

2.3.1. Nonaqueous synthesis of QDs

The results obtained in the early 1980s gave an impetus to the synthesis and study of colloidal QDs. The main goal was to

obtain monodisperse particles with an ideal crystal structure and intense luminescence. It was found that defects on the QD surface and poor surface passivation were the main causes for the low efficiency of luminescence. This discovery stimulated several research groups to develop effective methods for improving surface quality and passivation. At the end of 1980s, CdSe clusters were synthesized from organometallic precursors by the reverse micelle method, and the cluster surface was chemically modified.⁴⁹ The application of organoselenides (e.g., PhSeSiMe₃) influenced the kinetics of particle formation and growth, and also stabilized and passivated the surface via the formation of covalent bonds between the surface cadmium atom and the ligand selenium atoms. The opened possibility of obtaining stable non-agglomerated particles gave rise to ideas concerning the synthesis of complex core/shell structures. The first successful approaches were based on surface passivation by depositing an inorganic shell consisting of a semiconducting material with a wider band gap compared to that of the core material.^{87,114,294} It was demonstrated in relation to CdSe QDs that their coating with a ZnS shell leads to the surface passivation and considerably increases the luminescence efficiency in the core.114

The use of coordinating solvents (*e.g.*, pyridines or phosphines) was the next step in the development of methods for the synthesis of colloidal QDs (Fig. 6). In particular, phosphines can coordinate both metal and chalcogen atoms. High-quality crystalline CdS QDs were obtained by the reaction of organometallic precursors in tri-n-bitylphosphine oxide in an Ar atmosphere at temperatures above 473 K (200 °C).^{228,295} Having continued the experiments using coordination solvents and high temperatures, Murray, Norris and Bawendi reported a successful synthesis of monodisperse crystalline CdS, CdSe and CdTe



Figure 6. Basic diagram of QD synthesis by the high-temperature method proposed by Murray, Norris and Bawendi. In the first stage (1), a source of chalcogen ions (X) is injected into a solution of metal ions (M) at high temperature (T_1). This induces fast formation of QD nuclei in the second stage and a decrease in temperature (down to T_2), which terminates further growth. The subsequent temperature rise (up to T_3) in stage 3 initiates the growth of the nuclei, which is controlled by the duration of heating at the chosen temperature. TOP is tri-n-octylphosphine; TOPO is tri-n-octylphosphine oxide.

QDs.⁵¹ Three years later, Hines and Guyot-Sionnest⁸⁷ corrected the procedure (reactant concentrations and solvent temperature) and synthesized stable CdSe/ZnS core/shell colloidal QDs with a narrow size distribution and a high degree of crystallinity and luminescence efficiency. The average diameter of the CdSe core and thickness of the ZnS shell were 2.8 and 0.6 nm, respectively. Owing to efficient surface passivation, the luminescence quantum yield reached 50% at room temperature. Chemseddine and Weller,296 who worked independently of Bawendi's research team, synthesized CdS QDs in dimethylformamide using thioglycerol as a stabilizer and performed chemical separation of the particles on the basis of their size-dependent solubility. The proposed procedure allowed scaling-up of QD synthesis up to a few grams. Yet another step towards increasing the volume of the obtained material, while maintaining control over the particle formation and growth and, consequently, characteristics of the material, is the so-called heat-up or thermal ramp method. Unlike the method proposed by Bawendi, the new process was not based on fast changes in temperature upon the addition of one of the precursors. Instead, the temperature gradient was used. The selection of temperature-sensitive precursors and heating conditions made it possible to separate the particle nucleation and the subsequent particle growth in time (see review²⁹⁷).

After the discovery of high-temperature synthesis, studies of QDs were developed along several directions. An important step was made by switching from toxic, self-flammable $Cd(CH_3)_2$ precursors unstable in air and at room temperature to less harmful compounds [CdO, CdOC(O)CH₃].²⁹⁸ Today, more complex core/shell QDs have been obtained, non-radiative Auger processes have been suppressed, the degree of crystallinity of the shell has been increased and the surface has been passivated with various ligands; this expanded the scope of biomedical applications of QDs (see references in Refs 299-301). In addition, more complex heterostructures such as dots-in-rods were fabricated.³⁰² New heterostructures are promising for the use in display technologies and other optical applications due to the following properties: they exhibit polarized luminescence with high quantum yield and also demonstrate the possibility of luminescence switching under the action of an electric field. Ithurria et al.^{303,304} synthesized new quasi-2D nanoplatelets with a thickness of one to a few monolayers and electronic properties similar to those of quantum dots. The increase in exciton binding energy and the giant oscillator strength make 2D platelets especially fast luminophores. The development of a strategy for the synthesis of two-dimensional structures resulted in the preparation of 2.5 to 5 monolayer thick CdSe nanoscrolls.305-307 The unique twodimensional rolled structures exhibited a pronounced circular dichroism upon hybridization with chiral molecules; therefore, these systems are of interest for optoelectronic applications using polarization effects. Having experimentally disproved the assumption that QDs are capable of spontaneous self-cleaning from crystal lattice defects, Norris et al.²⁹⁸ and Schimpf et al.³⁰⁸ demonstrated successful targeted doping of QDs. The use of cation exchange as a post-synthetic modification of nanostructures allowed for step-by-step fabrication of complex nanomaterials and precise control of their chemical and phase composition.309

Despite all benefits of QDs obtained in this way, the synthesis in organic nonpolar solvents restricted the QD solubility in water; this became a key issue for the development of methods for the transfer of high-quality hydrophobic QDs into aqueous solutions for the subsequent bioconjugation (see reviews^{134,310-313}). The main strategies for QD solubilization can be subdivided into three groups. The first approach is based on ligand exchange and the use of bifunctional compounds capable of replacing organic solvent molecules on the QD surface. These compounds contain hydrophilic groups (e.g., -NH₂, -COOH), which turn out to point into the solvent after being attached to the QD surface, thus providing water solubility. The second approach consists in the formation of a polymer layer around QDs via penetration of hydrophobic moieties of the already present ligands into the new organic shell. The third strategy implies encapsulation of QDs into polymer microspheres or microcapsules. As other achievements in biomedical applications, note the fabrication of conjugates with peptides, proteins and DNA, development of biological and diagnostic tests and the creation of multi-colour fluorescent labels for ultrasensitive detection and imaging. Despite the attained progress and active development of this field, a number of problems remain unsolved in OD bioadaptation: it is necessary to attain reproducibility of transfer to the aqueous phase and surface functionalization and to develop nondestructive methods of QD conjugation with biological molecules.

by Murray, Norris and Bawendi has become a versatile and reproducible chemical strategy for the synthesis of monodisperse QDs over a broad range of sizes. Unlike QDs in a glass matrix, liquid colloidal systems can be used for QD growth, surface passivation, substitution of solvent and ligand molecules and for the fabrication of multilayer structures by spin-coating.

2.3.2. Aqueous synthesis of QDs

Apart from the development of methods for QD synthesis using organometallic precursors and organic solvents, works on the QD synthesis in aqueous solutions was also continued. The advantages of aqueous synthesis are environmental friendliness, solvent biocompatibility and stability in air, scalability of the synthesis and wide possibilities of QD functionalization. The method is based on the exchange reaction with precipitation from aqueous solutions. The QD synthesis by chemical precipitation requires the presence of three components: a source of the metal, a source of the chalcogen (chalcogenizer) and a stabilizer. As sources of metal ions, water-soluble salts are used. Sodium sulfide has been used to introduce sulfur ions into the system.314 The replacement of sodium sulfide with thioacetamide³¹⁴ or thiourea³¹⁵ made it possible to control the sulfur release and thus to control the rate of sulfide formation. The H₂Se and H₂Te gases formed upon decomposition of the corresponding aluminium chalcogenide serve as sources of selenium and tellurium.^{231,316,317} Other suitable reagents are solutions of NaHSe³¹⁸ and NaHTe,³¹⁹ which are prepared by the reduction of elemental Se or Te in a NaBH₄ solution. In addition, electrochemical generation of H2Te for QD synthesis was developed.320,321

The use of stabilizers makes it possible to control nucleation in early stages and to restrict the particle growth. By choosing appropriate stabilizers, it was possible to extend the range of QDs obtained in water from CdS to ZnS,³²² ZnSe,²³¹ PbS,³²³ CdTe,³¹⁴ Cd₃P₂,³²⁴ etc. The shell formed by the stabilizer not only provides solubility of QDs in water and prevents agglomeration, but also acts as a structure through which QDs interact with the environment. Maleic acid and styrene copolymer, phosphates and polyphosphates were the first compounds to be used as stabilizers. In later studies, chelating peptides, thiols, amines, biomolecules (bovine serum albumin, DNA, RNA) and other compounds were used. 5,313,325-328 Among the stabilizing agents, thiol-containing ligands are compounds of choice, because they are effective for the formation of monodisperse QDs of a wide range of semiconductor compounds containing cadmium, zinc, lead, silver, copper and mercury ions.^{316–319,329–333} Owing to the use of various short thiols as stabilizing ligands, aqueous synthesis can be considered as an alternative to QD preparation in high-boiling solvents. Quantum dots obtained in this way showed very efficient luminescence (40-60%). The use of thiol-containing stabilizers makes it possible to control the kinetics of QD synthesis, passivates the surface and provides the stability, solubility and surface functionalization of nanoparticles.

The attempts to reach the smallest possible particle size and the maximum possible monodispersity of QDs resulted in the creation of ultrasmall molecule-like monodisperse (100%) semiconductor clusters with a definite size, structure and characteristic optical properties.^{334–336} The cluster synthesis proved to be an exception to common practice: as a rule, QD synthesis in an aqueous medium does not give particles with a

monodisperse size distribution. Therefore, a procedure for sizeselective precipitation has been developed, first applied to CdS QDs (Ref. 296) and is widely used for both organometallic and aqueous synthesis.

The low synthesis temperatures in aqueous solutions hampered the preparation of particles with an ideal atomic structure. Subsequently, microwave irradiation and autoclave synthesis were used to improve the QD crystallinity, size distribution and optical properties. The proposed modifications of aqueous synthesis made it possible to obtain not only doped QDs but also core/shell and core/shell/shell QDs (see references in reviews^{47,337}). The preparation of such intricate structures directly in water has become an important step towards high-quality QDs, which were previously accessible only *via* organometallic synthesis.

Over the past two decades, a substantial progress has been made in the preparation and study of water-soluble QDs, the luminescence of which covers a wide spectral range depending on the material and the particle size. Among benefits of aqueous synthesis, note its simplicity, high reproducibility and the possibility of scaling up for commercial QD production. In addition, the obtained QDs can be purified, precipitated and stored as a powder under ambient conditions for many years, with the particles remaining stable and readily soluble in water.

Thus, the crucial role in the formation of QD properties is played by the method of their synthesis. The synthesis in a solid dielectric or polymer matrix may produce nano-sized particles isolated from one another by the matrix material, which, under certain conditions, preserves the unique semiconductor and optical properties of nanoparticles and prevents them from agglomeration and undesirable interactions. One more benefit of QDs in a solid matrix is the possibility to subject the samples to additional mechanical and chemical treatment without deteriorating the functional properties of materials. Meanwhile, advantages of QD formation as a colloidal system include the possibility of three-dimensional interaction of the QDs with their environment, i.e., a larger accessible surface area and contact with the surrounding medium. Therefore, they can be used, for example, as DNA labels or to monitor biological and chemical changes in a particular environment. A colloidal system also provides the possibility of replacing the solvent surrounding quantum dots, depositing QDs on a substrate or replacing the liquid medium by a polymer. This flexibility makes mass production of QDs promising.

3. Optical properties of colloidal quantum dots

3.1. Quantum size effect in optical absorption

A basic feature of the energy structure of the semiconductor colloidal QDs is the discrete energy spectrum (size quantization). The size quantization effect is manifested as a blue shift of the optical absorption spectrum following a decrease in the particle linear size to a few nanometres (see Fig. 2).^{24,25}

Due to the possibility of attaining high optical uniformity of semiconductor QD samples in glasses and colloidal solutions, discovered back in the first experiments, optical absorption spectroscopy has become the analytical method most actively used to study the quantum size effect.^{29,30,32,43-46} The appearance and size dependence of a structure in the optical absorption spectrum of QDs (Fig. 7) was accounted for by the discrete system of energy levels.^{31,338} Therefore, in the case of



Figure 7. Optical absorption spectra of CdSe (*a*) and CdS QDs (*b*) and their interpretation. In relation to the CdSe QDs (*a*), the disappearance of the exciton peak with increasing QD size dispersion is shown schematically (the sequence is from the bottom up).^{72,338}

QDs, the quantum size effect became a unique tool for the control of the optical absorption and luminescence region from the IR to UV range by changing only the size of nanocrystals.

The discrete structure of the energy states and optical absorption spectra of semiconductor QDs is of crucial importance and fundamentally distinguishes QDs from plasmonic nanoparticles, for which $E_{i+1} - E_i \ll kT$, and the optical resonances are associated with the appearance of localized plasmons upon the interaction of light with collective vibrations of electron gas confined by the nanoparticle walls.³³⁹

The principles of interpretation of the optical absorption spectra were formed almost simultaneously with the fabrication of the first QD samples in glasses and colloidal solutions and with experimental observation of the blue shift of the absorption spectra with decreasing QD size (quantum-size effect) and were always based on the model views on the energy structure of the quantum system. The first rigorous analytical consideration of the quantum mechanical problem for an electron (hole) and the Wannier–Mott exciton in a spherically symmetric potential well with infinitely high walls was performed by Soviet physicists Alexander and Alexey Efroses.³¹ This elementary theory describing the size quantization effect in QDs is developed in terms of the effective mass method and is actually a zero approximation of the $k \cdot p$ theory developed later.

In the simplest case of severe confinement, *i.e.*, when the Coulomb interaction between an electron and a hole in QD with a size smaller than the Wannier–Mott radius in the substance is neglected, the theory demonstrates size quantization of the energy states of electrons (holes) $E_{n,l}^{e(h)}$ for which quantum

numbers *n* and *l* have a meaning similar to that of the quantum numbers in the hydrogen atom problem. It was shown that the allowed level with the minimum energy (s states, l = 0) for electrons (holes) is determined by their kinetic energy as

$$\frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2m_{e(h)}^* R^2}$$

where \hbar is the Planck's constant, $m_{e(\hbar)}^*$ is the effective electron (hole) mass, R is the radius of the spherical nanocrystal. The quantization of energy levels for a particle of radius R in an analytical form for s-states results in increasing gap between the size-quantized states occupied with electrons and completely vacant conduction states

$$E_g^{eff} = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2\mu R^2} \tag{2}$$

where E_g^{eff} is the effective band gap of QDs, E_g is the band gap of the bulk crystal, and

$$\mu = \frac{m_e^* m_h^*}{m_e^* + m_h^*}$$

is the is the reduced effective mass for the corresponding crystal. The $E_g^{eff}-E_g$ is called, in some cases, retention energy. This value decreases with increasing QD size and disappears when the requirements for the existence of quantum size effect are no longer met.

An important result of this consideration is the discrete structure of the optical absorption spectra differing from that for the bulk semiconductor and representing a system of discrete lines. The allowed optical transitions are those between the levels with equal quantum numbers.³¹

$$\alpha \propto \delta_{n,n'} \delta_{l,l'} \delta_{m-m'} \delta \left(E_{ph} - E_g - \frac{\hbar^2 k_{n,l}^2}{2\mu} \right)$$
(3)

where α is the absorption coefficient, E_{ph} is the energy of an incident photon existing under the same conditions (temperature, pressure) as the QD being studied, and $k_{n,l}$ is the set of values of the wave vector determined by zeros of the Bessel function with the half-integer $J_{l+1/2}(k_{n,l}, R) = 0$ and for s-states equal to $k_{n,0}R = \pi n$. In essence, the invariability of the wave vector for the allowed optical transitions in QDs is similar to the case of vertical (direct) transitions in the bulk semiconductor crystals.

In this description, the energy of the longest-wavelength optical absorption transition depends on the nanocrystal size and corresponds to n = 1.

$$\hbar\omega_{1,0} = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2\mu R^2}$$
(4)

Thus, the elementary theory provides an explanation to the size quantization effect in QDs and to the dependence of the optical absorption energy on the QD size and an estimate of the energy of higher-energy transitions. One more benift of this elementary formalism is clear demonstration of the size effect in the experimentally observed absorption spectra of QDs. Correspondingly, processing of an experimental optical absorption spectrum implies determination of the position of the most probable transition rather than approximation of the spectral edge by an appropriate power function. However, the real situation is such that no combination of materials can reproduce the ideal case of a well with infinitely high potential walls. The use of this model is justified only for an approximate estimation of the size quantization effect for the quantum states located most closely to the effective band gap in the energy spectrum.54,236 Taking into account the finite height of the potential barrier for the carriers at the QD boundary leads to decreasing effective band gap and red shift of the optical absorption spectra.^{55,66,67}

Simultaneously with the development of the first original protocols of colloidal synthesis in polar solvents, a significant discrepancy was found between the empirical size dependence of the long-wavelength optical transition energy and that calculated in the strong confinement approximation,³¹ especially in the region of small QD sizes. This led to the need to consider optical transitions with allowance for the exciton formation. A specific feature of an exciton in QDs of a few nanometres in size, i.e., comparable with the radius of the Wannier-Mott exciton in the corresponding substance, is its predominant spatial localization within the nanocrystal, that is, confinement and increase in the Coulomb interaction in the non-equilibrium state that retains this elementary excitation up to annihilation. This is the basic distinction of QD from quantum wire or quantum well and also from a bulk crystal that has at least one or two coordinates along which charge carriers have no confinement and may happen to be located at distances much longer than the radius of the Wannier-Mott exciton.

Brus and co-workers $^{43-46}$ specified expression (2) in the framework of the effective mass method, taking into account the Coulomb interaction between an electron and a hole.

$$E_g^{eff} = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2R^2 \mu} - \frac{1.8e^2}{\epsilon R}$$
(5)

In the case of small-size QDs, the $E_g^{eff} - E_g$ value considerably exceeds the exciton binding energy in the corresponding single crystal, while the effective exciton radius is determined, first of all, by the confinement at the crystal interfaces. Therefore, the Coulomb interaction is treated as a first-order correction in the framework of perturbation theory.

Kayanuma⁵² additionally took into account the spatial correlation of an electron and a hole and modified the Brus formula.

$$E_g^{eff} = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2R^2 \mu} - \frac{1.8e^2}{\epsilon R} - 0.248 \frac{\mu e^4}{2\epsilon^2 \hbar^2}$$
(6)

where E_{Rv}^* is the Rydberg energy.

This elementary approach provides a qualitative explanation for the blue shift of the absorption edge with decreasing size of nanocrystals, but does not allow interpretation of the whole absorption band structure.

The development of chemical processes for the preparation of colloidal QDs of various compositions and sizes using various matrices and various passivating agents brought about the need for unambiguous interpretation of their optical absorption spectra. The development of the relevant principles required modelling of the QD energy structure and the system of optical transitions that form the absorption band, transition crosssections and so on. This fundamental spectroscopic problem is tackled in quite a number of studies, the history of which includes hundreds of studies published since the discovery of QDs until now (e.g.^{329,334,340–368}). These studies are traditionally developed using two approaches. The first approach is semiempirical, vivid and adheres to the $k \cdot p$ theory in the effective mass approximation.⁵²⁻⁷² The second approach is atomistic and implies ab initio calculations and consideration of the nanoparticle structure at the atomic level using the tight binding, pseudopotential and density functional theory methods.73-86

Numerous experimental spectroscopic studies of colloidal QDs showed that real optical absorption spectra do not have a

discrete structure, which is predicted by elementary model views.^{31,43–46,55} Most often, optical absorption spectrum of colloidal QDs is a broad complex band, the structure of which cannot be detailed according to the Rayleigh criterion for spectral resolution. In some situations, the observed spectra exhibit no characteristic structure corresponding to exciton transition peaks.^{72, 104–106, 110, 338, 368}

The construction of a theoretical model of optical absorption adequate to the experimental results required consideration of the complex structure of the valence band states, including the appearance of heavy, light and split-off hole subbands and effects caused by band non-parabolicity effects.68-72,338 One of the first successful attempts of relatively full interpretation of the optical absorption spectra, taking into account the diversity of optical transitions, was performed for colloidal ZnSe, CdSe and InP QDs.^{69,338,369} However, in this case, too, the applicability of the band concept to small-size nanocrystals remained an open question. The positive answer to this question was given by atomistic calculations of the QD energy structure. These calculations were activated gradually, in parallel with the progress in the computational power. Calculations were initially performed for clusters consisting of a few tens of atoms and then for nanocrystals of approximately 1-1.5 nm size; currently, it is possible to calculate the energy structure of 2-5 nm QDs taking into accounts atoms (molecules) of the environment.73-75 Ab initio calculations give a full amount of information such that it is often difficult to distinguish contributions of different physical factors in the obtained results. Furthermore, these calculations have not yet been performed for all widespread nanocrystal compositions. Characteristic examples are nonstoichiometric compounds of silver sulfide and selenide and other.

An important result of *ab initio* calculations for QD energy structure is the proof of discrete structure of the energy spectrum for electrons and holes,⁷⁸ similar to that obtained using the effective mass approximation.³¹ Thus, an important stage in interpretation of the results is comparison of the data obtained by the $k \cdot p$ theory and atomistic calculations.

Many-year research^{69,338} resulted in the appearance of a definite spectral nomenclature, representing sequences of optical transitions. As an example, Fig. 7b (upper continuous curve) shows interpretation of the spectrum of finely dispersed CdSe QDs, with allowance for the results of calculation performed in the cited studies using the $k \cdot p$ theory (lower dashed curve), while Fig. 7 a shows the data for less finely dispersed CdS QDs with allowance for the complex structure of the valence band and band non-parabolicity.^{72,338} These studies consider not only the transition energies between the heavy, light and split off hole and electron bands, but also their relative intensities. However, the transition sequences for exciton absorption may differ for QDs of different semiconductor compounds. For example, the system of transitions for CdSe QDs starting from the lowest energy has the form: $1S_{3/2}-1S_e$, $(1P_{3/2}-1S_e)$ is forbidden and does not contribute to absorption), $2S_{3/2}-1S_e$, $1P_{3/2}-1P_e$ (according to other data, $^{94, 338}$ $1S_{1/2}$ – $1S_e$) and so on. In the case of InP QDs: 370 1P_{3/2}-1S_e (forbidden and does not contribute to absorption; however, this minimum-energy transition determines the luminescence peak and the dynamics of exciton decay), $1S_{3/2}-1S_e$, $1S_{1/2}-1S_e$, etc. The sequence of transitions for CdS QDs is also determined by the crystal structure. When CdS QDs crystallize in the wurtzite system, the sequence of transitions is similar to that for CdSe QDs.370 For crystallization in the sphalerite type, the $k \cdot p$ theory indicates that the lowest-energy absorption is forbidden for small CdS QDs, since the ground

state of the electron envelope wave function has s-symmetry and hole envelope wave function has p-symmetry.^{68,371,372} The next absorption transition involves s-symmetric hole envelope wave functions and is allowed. This theoretical result was experimentally confirmed in a study of low-temperature luminescence.³⁷³ In the case of large CdS QDs, the order of sand p-type levels of holes changes, and the lowest-energy transition becomes allowed. The relative contributions of not only allowed but also forbidden transitions to the optical absorption spectrum may markedly change, for example, due to SD mixing effect.⁴ For example, transitions involving the 1S-electron state are possible from not only $1S_{3/2}$ and $1S_{1/2}$ hole states, but also from other S-states. Owing to the SD-mixing, the transitions to the D-electron level are possible from both S- and SD-states. Thus, a universal nomenclature of optical transitions determining the absorption spectra has not yet been formed. In each case, full calculation of the energy structure of QDs is required, at least in terms of the $k \cdot p$ theory.

Apart from the influence of the complex energy structure of the valence band, one more cause for the homogeneous broadening of real optical absorption spectra of QDs is the electron-phonon coupling. The homogeneous broadening problem was first addressed apparently by Bawendi *et al.*³⁶⁸ The recording of optical absorption spectra of CdSe QDs samples with a size dispersion of 8% at temperatures of 5-15 K showed a considerable contribution of the electron-phonon coupling to spectrum broadening. The use of low-temperature luminescence excitation spectra, reflecting the absorption of luminescent monodisperse QDs, contained a number of discrete electron transitions and longitudinal optical (LO) phonon progressions.³⁶⁸

Numerous experimental studies of the optical properties of colloidal QDs demonstrated that the inhomogeneous broadening has a predominant influence on the structure blurring in the absorption spectrum.^{72,94,104,105,338,374} The main cause is size dispersion of QDs in an ensemble. Figure 7*a* shows the transformation of the absorption spectrum structure in the case of broad size distribution of CdSe QDs. Also, Fig. 8 shows a comparison of the optical absorption spectra of three colloidal Ag₂S QD samples passivated with thioglycolic acid, with the



Figure 8. Effect of inhomogeneous broadening on the shape and structure of the optical absorption spectra of Ag_2S QDs passivated with thioglycolic acid (TGA). The QD size distributions in ensembles, derived from analysis of TEM images, corresponding to the given spectra are shown on the right.³⁷⁵

size dispersions of two samples differing by a factor of more than two (*cf. 1* and 3).³⁷⁵

The inhomogeneous broadening of the absorption spectra of Ag₂S QDs may be due to one more reason, that is nonstoichiometry of QDs related to both the variability of defect concentration within a single nanocrystal and the quality of passivation of their interfaces (the interfacial states are QD dangling bonds). In the latter case, spectral edge is smeared because of an additional contribution of impurity absorption (Fig. 8, curve 2). Hence, determination of the size effect in the optical absorption by approximation of the long-wavelength spectral edge is not quite correct. The exciton absorption transition energy should be determined from the peaks present in the spectrum. If there are no clear-cut peaks, the position of the minimum of the second derivative of the optical density spectrum with respect to the emission quantum energy is determined. This technique was proposed in early studies devoted to the spectroscopy of the QD size effect ^{35,338} and is used until now.^{104–106,110,376–378} It was shown that the accuracy of determination of the position of the irregularity (inflection) observed at the long-wavelength edge of the structureless QD absorption spectrum due to the exciton transition to the ground state from the minimum of the second derivative gives an error not exceeding 0.02 eV.

Thus, studies of the quantum size effect in the optical properties of QDs indicated the necessity to take into account the effects of homogeneous and inhomogeneous broadening, with interpretation of optical absorption spectra being unambiguous. An important stage is also to compare the obtained spectral behaviour with the results of structural studies, in particular with the average QD size determined by TEM and/ or from broadening of X-ray diffraction peaks.

The possibility of predicting the optical properties of QDs for subsequent various applications is provided by the empirical size dependences of exciton absorption transition energy in comparison with analogous dependences obtained most often using Brus (5) and Kayanuma (6) relations.

From the spectroscopic standpoint, the size dependence of the exciton transition energy is valuable also due to the fact that it can be used to relate the size dispersion to the half-width of the absorption (and luminescence) bands

$$H = \frac{dE_g^{eff}}{dr}\Delta r \tag{7}$$

where *H* is the half-width of the spectral absorption (or luminescence) band caused by the size distribution of nanocrystals in the ensemble Δr , and

$$\frac{dE_g^{eff}}{dr}$$

is the derivative of the exciton transition energy with respect to the nanocrystal size.

Figure 9 shows the size dependences of the energy of the ground exciton absorption transition for different QDs (CdS, Ag2S, CdSe, PbS) that we obtained using the results of published papers (Refs 51, 52, 78, 103, 379, 126, 132, 141, 145, 150, 329, 334, 340–348, 350–359, 360–367 and 379). First of all, attention is attracted by the fact that the experimental size dependence of the ground exciton absorption transition energy is only in qualitative agreement with this dependence found by calculations using the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ theory. In some cases, the empirical size dependences are close to those calculated by the Kayanuma formula (Fig. 9, blue dot-and-dash curve).⁵² In other cases, a considerable deviation is observed, especially for small-size



Figure 9. Size dependences of the energy of the QD ground exciton absorption transition obtained experimentally and using various semiempirical models for CdS QDs, 52, 103, 329, 334, 340-348, 379 Ag₂S QDs, 126, 132, 141, 145, 150, 350-356 CdSe QDs, 51, 78, 357-360 and PbS QDs. 361-367 Designations: 1, 334, 2, 340, 3, 341, 4, 342, 5, 343, 6, 344, 7, 345, 8, 346, 9, 103, 10, 347, 11, 348, 12, 52, 13, 329, 14, 349, 15, 350, 16, 351, 17, 132, 18, 150, 19, 352, 20, 145, 21, 126, 22, 353, 23, 141, 24, 354, 25, 355, 26, 356, 27, 78, 28, 357, 29, 358, 30, 359, 31, 360, 32, 51, 33, 361, 34, 362, 35, 363, 36, 364, 37, 365, 38, 366, 39, 367

QDs. This situation is clearly seen for CdSe QDs. Meanwhile, the calculation of the energy structure using the pseudopotential method ⁷⁸ gives a size dependence for these QDs similar to the empirical one (see Fig. 9, red crosses).

Figure 9 demonstrates that the success in the study of the size dependence of the absorption behaviour is rather modest for semiconductor QDs with a complex crystal structure. Silver sulfide tends to form non-stoichiometric nano-sized crystals $Ag_{2\pm\delta}S$ with noticeable cobncentration of defects, giving rise to a system of localized states with different activation energies.375,380-387 Consequently, the available experimental data on the quantum size effect in the absorption properties of QDs are contradictory. In some studies, relatively large particles (a few nanometres) have an absorption edge in the visible region. 353, 383, 388-391 However, for Ag₂S nanocrystals of 4–5 nm or more in size, the absorption edge virtually does not undergo a blue shift.145,352,392-395 A pronounced size effect with a shift of the absorption spectrum to the visible region is observed when the QD diameter is reduced to 1-2 nm. 104, 106, 352 At the same time, the absorption edge located in the IR region was found for Ag₂S nanocrystals.^{353,388,391}

Apart from the dependences shown in Fig. 9, fairly convenient empirical expressions for size calculation from the energy or wavelength of the exciton absorption peak are often used. These expressions are obtained for QDs of various compositions by approximating the size dependence by a polynomial, power or hyperbolic function as experimental methods for the preparation of monodisperse QDs of various semiconductors are being advanced, the experimental data on the size dependence of exciton absorption peak are being accumulated and analytical methods for determination of the average size of QDs are being developed. For example, relying on the large set of experimental data on the sizes for a series of colloidal CdS, CdTe and CdSe QDs, determined by transmission electron microscopy and optical absorption spectroscopy, Yu *et al.*³⁴⁸ derived expressions for calculating the size of spherical CdTe, CdSe and CdS QDs from the known exciton absorption peak energy.

CdTe:
$$d = 9.8127 \cdot 10^{-7} \cdot \lambda^3 - 1.7147 \cdot 10^{-3} \cdot \lambda^2 +$$
(8)
+ 1 0064 \cdot \lambda - 194 84

CdSe:
$$d = 1.6122 \cdot 10^{-9} \cdot \lambda^4 - 2.6575^{-6} \cdot \lambda^3 + 1.6242 \cdot 10^{-3} \cdot \lambda^2 - 0.4277 \cdot \lambda + 41.57$$

CdS:
$$d = -6.6521 \cdot 10^{-8} \cdot \lambda^3 + 1.9557 \cdot 10^{-4} \cdot \lambda^2 - -9.2352 \cdot 10^{-2} \cdot \lambda + 13.29$$

where d is the QD diameter (nm), λ is the long-wavelength absorption maximum.

Lin *et al.*³⁵² proposed an empirical formula for Ag_2S QDs describing the dependence of the exciton transition energy on the size measured by TEM

$$E_g^{eff} - E_g = 4.8366 \cdot d^{-2.1525} - 0.0959 \tag{9}$$

In the limiting case of bulk crystal $(d \rightarrow \infty)$, this expression gives the exciton binding energy (0.096 eV), which is consistent with the value calculated by the effective mass approximation (0.104 eV).

It is noteworthy that a variety of different empirical formulae are available from the literature for QDs of the same composition. Figure 9 depicts these size dependences derived from empirical formulae (10)–(12) for PbS QDs. Formula (10) was proposed by Cademartiri *et al.*³⁶⁵ (see Fig. 9, light-blue curve).

$$E_g^{eff} = 0.41 + \frac{0.96}{R^2} + \frac{0.085}{R}$$
(10)

where R is the radius of a spherical nanocrystal.

Moreels *et al.*³⁶⁷ reported a somewhat different dependence (see Fig. 9, brown curve).

$$E_g^{eff} = 0.41 + \frac{1}{0.252d^2 + 0.283d} \tag{11}$$

The two above dependences proved to be similar, whereas expression

$$E_g^{eff} = 0.41 + \frac{1}{0.0392d^2 + 0.114d}$$
(12)

reported by Weidman *et al.*³⁶⁶ (see Fig. 9, black curve) is markedly different from (10) or (11).

A similar situation was found for $Ag_2Se QDs$. Relying on the size dependence of the exciton transition energy reported by Sahu *et al.*³⁹⁶ for QDs with diameters of 6 nm or less with a tetragonal crystal lattice, the following expression was obtained:

$$E_g^{eff} = 0.064 + \frac{1.566}{R^2} \tag{13}$$

where *R* is the QD radius in nm. Langevin *et al.*³⁹⁷ proposed a different expression for orthorhombic Ag₂Se QDs.

$$E_{g}^{eff} = 0.4554R^{-1.411} + 1.056 \tag{14}$$

where 1.056 eV is the limit to which the empirical curve tends with increasing size. This should correspond to the absorption edge of bulk Ag_2Se . In the authors' opinion, the deviation from the known band gap of this compound equal to 0.15 eV for the orthorhombic lattice³⁹⁸ is mainly due to the high excited states of the exciton rather than to the ground state.

It is noteworthy that, in addition to the size dependences of the exciton transition energy in the optical absorption of colloidal QDs, attempts were made to find the size dependences of molar extinction coefficients.^{334,348,367,399} However, these dependences are different for QDs of different compositions. In the case of CdS, CdSe, CdTe, PbS and PbSe QDs, a super-quadratic increase in the molar extinction coefficient with increasing QD size is observed most often.³⁴⁸ The absolute values of this coefficient do not exceed 10⁶ L mol cm⁻¹. The exciton absorption intensity depends on many factors and, therefore, it is practically convenient to use the molar extinction coefficient for the short-wavelength part of the absorption spectrum, corresponding to high excited exciton states, to find the QD concentration in a colloidal solution.³⁶⁷

3.2. Quantum size effect in luminescence

Historically, for ensembles of semiconductor colloidal QDs, the size effect in the optical absorption and photoluminescence spectra was discovered almost simultaneously.^{34,41,42,338} The photoluminescence of colloidal semiconductor QDs also features size-dependent parameters of the corresponding spectral bands (*e.g.*, 132, 138, 348 and 392). However, due to the strong dependence of photoluminescent properties on the chosen procedure of QD synthesis and on the electronic structure of the semiconductor used to prepare QDs,^{100,399} the size effect in luminescence is much more complex than that in optical absorption spectra. Photoluminescence is only one of the channels for the decay of electronic excitations formed as excitons upon the optical absorption of light by QDs.

Numerous studies of the size effect in the luminescence properties of colloidal QDs have shown that they cannot be interpreted using highly simplified views on the energy structure, similarly to the case of a polyatomic molecule.

Some of the first experimental studies of the luminescence of cadmium selenide and sulfide QDs synthesized in glasses³³⁸ and in aqueous colloidal solutions⁴² demonstrated size-dependent exciton luminescence. In other studies, broad luminescence bands with a large Stokes shift were observed for CdS nanocrystals in aqueous solutions⁴¹ and in glasses.¹⁰⁰ Later, using high-temperature synthesis of highly dispersed ensembles of AIIBVI QDs passivated by hydrophobic molecules of TOPO and its analogues,⁵¹ narrow (half-width of approximately 10-15 nm) exciton luminescence bands with small Stokes shifts were attained; positions of the bands depended on the nanocrystal size in virtually the same way as for optical absorption spectra. Initially, the luminescence quantum yield of such QDs was about 10%. High-temperature synthesis conditions markedly decreased the intensity of the luminescence component caused by recombination at defect levels. The intensity was reduced even further by optimizing the organic complexing agent used for passivation. However, it is also undeniable that the QD luminescence quantum yield is usually noticeably below 100%, irrespective of the luminescence nature. Thus, the need to include QD states caused by non-stoichiometry-induced defects and interfacial states into the energy diagram appeared and disappeared now and then as QD synthesis processes were developed.

It should be reminded that long before the development of QD optics, F.F.Volkenshtein, V.L.Bonch–Bruevich, L.D.Levine, P.Mark, A.N.Latyshev, M.I.Molotskii, R.C.Baetzold and other researchers^{400–406} showed that crystal surface defects (adatoms, clusters, crystal surface complexes of organic molecules and ions) form a system of localized states in their band gaps. Calculations of the energies of such states, including analytical ones, which were performed using semiempirical formulae, showed that they are located within the semiconductor band gaps.

Much later, atomistic calculations confirmed this fundamental result for colloidal QDs. Dangling bonds at the QD interfaces ensure the formation of an additional set of energy levels within the effective band gap, that is, localized states.^{407–409} In relation to PbSe QDs, it was shown that non-stoichiometry gives rise to electron and hole trap states with various energy depths.⁴¹⁰ The formation of pseudo-trap states located within the size quantization states filled with electrons, as well as conduction states was found.⁸⁶ This problem was analyzed in detail mainly for CdSe, CdS and PbS QDs.

To date, ab initio calculations enabled determination of the role of various effects at the matrix (passivating agent)-QD interface, including structural impurity defects (adatoms, their complexes with organic molecules, vacancies, interstitial ions, etc.), in the formation of the QD energy structure.^{79,81-86} The formation of trap states within the effective band gap associated with the levels of structural impurity defects, which play a significant role in the photophysics of colloidal QDs, was demonstrated.^{79,84-86} The formation of shallow traps below the lowest electronic conduction state, taking into account Cd2+ dangling bonds in CdS, was shown to induce optical absorption on the long-wavelength side (up to several tenths of eV) relative to the energy of the main exciton transition for ODs of the corresponding size.⁸⁰ Taking account of S²⁻ dangling bonds vields several types of states with an energy of approximately 0.5 eV above the quantum size state of the valence band.⁸⁰

A notable phenomenon is also the formation of localized states of various depths upon passivation of QDs by organic

molecules, for example, methylamine or trimethylphosphine oxide, the use of which leads to the appearance of bright exciton luminescence.⁸¹ An important issue for experimenters is to demonstrate the formation of interfacial localized states with an excess concentration of intrinsic and impurity atoms and atom dimers: Se-Se and Cd-Cd dimers on CdSe QD, Pb-Pb dimers on PbS QD, etc.^{84,86} The Cd-Cd and Se-Se dimers at the CdSe QD interfaces and the accompanying traps are unstable. The dynamics of their appearance and disappearance is often limited to a picosecond time scale.^{84,411} The QD photoexcitation may lead to the rearrangement of atoms on the surface and the formation of traps within the effective band gap. It was also shown that non-radiative recombination on the traps associated with cadmium dimers at CdSe QD interfaces occurs much faster than radiative recombination, which indicates that such atomic molecular clusters can act as luminescence quenching centres.

Due to the low concentration of localized states compared to that of size quantization states and lower oscillator strengths of impurity optical absorption transitions, the largest contribution from localized states is present in the photoluminescence of colloidal QDs. Even the first experiments showed that realistic models of QD luminescence require taking into account the effects of photoprocesses involving trap levels at the matrix (passivating agent)–QD interface, including structural impurity defects.¹⁰⁰ In turn, these concepts are important for the development of ways to control luminescence parameters (radiative transition energy, luminescence spectrum half-width) for specific applied tasks.

Now we consider three main modes of luminescence for colloidal QDs, which by now have been established experimentally.

The first mode is direct radiative annihilation of an exciton, the lifetime and probability of annihilation being determined by the quantum confinement of charge carriers that constitute the exciton. Exciton luminescence is characterized by a Stokes shift that does not exceed the exciton binding energy in the corresponding material and by lifetimes of 10 ns to 2 μ s.^{51,150} This mode is implemented in nanocrystals, the lattice of which is characterized by perfection and a low concentration of structural defects as well as appropriately chosen passivating molecules at interfaces. A successful choice of the passivating agent ensures a low concentration of dangling bonds, which act as centres of non-radiative recombination.⁵¹

The second mode is the intracentre luminescence observed in QDs doped, for example, with rare earth ions. In this case, the emission occurs as a result of optical transitions between the impurity ion states; that is, it occurs within a centre.⁴¹² This type of emission often features narrow emission lines inherent in certain impurity ions and noticeable (micro- and millisecond) lifetimes of luminescence.

The third mode, recombination or trap QD luminescence, is distinguished by a noticeable Stokes shift exceeding 0.2 eV and a significant half-width of the emission band.^{413–422} This luminescence arises at the levels of structural impurity defects formed both inside the QDs^{423,424} and at their interfaces (trap state luminescence) or radiative annihilation of a localized exciton. According to the terminology used in the theory of luminescence of ionic and ionic-covalent crystals, this luminescence in the general case should be classified as recombination luminescence.

The size effect behaves in different ways in each of the QD luminescence modes and is not always similar to the size effect observed in optical absorption spectra.¹⁰⁵ Below we consider in

more detail the current views on the conditions for emergence and spectral manifestations of the quantum size effect in QD luminescence.

The available data indicate that by changing the parameters of colloidal synthesis it is possible to obtain QDs of various diameters, shapes, and size distributions and thus to control their optical properties.⁵¹ The QDs with exciton luminescence can be prepared in the simplest way by colloidal organometallic synthesis in high-boiling solvents. In this case, they exhibit narrow and intense (with a quantum yield of $\approx 70-80\%$) peaks of exciton luminescence, the parameters of which are fairly stable and strongly depend on the QD size. For a significant proportion of QD compositions with such luminescent properties, there are methods for nanocrystal synthesis and passivation that ensure the suppression of trap recombination luminescence that arises at the levels of structural impurity defects. Controlling the ratio of the components of exciton and recombination luminescence turns out to be a challenging engineering problem that is nevertheless solved. In particular, the influence of non-radiative decay channels of electronic excitation on the luminescence quantum yield can be significantly reduced and the stability of the luminescent properties of QDs can be enhanced by using a semiconductor shell at the final stage of synthesis, with the semiconductor band gap being larger than that of the nanocrystalline core, for example, CdS/ZnS, CdSe/CdS, etc.2,87,117 The shell functions as a barrier for charge carrier tunnelling into the matrix and reduces the concentration of dangling bonds at the QD interfaces.

Currently, the size effect in exciton luminescence has been demonstrated for quite a number of compounds such as ZnS QDs in the 300-380 nm wavelength range, CdS QDs (380-460 nm), ZnSe QDs (360-500 nm), CdSe QDs (480-660 nm), CdTe QDs (600-1000 nm), InP QDs (650-750 nm), PbS QDs (700-1600 nm), PbSe QDs (1000-2500 nm), Si QDs (400-750 nm) and Ag₂S QDs (400-900 nm).^{51,101,102,136,386,387,394,395,425-430}

As regards colloidal QDs, CdS nanocrystals with sizes of 2-5 nm synthesized in hydrophilic colloidal solutions among the first systems that exhibited strong exciton luminescence.⁴¹⁻⁴³ Broad options for varying the QD size and size distribution in an ensemble were demonstrated for the synthesis in TOPO (CdSe, CdS and CdTe QDs).⁵¹ It was necessary, however, to explain the magnitude of the Stokes shift for exciton luminescence in CdSe QDs (up to ~ 20 nm) and its dependence on the size^{99,368} and the proniunced increase in the lifetime of luminescence up to the microsecond range upon thermalization. First, the observed features were attributed to the involvement of surface states in the emission.99,431 Later, the Stokes shift for exciton luminescence was substantiated 56,93 by splitting of the ground state of the exciton into bright and dark states due to the electronhole exchange interaction, which is more intense in QDs than in bulk crystals due to the quantum confinement. A system of energy states and optical transitions in the absorption and luminescence of CdSe QDs compiled using published data 56,93 is presented in Fig. 10.

According to published data,^{56,93} splitting into light and dark states of the exciton provides a Stokes shift of the luminescence band relative to the ground exciton absorption. For binary semiconductors, the valence band is often described by *p*-like atomic orbitals. This ensures the formation of three subbands for holes (heavy, light, and split-off holes). In this case, the total angular momentum for the exciton with the lowest energy is the sum of the total angular momenta of its constituent electron $(J_e = l+s = 0+1/2)$ and heavy hole $(J_{hh} = l+s = 1+1/2)$. The



Figure 10. Energy diagram explaining the Stokes shift for exciton luminescence in colloidal CdSe QDs.

total angular momentum for the exciton $J = J_e + J_{hh}$, equal to unity, corresponds to the optically active (light) state, while J = 2 corresponds to the optically inactive (dark) state of the exciton. Optical transitions (absorption and luminescence) involving the dark state are forbidden in the dipole approximation $(\Delta J = 2 \text{ and } \Delta S = 1)$, while those involving the light state $(\Delta J = \Delta L = 1, \Delta S = 0)$ are allowed (see Fig. 10). Thus, the absorption will be dominated by the transition to the state with J = 1. In the luminescence, due to the fast thermalization of the exciton to the J = 2 state, the transition from this state to the ground state will predominate, although this transition is forbidden, which ensures the lifetime of luminescence in the microsecond range for CdSe QDs at 5 K.⁴³²

In the calculations made in the effective mass approximation and perturbation theory, the electron-hole exchange interaction for QDs under quantum confinement was expressed as 93

$$\hat{H}_{exch} = -2/3\varepsilon_{exch} \cdot a_0^3 \delta(\vec{r}_e - \vec{r}_h) \cdot (\hat{\sigma} \cdot \hat{J})$$
(15)

where $\hat{\sigma}$ is the electron Pauli matrix, \hat{J} is the hole Pauli matrix, a_0 is the lattice constant, and ε_{exch} is the exchange strength constant (~320 meV for CdSe). The calculated splitting between the light and dark states in CdSe QDs was 12.5 meV, which is two orders of magnitude larger than the corresponding value for a bulk crystal (0.13 meV). This approach made it possible to qualitatively explain the Stokes shift between the exciton in absorption and the exciton in luminescence within a range of 1–20 meV (see Fig. 10).

By taking into account the projection of the total angular momentum onto a selected direction (the *C* axis in a wurtzite type crystal lattice and QD non-sphericity)^{56,93} enabled quantitative determination of the Stokes shift. Moreover, in this case, it was possible to explain the sharp increase in the lifetime of luminescence with decreasing temperature. For CdSe QDs, it was shown that allowance made for the shape anisotropy and the intrinsic crystal field leads to further splitting of the light and dark exciton into five sublevels and emergence of a hyperfine structure.⁹³ The projection of the total angular momentum *M* gives states $\pm 2, \pm 1$, and 0 for J = 2 and ± 1 and 0 for J = 1. Thus, the initially eightfold degenerate exciton $(1S_{3/2}1S_e)$ is split into five states (see Fig. 10). The designations correspond to those used by Nirmal *et al.*⁹³

The selected directions are both the symmetry axis C in the hexagonal crystal lattice and the axis of the ellipse, which reflects the shape of the QD and its non-sphericity. These factors are additive and lead to the common splitting into a hyperfine structure⁹³

$$\Delta = \Delta_{int} + \Delta_{asym}(\beta_{\rm m}, \gamma, R) \tag{16}$$

where Δ_{int} is the crystal field splitting; Δ_{asym} is the splitting arising from QD ellipticity; β_m is the ratio of the effective masses of heavy and light holes along the *C* axis in a bulk semiconductor; *R* is the QD radius, and $\gamma = c/b$ is the degree of ellipticity (*c* and *b* are the major and minor semiaxes of the ellipse).

For this arrangement of sublevels, the projection of angular momentum of the lowest exciton state along the crystalline *C* axis is M = 2, and this state is optically inactive. Hence, at the helium temperature, emission occurs either through a longitudinal optical (LO) phonon transition or through a spin-flip transition involving interactions with paramagnetic centres (for example, surface dangling bonds).⁴³³ At high temperatures (T > 100 K), due to thermal population of the next state with $M = 1^{L}$, the emission occurs from this state. The splitting between the levels ± 2 and $\pm 1^{L}$ is 2-3 meV, and it is not detected in most studies.

Investigation of the luminescence excitation spectra for single CdSe QDs revealed several narrow most intense lines, which could be correlated with particular exciton sublevels.⁹⁴ Transitions involving these levels are depicted in Fig. 10. It turned out that the formation of the Stokes shift involves the $\pm 1^{L}$ and 0^{L} levels with a longitudinal optical phonon (the total angular momentum for them is equal to 2; these levels are all dark) and $\pm 1^{U}$ and 0^{U} levels (the total angular momentum is 1; these levels are all light). It is noteworthy that in the literature, the 1^{L} state is often called light exciton, which leads to considerable confusion and lack of explanation for the Stokes shift.

Thus, the size dependence for the exciton luminescence spectra of QDs with a hexagonal crystal structure (*e.g.*, CdSe QDs) and a large spin–orbit splitting is determined by the size

dependence of the absorption spectra and the energy of the exchange interaction between the electron and hole in the exciton, taking into account the non-sphericity of the QD and the crystal field. $^{93,432-435}$

Exciton luminescence of CdSe QDs with a small Stokes shift $(\approx 20 \text{ meV})$ of the luminescence band maximum relative to the maximum of the long-wavelength absorption band can also be observed in the case of synthesis in reverse micelles.103 Recording the band edge luminescence spectra upon excitation with emission corresponding to the long-wavelength edge of the absorption spectrum made it possible to minimize the inhomogeneous broadening of the luminescence spectrum, which in this case consisted of a set of narrow peaks, phonon repetitions, involving the LO phonon in CdSe ($\sim 210 \text{ cm}^{-1}$). However, in this case, too, the shortest-wavelength luminescence line was shifted from the luminescence excitation band. For some period of time time, there was the opinion that the Stokes shift for edge luminescence was associated with the localization of a hole at the QD surface level belonging to a three-coordinate Se atom.^{99,368} Calculations using the tight binding method showed that this localized state was situated slightly above the valence band top.436 Despite the success achieved in the synthesis of CdSe QDs in reverse micelles, band edge luminescence in them was observed only at temperatures below room temperature. Thus, it was found that the size dependence of the exciton luminescence of CdSe QDs is determined by the size dependence of the exciton transition in the optical absorption, while the magnitude of the Stokes shift is primarily determined by the fine structure of the exciton and slightly depends on the size.

For CdS QDs with a cubic lattice, the spin-orbit splitting is small. The magnitude of the exchange interaction for CdS QDs is approximately 10 meV.⁷¹ The Stokes shift of 20-70 meV observed in the experiment cannot be explained using the model that describes the exciton fine structure in CdSe. In terms of the $k \cdot p$ theory, it was found that the lowest-energy absorption is forbidden for small CdS QDs, since the ground state of the envelope wave function of the electron is s-symmetric, while that of the hole is p-symmetric.^{48,372,381} The next transition in the absorption involves s-like envelopes of hole wave functions and is allowed. This approach was used to interpret the size dependence of the Stokes shift and the lifetime of luminescence at low temperatures.³⁷³ For large CdS QDs, the sequence of sand p-like hole levels changes, and the lowest energy transition becomes allowed.

For colloidal CdTe QDs, even those obtained by lowtemperature hydrophilic synthesis, exciton luminescence with a high quantum yield is observed in the absence of a recombination component, which indicates a relatively low concentration of defects.²⁰⁰ For CdS QDs with a hexagonal crystal lattice, an explanation of the Stokes shift of the exciton luminescence is similar to the case of CdSe QDs.^{370,437} This approach is used to explain the temperature behaviour of the intensity of exciton luminescence, the lifetime of which increases with increasing temperature.^{435,438}

Analysis of exciton luminescence in QDs of other compounds is faced with difficulties even in substantiation of the nature of this luminescence. For example, for Ag_2S QDs the problem of the Stokes shift has not been addressed in detail due to the lack of data on the fine structure of the exciton ground state. This is apparently due to the complex crystal structure, which has low symmetry (monoclinic lattice). Meanwhile, there are data^{132,413} on the formation of monodisperse Ag_2S QDs of average size ranging from 1.5 to 4 nm for which a similar relationship was found between the positions of the luminescence peaks and exciton absorption with a Stokes shift (50-70 nm). The luminescence of these samples occurs at the long-wavelength boundary of the visible and near-IR ranges (500-900 nm). The luminescence bands have a half-width of about 0.1 eV and can be attributed to the radiative annihilation of excitons.

For luminescent colloidal QDs doped with various atoms and ions, the dopant atom (or ion) or its local coordination sphere acts as the luminescence centre. Luminescence occurs as a result of optical transitions between the states of the impurity centre.⁴¹² The observed luminescence band turns depends only slightly on the QD size. The size effect acts, first of all, on the structure of excitation spectra, luminescence kinetics and the efficiency of excitation of intracentre luminescence.

In some cases, the selection rules for forbidden intracentre transitions may change due to the orbital mixing (for example, d-p mixing) and the formation of hyperfine structure under the action of crystal or ligand field. The problem of doping of QDs with Mn²⁺ ions has been considered most comprehensively for ZnS QDs. The appearance of a new narrow luminescence band in the 580–590 nm range, characteristic of a spin-forbidden transition from the 4T₁ (4G) excited state to the 6A₁ (6S) ground state of Mn²⁺, was reported.^{439,440} If Mn²⁺ ions are incorporated into the lattice of ZnS nanocrystals, this transition is characterized by a high luminescence quantum yield and luminescence lifetime of 3.3 ms.⁴⁴⁰ In recent years, many researchers have successfully obtained Mn²⁺-doped ZnS QDs by the synthesized in reverse micelles,⁴⁴⁰ aqueous synthesis in thiocarboxylic acids,⁴⁴¹ in polyvinylpyrrolidone,⁴⁴² etc.

The quality of doping affects the luminescent properties of QDs. It was shown⁴⁴³ that the emission from manganese ions is due not only to the Mn²⁺ ions incorporated in the ZnS nanocrystal. The long-wavelength tail of this emission may arise from Mn²⁺ ions in the oxidized and hydrolyzed regions of the nanocrystal interface. The substituting manganese ions were found to be localized in zinc positions subject to the local axial distortion of the lattice.⁴⁴⁴ The energy of the internal $4T_1-6A_1$ manganese transition depends on the distance between the Mn²⁺ ions and the ligands.⁴⁴⁵ Pradhan⁴⁴⁶ has shown that the spectral emission characteristics of Mn²⁺ can be controlled by changing the chemical composition of the QDs or by fabrication of complex core/shell/shell structures. The time-resolved transient absorption method was used to determine the time of energy transfer from the QD exciton to manganese (~60 ps) in spherical CdS/ZnS QDs doped with manganese.447

Currently, ways to enhance the photoluminescence efficiency of Mn^{2+} -doped $ZnS:Mn^{2+}$ QDs are actively discussed. Jiang *et al.*⁴⁴⁸ used a $Zn(OH)_2$ shell formed at the interfaces of $ZnS:Mn^{2+}$ QDs. The luminescence intensity of $ZnS:Mn^{2+}$ QDs can be increased by long-term UV irradiation.⁴⁴⁹ In addition, it was found that doping $ZnS:Mn^{2+}$ with Eu^{2+} ions increases the intensity of the manganese emission band by a large factor.⁴⁵⁰ A similar result was obtained when Au particles were added to $ZnS:Mn^{2+}$ QDs.⁴⁵¹

It was also shown that QDs of mixed composition $Zn_xCd_{1-x}S:Mn^{2+}$ are more convenient for application, since there is no need to use ultraviolet sources to excite Mn^{2+} radiation.⁴⁵² Most studies in this area are focused on only the development of synthesis and optimization of luminescence of $Zn_xCd_{1-x}S:Mn^{2+}$ QDs. However, neither models of photophysical processes that provide luminescence of $Zn_xCd_{1-x}S$ nor the interaction of recombination luminescence centres and luminescence at the Mn^{2+} -based centres in these QDs were discussed.

The effect of Mn^{2+} doping of colloidal CdS QDs on the kinetics of luminescence cused by the forbidden d-d transition with a luminescence lifetime of the order of a millisecond was demonstrated.⁴⁵³ For $Zn_xCd_{1-x}S$ QDs, non-radiative transfer of electronic excitation energy from recombination luminescence centres to Mn^{2+} ions with an efficiency of 0.24–0.30 was discovered.⁴⁵⁴

The development of QD synthesis brought about the questions of whether doping of QDs with rare earth element (REE) ions is feasible and how this would affect the size-dependent luminescent properties. Doping may provide not only the additivity of the size-dependent luminescent properties of QDs and well-luminescent rare earth ions, but also new hybrid properties that are not characteristic of single components.⁴⁵⁵ An increase in the luminescence quantum yield of rare earth elements is also probable. Today, substantiation of the mechanisms of luminescence of rare earth ions upon excitation of QDs and the model of interaction between radiative recombination centres and rare earth ions is still relevant.^{456,457}

Among the rare earth elements, Eu³⁺ ions occupy a special place as dopants of this type. They are characterized by narrow luminescence peaks in the red region (near 615 nm)⁴⁵⁶⁻⁴⁵⁸ and a magnetic response.⁴⁵⁹ Currently, determination of the conditions for incorporation of Eu³⁺ ions into QDs to provide intense luminescence is a challenging problem.^{460–462} In particular, it is necessary to study the interaction between recombination luminescence centres of QDs and Eu³⁺ doping ions.⁴⁵⁵ It is assumed, for example, that electronic excitation is transferred from the recombination luminescence centres of ZnO nanocrystals to Eu³⁺ ions.⁴⁵⁷ It is also necessary to take into account the probability of transfer of charge carriers from the photoexcited matrix to the rare earth ion. For Eu3+-doped CdS nanocrystals with an average size of 8-10 nm and a hexagonal crystal structure, luminescence was detected for the ${}^{5}D_{0}-{}^{7}F_{1}$ and ${}^{5}D_{0}-{}^{7}F_{2}$ transitions.⁴⁶³ It was found that an increase in the Eu³⁺ concentration induces a shift in the intrinsic luminescence band of CdS, a sharp increase in the magnetic response,⁴⁶³ and a decrease in the interplanar distances.464

An attempt was made to dope colloidal QD CdS with Eu³⁺ ions obtained from europium β -diketonate complex, which, in turn, was synthesized from europium chloride and [4,4,4-trifluoro-1-(thiophen-2-yl)butane-1,3-dione] (TTA).⁴⁶⁵ The most preferred design, CdS/Eu³⁺ TTA/TGA QD, in which Eu³⁺:TTA is localized on the QD surface also occupied by thioglycolic acid (TGA) molecules, was spectrally justified. A significant increase in the lifetime of luminescence, from 190 to 346 µs, in the Eu³⁺ luminescence band (615 nm) was observed upon the complex assembly. In such systems, non-radiative energy transfer from the recombination luminescence centres of CdS QDs to Eu³⁺ ions was detected.

Thus, doping with rare earth and transition metal ions, in particular Eu^{3+} and Mn^{2+} , has not yet provided full control over the luminescence of semiconductor QDs. There are no general approaches to targeted doping of QDs to ensure the population of nanocrystals with impurity ions and effective passivation of QD interfaces, while preserving the structure of complexes that sensitize rare earth ions. The problem of interaction between luminescence centres generated by intrinsic QD defects and the doping ions remains unsolved.

Apparently, the largest group of luminescent colloidal QDs are those the luminescence of which is characterized by a noticeable Stokes shift exceeding 0.2 eV and a significant half-width of the emission band (see ^{51,87,100–102,108,109,131,132,139,146}, see ^{147,184,198,232,334,341–343,345,347,399,413–422,435,466–471}).

Recombination luminescence occurs as a result of optical transitions between QD energy states and localized states due to both impurity atoms and ions and intrinsic defects located inside the nanocrystals and at their interfaces, including matrix states. 65, 123, 124, 182, 183, 472-474 Depending on the type of defect or impurity, the state can be a donor (with an excess of electrons) or an acceptor (with a deficiency of electrons). These localized states are conventionally divided into shallow and deep levels. Shallow levels are located near the QD electronic states, and even if they do not directly participate in luminescence, their properties can be studied using thermally stimulated luminescence method.^{106,475} Deep levels provide a strongly bound state for non-equilibrium charge carriers. They are characterized by both radiative and non-radiative recombination. The arising luminescence can be used to determine the energy of trap states within the effective band gap. The energies of localized states not involved in luminescence are directly determined through the effects of photo- and thermally stimulated luminescence. 102, 106, 475, 476

It has now been established that the formation of trap states within the effective band gap associated with the levels of structural impurity defects, which operate as centres of both luminescence and non-radiative recombination, has a significant impact on photoprocesses used in various areas.79,84-86,102,477-481 In some cases, the presence of luminescence centres and traps of various depths is useful. For example, localized states and levels of QD recombination luminescence centres determine lowthreshold optical non-linearities (non-linear absorption and refraction) of pico- and nanosecond pulses, which is useful for the design of power limiters and systems for protecting eyes and devices from laser damage, radiation phase control systems in adaptive optics, etc.482,483 This is exemplified by colloidal Ag₂S and PbS QDs.^{190-195,484} In other cases, for example, in photovoltaics for the design of solar cells and in QD-based photodetectors, the localized states of radiative and non-radiative recombination centres have an adverse effect. They are usually removed by improving the conditions for crystallization and passivation of QDs. However, even in the latter case, the intensity of recombination luminescence, proportional to the concentration of luminescence centres, is important, since it serves as an indicator of these adverse trap states.

Recombination luminescence bands were observed in some early successful experiments on the synthesis of colloidal CdSe and CdS QDs. Along with narrow peaks, for which the Stokes shift was 2-25 meV, broad structureless luminescence bands were observed.55,56,100 The latter were attributed to radiative transitions at the levels of structural impurity defects. As the average size of CdS nanocrystals synthesized in glass decreases, a complex transformation of the photoluminescence spectrum occurs; the spectrum of 140-nm particles exhibits an exciton peak and a set of luminescence bands associated with recombination.¹⁰⁰ If the particle size decreases down to 7 nm and less, the intensity of the recombination luminescence bands increases. The luminescence spectrum of CdS QDs with a size of approximately 3 nm is dominated by luminescence driven by transitions between defect levels.100 For CdSe QDs, the recombination component in the luminescence spectrum always occurs as a parasitic effect, which can be successfully suppressed.

Thiols were used to passivate CdS QDs⁴⁸⁵ in the synthesis of highly dispersed assemblies with recombination luminescence. An interesting result was obtained by Kim *et al.*:¹¹⁵ the surface treatment of CdS QDs synthesized by the reverse micelle method with a Cd(ClO₄)₂ solution and a NaOH solution to adjust the pH level resulted in the formation of a Cd(OH)₂ shell on the OD surface and an increase in the narrow short-wavelength luminescence bands, which corresponded, in the authors' opinion, to annihilation of excitons. A decrease in the concentration of dangling bonds in CdS QDs as a result of effective passivation led to decreasing intensity of the recombination component.^{218,486} The complex structure of the luminescence spectrum of CdS QDs with an average size of 4.4 nm passivated with oleic acid was demonstrated.¹⁰² When colloidal solutions were cooled down to 10 K, three new recombination bands with maxima at 2.15, 1.76 and 1.37 eV appeared in the photoluminescence spectrum of these QDs, in addition to the exciton luminescence with a maximum at 2.66 eV. An original diagram of radiative transitions giving rise to these bands was substantiated. For QDs synthesized in gelatine, it was possible to detect the size effect in the recombination luminescence spectrum and to show that a significant contribution to the inhomogeneous broadening of the recombination band is made by not only the size dispersion of QDs, but also dispersion of donors and acceptors in single nanocrystals involved in recombination.¹⁰⁵

Thus, in the case of CdS QDs, the predominant contribution of the recombination component is due to a rather high concentration of traps with different charge and energy properties, associated with significant non-stoichiometry.^{487–491} Only in exceptional cases, it is possible to achieve exciton luminescence in CdS QDs. Colloidal CdS QDs synthesized in an aqueous medium are characterized by luminescence at defect levels, even when they are encapsulated in a ZnS shell.⁴⁸⁷ It should be noted that, in some cases, with careful optimization of synthetic procedures in low-toxic media, a high quantum yield (up to 70%) of recombination luminescence is achieved.¹⁰⁸

Other vivid examples of compounds with pronounced recombination luminescence are Ag₂S and Ag₂Se QDs. ^{104, 107, 350, 355, 356, 393, 415-421, 492-503} For colloidal Ag₂S QDs, unambiguous understanding of the size effect in luminescence spectra and the nature of the Stokes shift is an obvious challenge. Only a few works (e.g., 132, 466) have reported the formation of monodisperse Ag₂S QDs with exciton luminescence. In other cases, recombination luminescence in the 660-1200 nm range is predominantly observed. The strong influence of the conditions of synthesis and passivation of Ag₂S QDs on the luminescence nature and size dependence was found. It was suggested that the slow supply of sulfur into the growth zone of nanocrystals at temperatures above 323 K (50 °C, pH = 7-10) ensures the synthesis of small highly dispersed particles.^{132,492} The sulfur precursor, sodium sulfide Na₂S, facilitates the formation of nanoparticles with a high sulfur content on the surface, accompanied by their growth and the emergence of localized states.393 This conclusion was confirmed by Ovchinnikov and co-workers.^{192,493} It was shown that an increase in the concentration of sulfur atoms upon introduction of a sodium sulfide solution into a solution of Ag₂S/TGA QDs during the synthesis facilitates the formation of IR recombination luminescence centres (660-1000 nm) and suppression of exciton luminescence (620 nm). Thus, the absorption and luminescent properties of Ag₂S QDs are determined by the precursors used, which stabilize the colloidal solution with organic shells or polymer molecules.

For Ag_2S QDs, an unambiguous understanding of the size effect in recombination luminescence spectra has only started to appear. Often, due to the absence of a maximum or a clearly pronounced feature of the main exciton absorption transition, it is difficult to assign the observed luminescence band to a particular type on the basis of the Stokes shift.^{131,146,390,392,415,416}

Some data on recombination luminescence of Ag₂S QDs in gelatine are available.^{83,106,192,197} Their IR luminescence maxima are located in the range of 1000-1200 nm and have a weak size dependence. The properties of recombination luminescence for Ag₂S QDs passivated with mercapto acids have been studied in most detail. The size dependence of the luminescence of Ag₂S QDs passivated with thioglycolic acid was identified.^{83,493} The size effect in the IR luminescence of Ag₂S QDs turned out to be much weaker than that in optical absorption. Smirnov and Ovchinnikov¹⁰⁷ integrated data on the size effect in the spectra and luminescence kinetics for five types of samples of colloidal Ag₂S QDs dispersed in polyvinylpyrrolidone, gelatine, and passivated with thiocarboxylic acids, including thioglycolic acid, 2-mercaptopropionic acid and L-cysteine. These data provided conclusions about the general mechanism of luminescence in Ag₂S QDs.

The size dependences of the luminescence spectra of colloidal Ag₂Se QDs synthesized by various methods using various precursors do not exhibit any correlations.494-497 However, the contribution to the observed luminescent properties of Ag₂Se QDs from structural defects due to the non-stoichiometry of Ag₂Se and the quality of passivation of QD interfaces has not vet been identified. It should be noted that Ag₂Se is a compound with a significant degree of non-stoichiometry. In most cases, it exists as the $Ag_{2+d}Se$ phase where d ranges from -0.05 to +0.03.498-500 This circumstance suggests that the luminescence of localized states would prevail over the exciton one. However, it is still very difficult to identify the contributions of different mechanisms of Ag₂Se QD luminescence to the general picture of the size effect. The situation is significantly complicated by the formation of complex compounds, for example, $Ag_2Se_xS_{1-x}$, since thiol-containing components are used.501 For the luminescence of Ag₂Se QDs, it is nevertheless possible to distinguish exciton emission with a small Stokes shift and emission with a relatively large (about 1 eV) Stokes shift. A study of the luminescence of colloidal Ag₂Se QDs passivated by 2-mercaptopropionic acid confirmed this assumption.⁵⁰² An increase in the concentration of the selenium precursor and a decrease in the sample temperature to 80 K were found to enhance luminescence in the long-wavelength recombination band (840-890 nm) with simultaneous pronounced quenching in the short-wavelength exciton band (715-720 nm). Despite numerous studies addressing the size effect in luminescence for colloidal PbS QDs, the overall picture remains complex and contradictory. Due to the quantum size effect, decrease in the crystal size from 20 to 1 nm makes it possible to tune the absorption and luminescence bands to the IR and visible ranges.⁵⁰³⁻⁵¹⁰ However, currently there is no common opinion regarding the mechanism of the resulting luminescence (Fig. 11).⁵¹¹ It has been shown that with decreasing PbS QD size, the Stokes shift for luminescence increases linearly, in direct proportion to the exciton absorption energy in accordance with the empirical formula

$$\Delta E^{ss} = 0.4973 \cdot E_{o}^{eff} - 0.5648 \text{ (eV)}$$
(17)

For $E_g^{eff} = 1.13 \text{ eV}$, the Stokes shift is zero. However, in this work, the QD size was not determined. For PbS QDs with an exciton energy of 1.13 eV, the average size was reported to be about 4 nm.^{366,367} Thus, these arguments lead to the paradoxical conclusion that for PbS QDs with an exciton energy less than 1.13 eV (*i.e.*, with an average size of more than 4 nm), the Stokes shift is negative. Later, Fernée *et al.*⁵⁰⁴ explained the observed empirical dependences using a model of radiative recombination of a localized charge carrier with a free carrier of



Figure 11. Dependence of the Stokes shift energy on the confinement energy for PbS QDs (according to published data ${}^{366,503,504,509-511}$). Designations: $1,{}^{511}2,{}^{366}3,{}^{509}4,{}^{503}5$ (see 510) and $6.{}^{504}$

the opposite sign. In this model, for PbS QDs with an exciton absorption transition energy of less than 1.13 eV, this localized state was found to be located above the quantum size states of the nanocrystal (pseudo-trap state); the luminescence becomes exciton luminescence, and the Stokes shift decreases to almost zero. Additionally, a negative Stokes shift was found for a series of PbS QDs in glass with exciton absorption peaks at 1851, 2004 and 2043 nm, which corresponds to QDs with average sizes of 8.3, 9.2 and 9.5 nm, respectively.⁵⁰³ For the smallest PbS QDs of 3.6-3.7 nm size, the Stokes shift is as large as 0.45-0.50 eV.⁵⁰³ For PbS QDs with an average size of about 2 nm and an exciton absorption peak at 560 nm (2.21 eV), a Stokes shift of 0.39 eV was observed,⁵⁰⁵ which is markedly smaller than the values reported in other studies.^{503,504}

Previously, analysis of the temperature dependence of the position of luminescence peak and exciton absorption and data from time-resolved luminescence spectra led to the conclusion that the luminescence band contains three components.⁵⁰⁶ All of them were attributed to radiative recombination of charge carriers located in shallow traps of charge carriers. The detected Stokes shifts were 0.47, 0.25 and 0.08 eV, respectively. In some studies, for example, in a study by Nakashima et al.,508 no data on the absorption spectra and the magnitude of the Stokes shift were given for PbS QDs with an average size of about 7 nm and a luminescence peak at 1300 nm; therefore, the observed luminescence was not classified as exciton or recombination luminescence. For PbS nanocrystals in glass, it was found that for the peak of the exciton absorption transition with energy ranging from 0.8 to 1.4 eV, the Stokes shift slightly depends on the size and does not exceed 0.12 eV;⁵⁰⁹ this is markedly smaller than the values reported in other studies. 504, 505, 510 In the case of PbS QDs passivated by thioglycolic acid, the Stokes shift between the exciton absorption and luminescence peaks increases from 0.086 to 0.32 eV with a decrease in their average size from 4.9 to 2.6 nm. This trend was interpreted as an increase in the energy of the Coulomb interaction between an electron and a hole in an exciton due to quantum confinement of charge carriers.⁵¹¹ The kinetics of luminescence decay, which is nonexponential, includes a fast and a slow component. The time constant of the slow component, which slightly depends on the average QD size, is in the 4.4-5.6 µs range. Considering the distribution of the defects acting as luminescence quenchers in QDs over the ensemble made it possible to relate the slow component to the radiative recombination constant in PbS QDs without quenchers. As a result, it was concluded that the observed size-dependent luminescence of PbS QDs passivated with thioglycolic acid is determined by exciton radiative recombination.⁵¹¹

Thus, increase in the contribution of recombination luminescence is typical when the colloidal synthesis of QDs is carried out in an aqueous medium using various passivating agents and stabilization of nanocrystals in an inert polymer (gelatine, polyethylenimine, polyvinyl alcohol, etc.), which ensure the hydrophilicity and low toxicity of colloidal solutions required primarily for biological applications. $^{100,\,102,\,108,\,232,\,435,\,512}$ However, the presence of a recombination luminescence band is usually indicative of a low quality of passivation of the QD surface.¹¹⁷ Considerable efforts by various research groups are aimed at suppressing this luminescence, for example, by optimizing the passivation conditions^{80,435,513,514} and forming core/shell structures in which colloidal QDs are coated with a semiconductor with a larger band gap, for example CdS/ZnS, Ag₂S/ZnS, CdSe/CdS, etc.^{114,117} According to some studies, a high luminescence quantum yield can be attained for the recombination band under certain conditions of CdS QD crystallization.¹⁰⁸ There is also indirect evidence in favour of the formation inside nanocrystals of defect interfaces, which are relatively insensitive to passivation conditions, in concentrations that are noticeably higher than that obtained by high-temperature synthesis.476

The above brief discussion of the main absorption and luminescence patterns of the size effect in QDs indicates that it is much more complex for recombination luminescence than for exciton luminescence. To explain this result, it is important to understand the nature of the Stokes shift and substantiate the mechanism of radiative recombination. It is apparent that the nature of Stokes shift for recombination luminescence bands is different from that for exciton luminescence. The size dependence of the Stokes shift may involve the influence of confinement on the energy states of the valence band, conduction states and defect levels. Analysis of the structure of the corresponding photoluminescence band revealed a contribution of inhomogeneous broadening and underlying physical processes. Many of the questions raised here can be addressed by determining the specific mechanism of recombination luminescence. Like in the case of luminescent mono- and polycrystalline semiconductors, this problem for colloidal QDs is highly challenging.

For the first time, the mechanism of the size dependence of recombination luminescence was consistently analyzed for CdS QDs immobilized in glasses.¹⁰⁰ A comparison of the size dependence of the luminescence band maxima and the results of evaluation of the size effect for electrons and holes in the effective mass method for CdS QDs provided the conclusion about the donor-acceptor (DA) nature of recombination in bands with a Stokes shift of approximately 0.4 and 1.0 eV. It should be noted that this result had a complex interpretation due to the non-elementary nature of the luminescence band, which was associated with the variety of structural defects participating in the transitions. Some of them are attributed to transitions involving only donor or only acceptor levels of luminescence centres. An apparent challenge to this study is the noticeable size dispersion of CdS QDs grown in glasses. Katsaba et al.¹⁰² analyzed the luminescence mechanism of colloidal CdS QDs passivated with oleic acid, which also showed a complex spectral structure, and the temperature dependence of the

luminescence intensity of the components studied in the range from 4.2 to 300 K and proposed a model of optical transitions, which included DA-recombination and recombination of a free electron with a localized hole. a A mechanism for luminescence on DA pairs was also proposed for CdS QDs,^{101,413} considering luminescence quenching by charge acceptor molecules; however, the size dependence of luminescence was not addressed in these works.

Ovchinnikov et al.¹⁰⁵ found experimental facts indicative of the DA mechanism of recombination luminescence in colloidal CdS QDs of medium size ranging from 1.7 to 5.8 nm dispersed in gelatine and passivated with thioglycolic acid. The first fact was a weak dependence of the position of the exciton absorption peak in the excitation spectra of CdS QD ensembles on the wavelength of luminescence measurement. This situation is likely if non-equilibrium charge carriers are involved in the recombination of donors and acceptors. The distribution of DA pairs in QDs over the distance between the donor and the acceptor and the size distribution of QDs account for a slight change in the position of the luminescence excitation peak (0.2 eV), whereas the energy of the detected luminescence quantum changes noticeably (1.0 eV). The second experimental fact is the red shift of the maximum of the luminescence band when the of CdS QD luminescence decays over a nanosecond time interval. The highest energy of luminescence quantum was found for transitions with the shortest distances between donors and acceptors in CdS. The energy of the luminescence quantum on DA pairs was determined using the following expression:105

$$\hbar\omega_{lum}^{da} = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2m_e^* R^2} + \frac{\hbar^2 \pi^2}{2m_h^* R^2} - E_d - E_a + \frac{e^2}{\varepsilon |\vec{r}_d - \vec{r}_a|}$$
(18)

where E_d and E_a are the binding energies of the donor and the acceptor, ε is the dielectric constant, and $r_d - r_a$ is the distance between the donor and the acceptor.

Therefore, as luminescence decays, only the DA pairs in which the donor and the acceptor are most remote from each other have not yet emitted light; this accounts for a longwavelength shift of the luminescence band during the decay. In addition, a retardation of the luminescence decay at the emission band maximum with increasing average QD size was noted; this also confirms the mechanism of DA radiative recombination, since the larger the QD size, the longer the average distance between the donor and the acceptor.³²⁹ Finally, the size dependence of the energy of luminescence maximum does not contradict the model of recombination on DA pairs. This dependence resembles most closely the size dependence of the electron energy in the conduction state. However, the slopes of these dependences in the $E(R^2)$ coordinates are slightly different, which is due to the contribution of the size effect for localized electrons and holes to the size dependence of luminescence, similarly to the data of Ekimov et al.¹⁰⁰ The inhomogeneous broadening for luminescence caused by recombination on DA pairs was also analyzed by Ovchinnikov et al.¹⁰⁵ The authors concluded that it is necessary to take into account the distribution of donors and acceptors over the depth of states within the effective band gap and the influence of confinement on both a shallow donor (weakly bound electron) and a deep acceptor (strongly bound hole).

Further analysis of the size dependence of the energies of radiative recombination transitions, along with the size effect of the eigenstates of a nanocrystal, makes it possible to substantiate other radiative recombination mechanisms, for example, those in which either the donor or the acceptor is involved in the transitions. This concept is depicted in Fig. 12.



Figure 12. Key diagrams of recombination luminescence representing the size effect in the corresponding transitions ranging from a bulk crystal to small QDs The Figure was created by the authors using published data.^{100, 105, 107}

This approach was successfully used to substantiate the mechanism of recombination luminescence in colloidal Ag₂S QDs passivated with various thiocarboxylic acids and dispersed in polymers.¹⁰⁷ It was found that the weak size effect in the IR luminescence of all studied Ag₂S QD samples is attributable to the weak size dependence of the positions of energy states in the valence band and to the fact that luminescence is due to radiative recombination of a hole with an electron trapped at the luminescence centre. However, it should be noted that the approach used by Efros and co-workers¹⁰⁰ and Ovchinnikov and co-workers^{105,107} is inapplicable to QDs with the same extrema of the Brillouin zone for holes and electrons, *i.e.*, with the same size effect (for example, PbS, PbSe, *etc.*).

3.3. Specific features of exciton dynamics

The absorption and luminescence studies provide information about the static picture of luminescence. However, the dynamics of excitons determines the stages of photoprocesses that occur after QD excitation, including luminescence, non-radiative transfer of electronic excitation energy, various charge capture and transfer processes, *etc.* The processes considered below are related to the incoherent dynamics of electronic excitations.^{434,515–544}

Since colloidal QDs of most of the studied compositions feature a high oscillator strength of optical transitions, the relaxation processes of electronic excitations are investigated in the femto-, pico-, nano- and microsecond ranges.

Apparently, most information is provided by the timeresolved transient absorption spectroscopy (pump-probe method), which has been successfully used to explore the dynamics of excitons in various QDs.⁵¹⁵⁻⁵⁴⁰ According to this method, pump pulses excite charge carriers, thus changing the optical absorption of QDs, while time-delayed probe pulses are used to detect the changes in absorption. Analysis of the evolution of the spectral distribution of the transient absorption makes it possible to follow the sequence of processes that occur in time period from the QD photoexcitation and exciton formation up to the final exciton decay *via* direct annihilation or recombination at the levels of structural impurity defects (radiative or non-radiative). This method assumes that the sample is optically homogeneous and weakly scattering. Another popular method for time-resolved spectroscopy is photoluminescence kinetics, which covers both the enhancement (population of the luminescent state) and decay (relaxation of carriers from excited states) of luminescence intensity.

After the formation of theoretical and experimental concepts about the discrete electronic structure of quantum dots, for which the distance between the electron size quantization levels noticeably exceeds not only kT, but also the phonon energy in the corresponding substance, a low rate of photon emission, *i.e.*, thermalization of highly excited electrons and holes, was theoretically predicted.545,546 This limitation was called the phonon bottleneck effect. It was theoretically shown that the thermalization of electrons should be markedly slower in a QD than in a bulk crystal, quantum wire or quantum well. As opposed to the results obtained by Bockelmann and Bastard⁵⁴⁵ or Benistry et al.,546 it was theoretically predicted 547 that electrons in QDs can effectively relax due to Auger energy transfer to electron plasma even in small semiconductor quantum dots, where relaxation due to phonon scattering is weak. However, the details of such Auger processes for colloidal QDs under single-quantum excitation were not entirely clear.

Despite the predicted slow thermalization of charge carriers for CdSe QDs, the application of the pump–probe technique made it possible to experimentally establish that the electron thermalization rate from the excited 1P state to the ground 1S conduction state occurs entirely within 300 fs.⁵²⁵ It was difficult to obtain experimental data on the dynamics of a photoexcited hole due to the high density of hole states.

Somewhat later, Efros *et al.*⁵⁴⁸ theoretically proposed an Auger-like mechanism of rapid energy transfer from electrons to holes in the valence band; the probability of this mechanism is higher in nanometre-sized QDs than in bulk crystals due to the Coulomb interaction of carriers enhanced by the quantum confinement. The authors theoretically showed that the time of electron thermalization from the first excited 1P state to the ground 1S state is ~2 ps.

The most direct experimental evidence for the Auger process and its role in electron thermalization was obtained for CdSe QDs by Guyot-Sionnest et al.549 They reported the first study of the intraband relaxation rates of 1P to 1S electronic states in CdSe QDs in the strong confinement mode. The authors used an upgrared pump-pump-probe technique. After excitation to the exciton ground state $(1S_{3/2}-1S_e$ transition), the sample was illuminated with an IR pulse with an energy close to that of the $1S_e - 1P_e$ transition, and the $1S_e - 1P_e$ relaxation dynamics was scanned with the probe beam. The replacement of the tri-noctylphosphine oxide ligand molecule by thiocresol or pyridine made it possible to detect a significant decrease in the rate of electron thermalization for QDs with organic ligands that effectively capture a hole and, thus, block the electron-hole Auger process. The characteristic time of electron thermalization in such QDs was found to be $\sim 200 \text{ ps}(!)$, and the electron relaxation rate was <1 meV ps⁻¹, which is two orders of magnitude slower than that for bulk crystals. Thus, it was convincingly demonstrated that when an exciton in CdSe QD is excited to a high-energy state, the hole undergoes rapid relaxation in 200-500 fs.^{94,520-522,542,543} Despite significant energy distances between size quantization levels exceeding tens of LO phonon energies, the electron relaxation also occurs in sub-picosecond time intervals^{94,518,543} due to the strong electron-hole interaction in the confined exciton. This interaction increases with decreasing nanocrystal size, as does the overlap integral of the electron and hole wave functions.94,434,517,521,542-544

One of the competing relaxation processes of hot excitons is the direct capture of a hot exciton by surface traps.^{517,519,523,524}

After rapid intraband relaxation of the exciton to the ground state, electronic excitation further decays through several competing channels. The first of them is radiative exciton annihilation, which is the slowest process. The radiative luminescence lifetime for CdSe QDs at room temperature is $10-15 \text{ ns.}^{527,550}$ The duration sharply depends on temperature 527 and varies in a nano- and microsecond time range. 527 The second channel is recombination, both radiative and non-radiative, involving traps. 551 The ratio of the probabilities of all the above processes (radiative exciton annihilation, radiative and non-radiative recombination) is determined by the quality of nanocrystals, the presence of passivating shells made of organic surfactants, wide gap semiconductors, polymers, *etc.* In some cases, a high quantum yield of not only exciton but also recombination luminescence is achieved. 551

It has been found that the presence of localized states reduces the exciton lifetime. Klimov⁹⁴ concurrently studied the dynamics of photoluminescence and transient absorption in CdSe QDs in TOPO with a femtosecond resolution. The author showed that charge carriers are trapped from the exciton state within about 1 ps. The enhancement of the impurity luminescence occurs over an exceptionally short time of 400-700 fs and is determined by the fast rate of trapping of the carriers. Logunov et al.,⁵³⁰ who studied the exciton decay dynamics using the pump-probe method found a red shift of the bleaching band of the exciton for short times of up to 2.5 ps; this was attributed to the relaxation of holes in the traps, since this process does not depend on the adsorption of electron acceptors. The adsorption of electron acceptors on QD interfaces revealed that the slow component in exciton dynamics is due to electrons. The time scale of hole capture dynamics is about 2.5 ps. The electron capture usually occurs at surface traps within 25-55 ps.^{94,515,531,532,552} Later, it was shown for CdSe QDs that the transient bleaching band for $1S_{e}\!-\!1S_{3/2}$ is due to electron dynamics. To study the hole relaxation dynamics, it was proposed to examine the transient absorption on the red side of the $1S_e - 1S_{3/2}$ bleaching band. 94, 516, 533, 543

For CdS QD, the same method revealed non-exponential dynamics of electron capture at localized states.⁴⁷⁵ The characteristic time of the fast component was several picoseconds. In this case, the hole was captured within a sub-picosecond time, which determined the predominance of trap luminescence over exciton luminescence.⁴⁷⁵

The progress in experimental studes of the exciton decay dynamics in Ag₂S QDs is significantly more modest. The reasons for the absence of an allowed exciton absorption band in the stationary spectra are still a matter of discussion.^{147, 150, 353, 393} It is assumed that Ag₂S QDs do not exhibit exciton absorption features due to the indirect band gap.⁵³⁴ At several wavelengths near the first harmonic wave of a Ti-sapphire laser (720, 790, 820 and 900 nm), a signal of transient absorption evolving into bleaching was observed. Later, the absence of exciton transitions in Ag₂S QDs was recognized as a special electronic feature.³⁹² The use of the pump-probe technique in the spectral range from 520 to 730 nm for Ag₂S QDs made it possible to detect a transient absorption signal that decayed within a few picoseconds.150 For Ag₂S QDs coated with thioglycolic acid molecules, a wide transient absorption band was discovered in the spectral range of 500-1000 nm; this band decayed according to a non-exponential law within a time of ≈ 1 ns.¹⁹⁶ It was found that the broad transient absorption band is determined by the capture of charge carriers by localized states of structural defect levels in Ag_2SQDs . It was been shown that non-linear absorption can be effectively used in optical power limiting systems for 10 ns pulses.

An interesting result was reported by Gilmore *et al.*⁵⁰⁷ It was found that upon direct excitation of localized states of PbS QDs, a bleaching band associated with traps is first formed at the long-wavelength exciton absorption edge; this is followed by the formation of a transient bleaching band in the exciton peak. Considering the ratio of the magnitudes of the induced bleaching signals in these two bands, the authors assumed that the trap absorption cross-section is 2-3 times greater than the similar value for exciton absorption.

Experimental data on the exciton decay time in PbS QDs are significantly different. For example, the decay time of exciton luminescence was reported 366,553-555 to be approximately 1-2 µs. Meanwhile, other publications 556-558 report fast pico- to nanosecond dynamics of exciton decay in PbS QDs. However, according to Gilmore et al.,507 the bleaching peak related to the exciton ground state in QD PbS does not decay noticeably on a time scale of 2.5 ns. This suggests that the exciton decay is an order of magnitude slower. An ultrafast exciton decay was found for PbS quantum dots; the decay was due to the recombination of an exciton electron and a hole with a localized surface ion pair formed upon the adsorption of tetracyanoquinodimethane,⁵⁵⁹ the photoluminescence of PbS QDs being strongly quenched due to this process. It has been shown that the rate constant of the exciton excitation decay increases approximately linearly with increasing number of adsorbed acceptor molecules. It should be especially emphasized that the estimated exciton decay time obtained for PbS QDs untreated with acceptor molecules is 2.3 µs, which corresponds to the decay time of exciton luminescence for PbS QDs.366,553-555

In the case of PbSe QDs, it was found that the decay time of exciton luminescence is 880 ns.⁵⁶⁰ This value correlates with the data obtained by Du *et al.*,⁵⁶¹ who found the exciton radiation time to be 200-500 ns. It was assumed that such a long exciton lifetime is characteristic of all QDs made of Group 4-6 compounds with high optical dielectric constants.⁵⁶⁰

According to an alternative point of view, the long time of radiative decay of the luminescence of PbSe quantum dots is determined primarily by the orbital nature of the edge single-particle wave functions, rather than by the electron-hole exchange splitting.⁵⁶²

One more process that competes with exciton thermalization in QDs is multi-exciton generation (MEG). Upon excitation of a high-energy exciton with an energy exceeding the ground state exciton energy several-fold, the formation of several electron-hole pairs is likely due to the Auger process.⁵³⁵ The possibility of optimizing MEG for efficient conversion of the energy of solar radiation photons, which accounts for the interest in the research in this area, has been assessed by several research teams using various QDs, including PbS, PbSe, CdSe, etc. 535, 536 In the photocurrent of QD-based solar cells, MEG exhibits an external quantum efficiency (the number of harvested electron-hole pairs referred to the number of incident photons) of about 114% with a threshold value of the quantum energy of $2.6 E_{\sigma}$.⁵³⁷ The key process providing MEG is Auger shock ionization by a hot exciton, which, due to the greatly enhanced Coulomb interaction under quantum confinement, has a significantly higher probability than that in bulk semiconductors. Investigation of MEG in Ag₂S QDs passivated with 3-mercaptopropionic acid⁵⁶³ by pump-probe spectroscopy demonstrated that, regardless of the QD size, the lifetime of multi-excitons in Ag₂S QDs is approximately 1-2 orders of magnitude longer than that in QDs PbS. Hence, Ag₂S QDs is a promising candidate for solar cell applications. The transient absorption spectra under low-intensity excitation conditions were found to exhibit a bleaching band in the exciton absorption region, while the recovery dynamics showed that the exciton lifetime is on a nanosecond time scale. However, quantitative data on the exciton dynamics are also lacking.⁵⁶³ A bleaching band in the range of 900-1100 nm of the transient absorption spectra was reported by Lin et al.538 Despite the absence of an exciton structure in the stationary absorption spectra, this bleaching band was also interpreted as a band associated with the formation of an exciton. The excitation decay times were determined: the relaxation time of charge carrier thermalization was $\tau_{th} = 40.9$ ps; the relaxation time for the Auger recombination was $\tau_{au} = 27.9$ ps; and the relaxation time for exciton recombination was $\tau_{re} = 3$ ns. The obtained exciton lifetimes do not take into account the non-radiative decay via recombination or capture of charge carriers and represent the lower limits of this quantity.

In conclusion, we would like to note the following. If nanosecond luminescence kinetics is used, it is necessary to bear in mind that the exciton ground state decays in two ways: (i) radiative annihilation of the exciton and (ii) trapping of charge carriers into localized states, including radiative (recombination luminescence centres) and non-radiative transitions. The decisive role of localized QD states in the excitation decay has been repeatedly emphasized. 516, 517, 519, 523 The decay kinetics of recombination luminescence is usually non-exponential. Some studies suggest a multiplicity of excitation decay channels that determine the law of luminescence decay.^{102, 108, 539} For example, the complex law of luminescence decay (the sum of three exponents) reported by Katsaba et al.¹⁰² was successfully attributed to the presence of three luminescence centres detected in the spectra. The temperature dependences of the luminescence intensity of these three bands are related in a complex manner and are determined by the relocalization of charge carriers between luminescence centres as the temperature changes. It was shown⁵⁶⁴ that the approximation of the luminescence kinetics of QDs by two or three exponents has a clear physical meaning only in some situations, when a specific dynamic process can be attributed to each component. Usually, the variety of decay channels of excitations, taking into account localized states, cannot be detailed in the intricate law of luminescence decay. In the general case, when the luminescence quantum yield is noticeably lower than unity due to the nonradiative transfer of excitation energy from QDs to some external quencher (solvent molecule, oxygen molecule in solution, etc.), the decay kinetics for the dipole-dipole luminescence mechanism has the form⁵⁶⁵

$$I(t) = \exp\left[-\frac{t}{\tau_0}\right] \cdot \exp\left[-A\sqrt{\frac{t}{\tau_0}}\right]$$
(19)

where τ_0 is the luminescence lifetime and *t* is time.

If the luminescence quencher (non-radiative recombination centre) is incorporated in QD, the number of centres in each QD of the ensemble is Poisson distributed, and the rate of energy transfer to one acceptor is constant k_q , then the kinetics of the decay of donor luminescence is given by ^{566–570}

$$I(t) = \exp\left[-\frac{t}{\tau_D}\right] \cdot \exp\left[-m \cdot (1 - \exp\left[-k_q \cdot t\right])\right]$$
(20)

where *m* is the average number of quencher molecules per donor, τ_D is the luminescence lifetime of the donor without a quencher, k_a is the quenching rate constant and *t* is time. In both

cases, the law of luminescence decay in the presence of nonradiative energy transfer is non-exponential. Thus, taking into account the rate distribution of the electron and hole recombination in the sample provides for a non-exponential luminescence decay due to both the presence of luminescence quenchers and the distribution of distances between the QD electron and hole traps. Generally speaking, the rate constant distribution of any kinetic process for ensemble samples will lead to non-exponential kinetics of this process.

Thus, for QDs of many semiconductor compounds, including cadmium, zinc, and silver sulfides, there is still unsolved problem of identifying the stages and mechanisms of exciton decay, as well as the dynamics of recombination luminescence characteristic of non-stoichiometric colloidal QDs.

3.4. Temperature behaviour of spectral parameters

Detailed characterization of the optical properties of QDs is a key conditions for application of QDs for various purposes. Apart from the size effect, the band gap and the spectral kinetic properties of various optical transitions considered above are affected by the temperature of the environment. By investigating the influence of this factor, it is possible to derive information about fundamental characteristics such as the temperature coefficient $\beta = dE_g/dT$, the effective phonon energy and the strength of the electron–phonon coupling. In the linear approximation, the temperature-induced change in the band gap is described by the model ^{571,572}

$$E_g(T) = E_g(0) - \beta T \tag{21}$$

According to this approach, the β value is determined from the slope of the linear segment of the experimental temperature dependence $E_g(T)$. However, in the low-temperature region, it can be essentially non-linear.

The linear quadratic equation proposed by Varshni,⁵⁷³ which is widely used to describe $E_g(T)$, has the form

$$E_g(T) = E_g(0) - \frac{\alpha_1 T^2}{\alpha_2 + T}$$
(22)

where α_1 and α_2 are empirical parameters that have no particular physical meaning. The constant α_2 is taken to be similar in magnitude to the Debye temperature. In the high-temperature limit where $T \gg \alpha_2$, it follows from Eqn (22) that $\alpha_1 \approx \beta$. In some cases, coefficients α_1 and α_2 are negative, which complicates the physical interpretation of the measured dependences. Nevertheless, despite the limited amount of extracted information, the expression describes quite satisfactorily the experimental shape of the temperature characteristic $E_g(T)$, which was verified for numerous examples.⁵⁷⁴

In the framework of one-phonon approximation and secondorder perturbation theory, the temperature dependence of the band gap can be represented as the equation $^{575-577}$

$$E_g(T) = E_g(0) - A_F(n_s) \tag{23}$$

where $\langle n_s \rangle = [\exp(\hbar\omega/kT) - 1]^{-1}$. Here A_F is the Fan parameter depending on the microscopic properties of the material, eV; $\langle n_s \rangle$ is the Bose–Einstein factor for phonons with the $\hbar\omega$ energy; k is the Boltzmann constant, eV K⁻¹. Previously,⁵⁷⁴ it was shown that in the high-temperature limit ($kT \gg \hbar\omega$), Eqn (23) is reduced to form (21), and then the temperature coefficient is expressed as

$$\beta_{\infty} = A_F \frac{k}{\hbar\omega} \tag{24}$$

It is noteworthy that expression (23) does not explicitly take into account the contribution of the thermal expansion of the lattice. In the case of bulk materials, this contribution to the total temperature-induced change in the band gap is approximately 20%, and in the first approximation, it can be neglected.^{575,578} In addition, it can be taken that at high temperatures, the contribution of the thermal expansion to the shift of energy levels is also proportional to $\langle n_s \rangle$.⁵⁷⁸ In this case, the calculated A_F value takes into account both the internal (electron-phonon coupling) and external (thermal expansion) contributions to the $E_g(T)$ dependence.

The relationship between Varshni relation (22) and Fan expression (23) at $kT \gg \hbar \omega$ was derived by Vainshtein *et al.*⁵⁷⁴

$$\alpha_1 = A_F \frac{k}{\hbar \omega}$$
(25)
$$\alpha_2 = \frac{\hbar \omega}{2k}$$

$$A_F = 2\alpha_1 \alpha_2$$

Hence, if the condition $T \gg 2\alpha_2$ is met, the Varshni coefficients α_1 and α_2 should contain information on the effective energy of phonons.

A semiempirical relationship was proposed,⁵⁷⁹ explicitly taking into account both the expansion coefficient and the electron–phonon coupling

$$E_g(T) = E_g(0) - U_1 T^{U_2} - U_3 \hbar \omega \left[\coth\left(\frac{\hbar \omega}{2kT}\right) - 1 \right]$$
(26)

where U_1 , U_2 and U_3 are temperature-independent parameters. The second term of the right-hand part of (26) is the temperature expansion and the third term is the electron-phonon coupling. It can be easily seen that the second and third terms in the righthand parts of expressions (23) and (26), respectively, coincide, and $A_F = 2U_3\hbar\omega$.

Experimental data were approximated 580,581 using the expression

$$E_{g}(T) = a - z(1 + 2\langle n_{s} \rangle) \tag{27}$$

where $a-z = E_g(0)$, z is the parameter characterizing the strength of the electron-phonon coupling. A comparison of expressions (23) and (27) indicates that $A_F = 2z$.

For the description of the temperature dependence of the position of the exciton peak, Pässler *et al.*⁵⁸² used the model

$$E_g(T) = E_g(0) - \frac{\chi \Theta}{\exp(\Theta/T) - 1}$$
(28)

where χ is the limiting high-temperature slope of the dependence, and Θ is the effective temperature of phonons. A comparison of expressions (23) and (28) shows that $\chi = \beta_{\infty}$.

O'Donnell and Chen⁵⁸³ used the following relation to describe the temperature dependence of E_g for semiconductors

$$E_g(T) = E_g(0) - 2S_{hr}\hbar\omega\langle n_s\rangle \tag{29}$$

where S_{hr} is the Huang–Rhys parameter proportional to the strength of the electron–phonon coupling.^{584,585} A comparison of expressions (23) and (29) indicates that $A_F = 2S_{hr}\hbar\omega$. Thus, it is obvious that expressions (23), (26), (27), (28) and (29) are analogous to one another; when they are used to describe the temperature dependences of E_g in materials, it is possible to calculate the effective energy of phonons. The presented models for $E_g(T)$ have been traditionally used to describe the properties of bulk materials, but they are also employed for low-dimensional objects.^{581,584–592}

In the general case, the positions of energy levels in quantum dots are affected by four temperature-dependent factors: thermal expansion of the lattice, thermal expansion of the envelope wave function, mechanical stress and electron – phonon coupling.^{572,593} The electron – phonon contribution predominates for both quantum dots⁵⁹³ and bulk materials.⁵⁷⁴ Therefore, it appears more substantiated to use models that explicitly take into account the phonon statistics and make it possible to extract information about the effective energy of phonons that determine the observed shifts of energy levels *via* interactions.

A temperature change influences not only E_g but also the half-width H of the corresponding optical components. For analysis of this value, it is very important that QDs feature size distribution and other distributions, which gives rise to inhomogeneous broadening under conditions of quantum confinement. Consider the behaviour of the half-width of single nanocrystal optical band w, which can be represented in the following way for any temperature:

$$w(T) = w_0 + \Delta_w(T) \tag{30}$$

Here the first term reflects the natural line width at zero temperature, while the second one takes account of the effects leading to temperature-dependent broadening. In the framework of the exciton-phonon coupling, the contribution to the homogeneous broadening is defined as ^{584, 585, 594}

$$\Delta_w(T) = \sigma T + A_b [\exp(\hbar\omega_b/kT) - 1]^{-1}$$
(31)

where σ is the exciton–acoustic phonon coupling coefficient, eV K⁻¹; A_b reflects the strength of the exciton–LO phonon coupling with the $\hbar\omega_b$ energy. In this case, the considered Δ_w value quantitatively characterizes the dynamic disorder, which accounts for the temperature-dependent contribution to the energy level broadening caused by lattice vibrations.

In real systems, due to the scatter of QD characteristics, the first exciton peak energy differs for different nanocrystals in an ensemble.595 Therefore, even at zero temperature, the half-width H of the exciton band for an ensemble is greater than w for separate nanocrystals, because it is formed by a set of closely located, overlapping peaks with different energies. In this case, the optical absorption band is inhomogeneously broadened, and Δ_I quantitatively characterizes the static structural disorder, which provides the temperature-independent contribution to the broadening of energy levels.^{596, 597} The static disorder is caused by distributions f(X) of other parameters $X = \{x_1, x_2, ...\}$ for QDs in an ensemble. As the temperature increases, the bands for single nanocrystals are broadened according to Eqn (31), which, in turn, influences the H value for the exciton band of the whole ensemble, resulting in the temperature-dependent contribution $\Delta_T(X, T)$ to the broadening. The temperature evolution of the half-width H of the nanocrystal ensemble with some distribution f can be represented in the form

$$H(X,T) = w_0 + \Delta_I(X) + \Delta_T(X,T)$$
(32)

In this case, broadening is determined by the effect of both static and dynamic types of structural disorder.

Expression (30) is widely used to analyze the half-width of the absorption bands of QD samples.^{577,584,585,589,591,598,599} However, for analysis of H(T) dependences, it is necessary to consider the static structural disorder. The homogeneous broadening leads to the overlap of the spectral components of single nanocrystals to form the integral optical band of the QD ensemble. In this case, a reliable estimate of the exciton-phonon coupling parameters based on analysis of the temperature-dependent broadening of the optical spectra should include the possible contribution of inhomogeneous broadening factors. 600

The temperature has a considerable effect on the luminescence intensity of both bulk and zero-dimensional semiconductors. The traditional model for the temperature-dependent quenching of photoluminescence in solids, which takes into account the relationship between the probabilities of radiative and non-radiative transitions between discrete energy levels, can be represented by the known Mott expression.^{601–605}

$$I(T) = I_0 \eta(T, E_q)$$

$$\eta(T, E_q) = \left[1 + p \exp\left(-\frac{E_q}{kT}\right)\right]^{-1}$$
(33)

where the function $\eta(T, E_q)$ describes the efficiency of radiative transitions; I_0 is the luminescence intensity without quenching, rel.u.; p is the dimensionless pre-exponential factor; E_q is the activation energy of quenching, eV. When the quenching mechanism involves several non-radiative relaxation channels, additional temperature terms with parameters p and E_q appear in the efficiency function.^{606–612} In the case of QD ensembles characterized by a scatter of structural parameters and the corresponding energy levels, the temperature dependence of PL intensity can be written with allowance for the distribution of the quenching activation energy $f(E_q)$.⁶¹³

$$I(T) = I_0 \int_0^E \eta(T, E_q) f(E_q) dE_q$$
(34)

The distribution of the activation energy was previously successfully used for analysis of the temperature-dependent quenching of photoluminescence for amorphous a-SiO₂ and a-Si:H,⁶¹⁴⁻⁶¹⁶ lead silicate glasses and disordered systems of various natures.⁶¹⁷⁻⁶¹⁹

Thus, the effect of temperature on the optical absorption and photoluminescence spectra is manifested as a shift of maxima and a change in the band half-width and also the temperaturedependent luminescence quenching. In the case of InP/ZnS nanocrystals, a temperature rise in the 300-525 K range induces a red shift and broadening of the PL bands.⁵⁸⁴ The temperaturedependent change in E_{o}^{eff} was described in the framework of the model equations (22) and (29). The results of data approximation according to the Varshni expression are consistent with the values for bulk InP. The analysis showed that the electron-phonon coupling increases with decreasing QD diameter, with the phonon energy being in the range of 8-19 meV. These values are much lower than the energy of longitudinal (LO) and transverse (TO) optical vibrational modes for the case of bulk crystal and are consistent with the longitudinal acoustic (LA) modes. Analysis of the temperature-dependent broadening of the luminescence band reveals an influence of optical phonons with 40 meV energy; however, the predominant contribution is attributed to acoustic vibrations. Analysis in a wider temperature range from 2 to 510 K led to similar conclusions about the mechanisms involved in the observed phenomena.585

Study of the temperature dependence of the optical absorption of InP/ZnS showed that cooling from 296 to 6.5 K induces a blue shift of the first exciton band (Fig. 13 *a*). The temperature behaviour of the energy of the band maximum for QD ensemble is due to the increase in the QD energy gap and is adequately described by Eqn (23) (Fig. 13 *b*). It was found that the shift is due to the exciton-phonon coupling with the longitudinal acoustic modes characterized by energy in the 14–31 meV



Figure 13. (*a*) Absorption spectra of InP/ZnS QDs at various temperatures. (*b*) Analysis of the temperature behaviour of the exciton absorption band for InP/ZnS QDs of various sizes. The continuous lines show the approximation of the temperature-dependent shift by expression (23); dashed lines show the temperature dependence of the coefficient β .^{377,620}

range and is consistent with the mechanisms of analogous processes in bulk indium phosphide crystals.^{377,620}

It was also found for InP/ZnS that the half-width H of the first exciton absorption band does not change with temperature, being in the range of 227-375 meV for various QD samples.^{600,620} Numerical modelling demonstrated that the observed effect is due to the inhomogeneous broadening caused by the predominant contribution of the static structural disorder, which is related to the nanocrysral size distribution (Fig. 14).

The temperature dependence of the PL spectra of closely packed InP/ZnS nanocrystals in the 15-300 K range was analyzed by Pham et al.⁶²¹ They noted that luminescence is formed by two bands with maxima at 2.06 and 1.8 eV, which were assigned to the exciton and defect-related transitions. The intensity of the low-energy component was maximum at low temperature and decreased with temperature rise up to room temperature. Simultaneously, the bands shifted to lower energy. The numerical description was carried out in the framework of the Varshni model, and the resulting parameters were close to the corresponding values for bulk InP. The presence of defects in InP/ZnS ODs was noted by Shirazi et al.622 Using timeresolved measurements at different temperatures, the dynamics of recombination processes of an ensemble of nanocrystals was investigated. When T = 280 K, the decay kinetics is well described by three exponential components. On cooling below



Figure 14. Simulated exciton absorption band for the InP/ZnS ensemble in comparison with experimental data. The inset shows the temperature-induced variation of absorption peaks for a single model nanocrystal.⁶⁰⁰ (Published under the Open Access CC BY license).

140 K, the fourth component related to Auger recombination appears. The temperature evolution of the decay rate constants was explained using the four-level model including the levels of dark exciton, surface defect, bright exciton and a defect at the core/shell interface.

The model of exciton fine structure in QDs describing the degeneracy and splitting of the ground state into optically active (bright) and passive (dark) levels was first proposed for description of the properties of the CdSe nanocrystals,^{56,93} but it was also used to interpret the observed optical phenomena for InP.623,624 Biadala et al.625 also resorted to this concept for interpretation of the features of InP/ZnS QD luminescence. They studied several samples with InP core diameter from 2.4 to 3.3 nm and a shell thickness of approximately 2 nm exhibiting luminescence in the 2.45 to 1.9 eV range. As T decreased, lowenergy bands located at approximately 300 meV distance from the maximum appeared in the spectra, with their intensity decreasing with increasing QD size. This emission was assigned to deep traps. Also, a shift of PL maximum to higher energy was observed, which was described by the Varshni relation with $E_{\alpha}^{eff}(0) = 2.019 \text{ eV}, \quad \alpha_1 = 5.8 \times 10^{-4} \text{ eV } \text{K}^{-1} \text{ and } \alpha_2 = 320 \text{ K}.$ Study of the temperature-dependent PL decay kinetics showed that the observed features are caused by processes involving bright (allowed) and dark (spin-forbidden) states. The energy gap between these two lower exciton levels decreases from 16 to 5 meV with increasing size of the core. Also, an upper bright level located in the range from 40 to 147 meV above the doublet of the bright and dark states was observed in the fine structure.

The temperature dependence of the properties of CdTe QDs was found 626 to be essentially determined by the choice of precursors for their synthesis, their molar ratio, stabilizing ligands and particular conditions of synthesis. For all samples, a temperature rise from 298 to 348 K was accompanied by a red shift of the spectral maximum by 4–6 nm and a decrease in the luminescence intensity. As the samples were cooled to room temperature, the initial intensity was not restored, that is, static quenching took place, and the intensity continued to decrease with every new cycle. The irreversible quenching is related to the detachment of ligands from the QD surface, which resulted

in a greater number of defects that serve as a non-radiative relaxation channel. 627

Most of materials obey a negative temperature dependence of E_g ; however, this is not always true. An opposite situation is observed, for example, for PbS and PbSe QDs.^{577,598} Study of the PL spectra of these QDs in the temperature range of 5–520 K showed that the energy and half-width of the exciton band increase with increasing *T*. At temperatures below 220 K, these dependences are adequately described by relations (22), (29) and (30); however, at higher *T* considerable deviations are observed. They are attributed to splitting of the ground level into dark and bright exciton states. The PL intensity decreases fivefold on heating in the range of 10–300 K.⁵⁹⁸

The red shift of the PL maximum and increase in H as the temperature is raised from 80 to 500 K are also typical of CdSe/ZnS nanocrystals.⁶²⁸ The former change is attributed to a decrease in the energy gap, while the latter one is due to the coupling with acoustic and LO phonons. Analysis of the change in the luminescence intensity with temperature provides the conclusion that quenching occurs *via* thermal escape of holes over the whole temperature range. At temperatures above 320 K, one more mechanism associated with the appearance of thermally induced defects is added. These defects lead to trapping of charge carriers on the surface followed by their non-radiative relaxation.

Singh *et al.*⁶²⁹ investigated the photostability of some CdSe/ CdS QD samples with different shell thicknesses. It was found that as a definite thickness is attained, the efficiency of recombination involving defective states markedly decreases, while the photostability under UV irradiation increases. The temperature dependence of the photoluminescence spectra in the range from 283 to 363 K also attests to an enhanced stability of nanocrystals of more than 8.5 nm in diameter with a thick shell, as PL quenching for these samples is virtually absent.

Li *et al.*⁶³⁰ proposed a method for the synthesis of InP/ZnSe/ZnS QDs with a PL quantum yield close to unity at room temperature. The synthesis was performed using ZnF_2 and, hence, the formation of an oxide layer on the InP surface was avoided, which provided a uniform building-up of the shell. On heating to 428 K, PL quenching was observed, and consequently the intensity decreased by 50%. The obtained samples had an enhanced thermal stability compared with analogous QDs synthesized using HF for which heating to the indicated temperature resulted in a decrease in the intensity by more than 90%.

The effect of shell thickness on the thermal stability of exciton PL was also demonstrated in relation to InP/ZnS QDs.613,620 Analysis of the exciton luminescence quenching in the range of 6.5–296 K showed that it occurs via thermally activated electron escape from the InP core into the ZnS shell. An increase in the shell thickness leads to a decrease in the energy of this barrier and increases the temperature stability of the QD PL. The shape of the temperature dependence of the luminescence intensity is described using the Gaussian distribution of the barrier energy caused by the scatter of parameters of separate nanocrystals in an ensemble (34). Ouenching of defect-related InP/ZnS luminescence observed at temperatures below 100 K due to optically active centres based on indium and phosphorus dangling bonds at the core/shell interface was analyzed. It is also characterized by a barrier energy distribution and is formed, most of all, by the transitions of charge carriers from the acceptor defect levels to the ground states.

Thus, the equations proposed for bulk semiconductors describe quite successfully the temperature effects observed in QDs based on various semiconductor compounds: the shift and broadening of optical bands and photoluminescence quenching. The mechanisms of these effects, however, can be considerably modified due to specific features inherent in zero-dimensional systems. First of all, as has already been discussed, detailed analysis of the energy structure is required for each material, because the relative positions and energy of the levels depend on the size, shape, composition, crystal structure, defects, passivators, etc. Enhancement of the exchange interaction removes degeneracy of the levels and gives rise to dark and bright exciton states, which have a considerable effect on the relaxation processes. Taking account of the size distribution and distributions of other QD characteristics in an ensemble is also important, as it is necessary for reliable estimation of the exciton-phonon coupling parameters and for analysis of temperature-dependent quenching mechanisms of both exciton and defect-related luminescence of quantum dots.

3.5. Photonics of single quantum dots

Since the advent of the single-molecule spectroscopy more than thirty years ago (see paper by Orrit et al.631 and references cited therein), which eliminated the undesirable averaging over an ensemble of emitters, the demand for this method and the scope of its application in various interdisciplinary fields have immensely enhanced. The detection of single emitters using an optical microscope is based on the requirement that at each instant of time, only one emitter operates within a diffractionlimited area. This can be achieved by reducing the concentration of single emitters or by targeted (selective) excitation of single emitters⁶³² and their photoactivation/deactivation.⁶³³ In the latter case, a large number of single emitters can be resolved within a diffraction-limited area. This option has found application in super-resolution luminescence microscopy, enabling one to overcome the diffraction limit by tens of times. An equally important factor determining the possibility of detecting a single emitter is the high signal-to-noise ratio: autofluorescence of the environment in which the emitter is located and the detector noise may preclude the possibility of detecting a single emitter. The progress in the design of lownoise, highly efficient detectors (quantum efficiency QE > 95%) based on silicon structures has resulted in a significant increase in the efficiency of detecting weak luminescence signals from single emitters.

The research of quantum dots at the level of single emitters, which started in the mid-1990s (*e.g.*, Grundmann *et al.*⁶³⁴), was aimed at elucidation of photochemical, photophysical and spectral phenomena that were not revealed in conventional studies due to ensemble averaging. The luminescence signal of single quantum dots can provide observation of luminescence blinking,⁶³⁵ photon antibunching,⁶³⁶ spectral diffusion^{637,638} and blinking of the delayed luminescence component,⁶³⁹ which reflect both the processes occurring inside the quantum dot and the interaction of quantum dots with a unique local environment.

The interest in the studies of single quantum dots is also associated with the potential possibility of using them as nanoscale probes for measuring local temperature,⁶⁴⁰ viscosity coefficient, pressure and refractive index of an optical medium.⁶⁴¹ In addition, single quantum dots are of interest for creating sources that emit strictly single photons on demand.⁶⁴²

3.5.1. Photoluminescence blinking

An early study of single colloidal quantum dots carried out in 1996⁶³⁵ gave a completely unexpected result: the luminescence of quantum dots under continuous photoexcitation underwent sharp abrupt changes in intensity. These transitions between high-intensity (on-state) and low-intensity (off-state) luminescence states occurred at random times. Figure 15a shows an example of time dependence of the luminescence signal of a single CdSe/ZnS quantum dot, demonstrating the blinking nature of luminescence. A similar blinking phenomenon was well known by that time for single molecules, in which the transition of an electron from an excited singlet to a triplet state, forbidden by selection rules, gave rise to dark gaps in the luminescence signal, while the reverse triplet-to-singlet transition led to the restoration of the luminescence signal.

To explain blinking, Efros and Rosen proposed a charging model,⁶⁴³ in which the dark off-state was attributed to the presence of an uncompensated charge inside the quantum dot. This charge generates a fast non-radiative recombination channel for electron-hole pairs related to the Auger mechanism, *i.e.*, quenching of luminescence. Figure 15*a* presents the main idea of the charging model: radiative recombination of an electron-hole pair in the neutral QD state corresponds to onstate luminescence with a high quantum yield (Fig. 15*a*, left), while predominantly non-radiative recombination by energy transfer to a third particle in the charged state of the quantum dot based on the Auger mechanism is an off-state with a low quantum yield (Fig. 15a, right). The transition between states was attributed to discharging and charging of the quantum dot. Later, it was discovered that the distribution of times of on- and off-states is described by a power law,⁶⁴⁴ rather than by an exponential law, which can be explained by fluctuations in the probability of ionization and neutralization of a single quantum dot. This led to the development of a number of modified models based on the Auger mechanism of luminescence quenching in quantum dots.^{644–647}

In addition, it was found that blinking can have several intensity levels: in addition to the on- and off-states, an



Figure 15. Mechanisms of blinking of quantum dots. (*a*) On- and off-states of a quantum dot in the charging model. High luminescence quantum yield in the neutral QD state corresponds to the on-state (left), and low quantum yield in the charged QD state due to the non-radiative Auger recombination corresponds to the off-state (right). The luminescence signal of a single QD fluctuates predominantly between two intensity levels (bottom). (*b*) Luminescence quenching due to non-radiative recombination through defect states (trap) (top). Luminescence blinking with a quasi-continuous distribution of luminescence intensity levels (bottom) arises due to fluctuations in the rate of the non-radiative relaxation channel.

intermediate 'grey' state is also observed.⁶⁴⁸ Finally, there are situations where the signal fluctuates between a quasi-continuous distribution of intensity levels.⁶⁴⁹ Figure 15*b* (bottom) shows an example of such a luminescence trajectory.

An alternative mechanism explaining the luminescence quenching in quantum dots and blinking was proposed by Frantsuzov *et al.*⁶⁵⁰ The luminescence quenching was explained by non-radiative transitions through charge carrier trapping by deep defect levels inside the band gap, while blinking was explained by a variation of the total rate of non-radiative recombination as a result of a change in the number of defect states over time (Fig. 15*b*). One of the advantages of this model is that it can explain blinking with a large number of luminescence intensity levels.

To date, a large number of blinking models have been proposed, in which luminescence quenching is driven by the Auger or the trap mechanism.^{651–654} Recent studies have shown that the blinking process can be due a few luminescence quenching mechanisms operating in parallel.^{647,655,656}

In addition to the luminescent signal with a characteristic decay time of ≈ 20 ns (in the on-state), the ensemble of quantum dots exhibits a weak component, the decay of which occurs in a time range up to tens of milliseconds.^{653,654,657,658} The appearance of this component (delayed luminescence) is attributed to the presence of shallow defect levels, the temporary trapping of charge carriers on which generates delayed luminescence photons, and to the effect of an external electrostatic field. Delayed luminescence was found for both the ensembles and single quantum dots. It is important that the kinetics of the slow component decay follows a power-law dependence on time, which correlates with the power-law distribution of the times of on- and off-states in the blinking of quantum dots. This experimental fact has initiated attempts to develop phenomenological models linking these two phenomena and explaining the power-law behaviour of both of them.^{653,654} Recently,639 it was shown that the delayed component of luminescence in single quantum dots undergoes fluctuations, on a macroscopic time scale, similar in nature to blinking of the fast luminescence component. However, blinking of delayed luminescence occurs independently of blinking of the fast component (luminescence) of quantum dots, which suggests that blinking of these two components is driven by different mechanisms. It should be noted that studying the mechanisms of luminescence blinking and quenching is important both for the design of non-blinking quantum dots and for the synthesis of quantum dots with controlled blinking. The former is necessary to enhance the quantum yield and photostability of QDs, which is required for the development of stable and efficient OD-based devices: photodiodes, displays, solar cells, and sources of nonclassical radiation. The latter is needed for the development of photoswitchable fluorescent markers for super-resolution microscopy using QDs. Finally, it is necessary to gain an understanding of the nature of delayed luminescence as a phenomenon that significantly increases the excited state lifetime in quantum dots. This is required, in particular, for the design of fast-operating QD-based devices in which the time of switching between the excited and ground states limits the maximum operating rate.

3.5.2. Photon antibunching

The antibunching of photons is characteristic of a wide class of emitters, including single atoms, molecules, colour centres in crystals, semiconductor quantum dots, etc.^{636,659–662} The

antibunching (anticorrelation) in a sequence of emitted photons is observed in the case when two or more photons cannot be emitted by a source simultaneously. This type of emission is described by sub-Poisson statistics, in which the dispersion of the number of photons is less than the mean value, which corresponds to a negative Mandel Q-parameter: Q<0. The sources of non-classical radiation (single photon sources) are the basis for the implementation of a number of algorithms in quantum cryptography, which attracts a lot of attention to such sources. Most often, the Hanburry Brown and Twiss intensity interferometer is used to study the photon antibunching. In this experiment, the signal is divided between two single photon detectors and the number of coincidences separated by certain time delays is measured (as shown schematically in Fig. 16*a*). The distribution of time intervals obtained in this way is a second-order cross-correlation function $g^{(2)}(\tau)$ (under certain assumptions that are usually implemented in experiments with single emitters). In this distribution, a dip is observed near zero delay times $g^{(2)}(0) \sim 0$ (antibunching) for a source of single photons. An example of a $g^{(2)}(\tau)$ function measured under pulsed excitation for a single quantum dot is shown in Fig. 16b. It can be seen that in this case, there is no peak near zero delays $g^{(2)}(0)$ ~ 0 responsible for the simultaneous emission of two or more photons. The measurements of photon antibunching are often used as an auxiliary study to confirm that the emitter is a single object, but also as an effective tool for studying the photophysics and photochemistry of various emitters, including organic molecules, quantum dots, semiconductor nano- and submicron crystals.656,663-667 In quantum dots, the emergence of antibunching is associated with fast non-radiative Auger recombination,636 which leads to the quenching of multi-exciton states and, consequently, the simultaneous emission of more than one photon becomes impossible. However, if the Auger ionization is suppressed, antibunching may not be observed or observed partially.664,665 A similar behaviour is inherent in quantum dots with multilayer shells characterized by radial variation of the ratio between the components, for example, between sulfur and selenium in $CdSe_xS_{1-x}$, as shown by Park et al.⁶⁵⁶ In this case, the probability of Auger recombination may significantly decrease due to the formation of a smooth potential of the quantum dot.⁶⁶⁸ Understanding the photophysical processes occurring during multi-exciton excitation is important for the development of lasers based on quantum dots, where a high quantum yield of biexciton luminescence is required to implement an population inversion.^{656,665} Measuring $g^{(2)}(0)$ makes it possible to estimate the ratio of the quantum yields of biexciton to exciton luminescence, $g^{(2)}(0) = \eta_{bx}/\eta_x$, in quantum dots 664 (as shown schematically in Fig. 16 *c*) and the rate of nonradiative Auger recombination. Therefore, the examination of photoluminescence statistics is of fundamental importance in the study of the recombination dynamics of multi-exciton excitations and determination of the influence of structure and chemical composition on the possibility of obtaining quantum dots promising as stable sources of single photons, where a low quantum yield of biexciton luminescence is required, and as laser active media with a low lasing threshold, which, on the contrary, requires a high quantum yield of biexciton luminescence.

3.5.3. Spectral diffusion

Spectral diffusion is a random variation of the position of the spectral line of a single emitter over time. The dynamics of this process is observed in experiments with a sufficiently high time resolution, while at long exposures it can lead to a significant broadening of the observed luminescence spectral contour. The spectral diffusion can be manifested as discrete jumps of the spectral line between several positions, which is typical of low-temperature spectra of single molecules embedded in a high-molecular-weight polymer and interacting with tunnelling two-level systems (Fig. 17*a*). Also, low-temperature spectral diffusion can occur as a random drift in the position of the spectral line, which is observed, for example, for single molecules embedded in organic glass or a low-molecular-weight polymer at cryogenic temperatures (Fig. 17*b*).⁶⁶⁹

Bawendi and co-workers⁶⁷⁰ were the first to observe the spectral diffusion in colloidal quantum dots. The authors showed that the luminescence spectra of single CdSe quantum dots at a temperature of 10 K consist of two peaks corresponding to an electronic transition (phononless line) and a repetition associated with transitions giving an optical phonon (LO phonon) and shifted to the red region of the spectrum. The discovered structure of the spectrum was close to the results obtained by ensemble measurements; however, in the case of single quantum dots, the linewidth was more than 50 times narrower. In addition, the position of the luminescence spectrum underwent random shifts in time by up to 60 meV, in which a correlation was observed between the magnitude of the shift and the change in the coupling with the LO phonon. Later, it was shown⁶⁷¹ that application of an external field also leads to a similar shift in the luminescence spectra of single quantum dots and LO phonon coupling changing. This suggested a relationship between the spectral diffusion and the variation of local electric field via the quantum-confined Stark



Figure 16. Study of photon statistics using an intensity interferometer. (*a*) Schematic setup of an interferometer used to study the effect of photon antibunching. (*b*) Second-order correlation function for the luminescence of a single QD measured under pulsed laser pumping, which exhibits pronounced photon antibunching. (*c*) Partial photon antibunching of quantum dot luminescence in the case of weak Auger ionization. The relative magnitude of the zero peak in the $g^{(2)}$ function depends on the ratio of the quantum yields of biexciton and exciton luminescence.



Figure 17. Example of spectral diffusion of a single tetrakis(*tert*-butyl)terrylene molecule in polyisobutylene (*a*) and toluene (*b*) at cryogenic temperature (7 K).⁶⁶⁹

effect (QCSE). This idea was further developed by Neuhauser et al.,⁶⁷² who investigated the relationship between luminescence blinking and spectral diffusion. A correlation was found between events of transition to the on-state and large spectral jumps. The correlation was explained by the ionization dynamics of electrons and holes in the quantum dot, which results in the simultaneous change in the total charge delocalized inside QD and the configuration of the charge localized on the QD surface. According to the proposed concept, the former should lead to blinking (charging model), while the latter should induce a local field variation and a change in the exciton energy due to QCSE. The idea that spectral diffusion is associated with a change in the charge localized on the QD surface has been used to explain the correlation between the linewidth and luminescence peak position in CdSe quantum dots coated with asymmetrical CdS shells.⁶⁷³ The authors hypothesized that the simultaneous shift and broadening of the spectra are associated with the movement and oscillation of charges on the shell surface, it is due to the



Figure 18. Spectral dynamics of single quantum dots exemplified by colloidal CdSeS/ZnS QDs: (*a*) spectral trace of a single QD showing the presence of spectral diffusion, obtained by repeated measurements of the photoluminescence spectrum; (*b*) correlation between the position of the luminescence peak of a single QD and linewidth. The results were obtained similarly to the measurements repoered by Podshivaylov *et al.*⁶³⁸

average local field and its' modulation in the QD core change in a correlated manner as the charge moves along the elongated shell.

However, this hypothesis was questioned by subsequent studies, which found a similar correlation between the position and width of the luminescence spectrum measured at room temperature for symmetrical CdSe/CdS/ZnS quantum dots.⁶⁷⁴ Moreover, the distribution of spectral shifts characterizing the scale of spectral diffusion did not depend on the dielectric constant of the polymer matrix surrounding the quantum dots, which led to the conclusion that spectral diffusion in quantum dots is not related to surface charges, but is driven by internal processes.

Finally, a linear correlation was also found⁶³⁸ between the width and position of the luminescence peak for symmetrical CdSeS/ZnS quantum dots. A model providing a quantitative description of the experimentally observed dependences was proposed. In this model, the simultaneous change in the width and position of the spectral line was explained by variation of the electron–phonon coupling.^{638,651} Figure 18 shows an example of the spectral diffusion of a single CdSeS/ZnS QD at room temperature (Fig. 18*a*) and the correlation between the width and position of the luminescence spectral line (Fig. 18*b*).

3.5.4. Raman spectra of single QDs

Modern experimental techniques make it possible to record Raman spectra of both an ensemble of QDs (Fig. 19*a*)⁶⁷⁵ and a single QD (Fig. 19*b*).⁶⁷⁶ In the case of single QD, it is necessary to attain a significant increase in the process cross-section; this is done by using the surface enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) or tip enhanced Raman scattering (TERS) effects.⁶⁷⁶ In these experiments, specific features associated with the QD size (phonon confinement, surface phonons) can be analyzed, along with more complex size effects for ultra-small nanocrystals associated with the activation of the phonon density of states changed by surface reconstruction. Actually, this technique enables direct measurement of the spectrum of localized phonons. Analysis of phonon spectra is used to quantify core and shell stresses and the degree of interface mixing and to monitor surface oxidation.

Thus, studies of single QDs make it possible to reveal completely new unique phenomena that are masked by averaging over an ensemble of particles in conventional spectroscopic studies. These features are also promising for practical applications. In particular, photostability and high luminescence quantum yield have become the basis for QD applications in optoelectronics, while the high sensitivity of the optical and spectral characteristics of QDs to external parameters enables them to be used as spectral nanoprobes.

The possibility of using quantum dots to address applied problems largely depends on physical characteristics such as luminescence quantum yield, photostability, quantum yield of biexciton luminescence, delayed luminescence, *etc.* The understanding of the microscopic nature of photophysical processes can significantly facilitate the design of of quantum dots with desired properties needed for various applications

3.5.5. Fluorescence nanoscopy of single QDs

Fluorescence images of single QDs can be recorded using a highly sensitive one- or two-dimensional detector by means of a confocal scanning or a wide-field epiluminescence microscope, respectively. Figure 20 shows examples of four sequentially



Figure 19. Raman spectra of quantum dots at room temperature: (*a*) thin-layer ensemble of CdSe/CdS/ZnS quantum dots on the surface of a glass substrate measured in the anti-Stokes mode;⁶⁷⁵ (*b*) single CdSe quantum dot on a silicon substrate measured in the hyperenhancement mode with the sample being placed in the gap between the tip of a probe microscope and a plasmonic nanoparticle as part of an enhancing nanostructured metasurface (combined SERS-TERS mode; surface- and tip-enhanced Raman scattering). The inset shows a map of the TERS signal intensity distribution in the sample plane; the locations for which the corresponding TERS spectra were measured are marked with numbers from 1 to $6.^{676}$

recorded fluorescent images of single colloidal CdSeS/ZnS QDs in a microscope field of view measuring $20 \times 20 \ \mu m^2$ deposited on a glass substrate at room temperature. 677

The sizes of fluorescence images σ_{PSF} of single point sources (in our case, single quantum dots, see an example in Fig. 21*a*) are determined by the diffraction of light on the microscope optical parts and depend primarily on the numerical aperture of the microlens *NA*

$$\sigma_{\rm PSF} = \frac{\lambda_m}{2NA}$$

where λ_m is the luminescence wavelength, and PSF is the point spread function. Point sources are those sources the dimensions

of which are significantly smaller than their luminescence wavelength. In this case, the accuracy of the reconstructed transverse QD coordinates $\sigma_{X,Y}$ found by the mathematical processing of the image (for example, by approximating the image with a two-dimensional Gaussian function) can be significantly higher than the diffraction limitation. In the simplest terms, the accuracy $\sigma_{X,Y}$ is determined by the width of the point spread function σ_{PSF} and the number of measured photons *N*, forming an image of a point source

$$\sigma_{X,Y} = \frac{\sigma_{\text{PSF}}}{N^{1/2}}$$

A more accurate formula takes into account the image discreteness (the relationship between the PSF size and the spatial sampling step) and the presence of spurious noise⁶⁷⁸

$$\sigma_{X,Y} = \left[\left(\frac{\sigma_{\rm PSF}^2 + \xi^2 / 12}{N} \right) \left(\frac{16}{9} + \frac{8\pi \sigma_{\rm PSF}^2 \varphi^2}{\xi^2 N} \right) \right]^{1/2}$$
(35)

where ξ is the pixel size of the CCD camera, and φ is the noise level (light contamination).

Figure 21 b shows an example of the distribution of the reconstructed lateral coordinate of the luminescence centre of a single CdSe/ZnS quantum dot with a luminescence wavelength of ~ 600 nm upon successive processing of a large number of images (the process is shown schematically in Fig. 21 *a*). The accuracy of determining the coordinates can be estimated from the resulting spread of X, Y values. Figure 21 c shows the accuracy of reconstruction of the transverse coordinates $\sigma_{X,Y}$ of single QD (with emitting core of 4.2 nm size) as a function of the total number of collected photons Nforming each image. The dependence is a power function with an exponent of about -0.5. The pattern of this dependence is retained for accuracy levels comparable to and smaller than the size of the QD core in which the electron-hole pair is delocalized and undergoes radiative recombination. With a sufficiently long acquisition time (seconds or longer), the accuracy of coordinate reconstruction can be higher than 0.5 nm, which is approximately 10 times smaller than the core size of single QD. $^{\overline{677}}$ This can potentially be used for precision studies of recombination processes in quantum dots under variation of external parameters.

The possibility of reconstructing the coordinates of single QDs with a subdiffraction accuracy can be used for optical nanotracking (detection of nanometre motions) of single quantum dots. Figure 21*d* shows an example of optical nanotracking of a CdSe/ZnS quantum dot, which was shifted in a controlled manner in the focal plane of the microscope with nanometre precision using a piezoscanner (the measurement was made by analogy with the studies reported by Eremchev *et al.*⁶⁷⁷). Each cloud of points in this plot represents the reconstructed coordinates of a single quantum dot at a fixed position of the piezoscanner. It can be seen that in this case, displacements over distances of ~20 nm can be resolved with high reliability. It should be noted that nanotracking of quantum dots can also be carried out in 3D space⁶⁷⁹ using specially





Figure 21. Localization nanoscopy with quantum dots. (a) Schematic representation of the quantum dot images processing for reconstruction of the coordinates of the luminescence centres. Example of a luminescent image of a single quantum dot. (b) Distribution of reconstructed coordinates for a fixed spatial position of single CdSe/ZnS QD. (c) Dependence of the accuracy of reconstruction of the X and Y coordinates of single QD on the number of photocounts.⁶⁷⁷ (d) Example of optical nanotracking of a CdSe/ ZnS quantum dot.

designed diffractive optical elements and rotating light-field technique.

To implement full-fledged luminescence nanoscopy within each diffraction-limited region, it is necessary to resolve a large number of point sources. Naturally, these sources should be spatially connected with the object under study, for example, they should be located on its surface. This approach can be implemented making use of the photoluminescence blinking effect,680,681 in which quantum dots switch between on- and offstates. In this case, QDs do not emit simultaneously and can, in principle, be detected separately. A similar approach was used to determine the distance between two quantum dots,⁶⁸¹ with this distance being smaller than the luminescence wavelength. In addition, a very simple selection of luminescence based on the QD emission wavelength also makes it possible to use QDs as markers in the localization nanoscopy technique. Currently, QDs are used for imaging of biological objects with ultrahigh spatial resolution.682

4. Some applications of quantum dots

4.1. Biology and medicine

Over the period of time that passed since the beginning of the synthesis and study of QDs, not only new synthetic procedures have been successfully developed, but also various practical applications of QDs have been proposed. In particular, considerable attention is given to issues related to the diagnosis and treatment of human diseases and applications in biology. There are methods for QD incubation with endothelial and stem cells followed by non-invasive monitoring of their pathways in tissues, fluorescence immunoassay, targeted delivery and prolonged release of drugs and genes, cancer diagnosis and therapy, visualization and treatment of other diseases; combinations of QDs with magnetic particles are used for the targeted delivery and the rapy. $^{683-687}$

The idea of using QDs for imaging is directly related to their physicochemical properties, chemical stability, photostability, size dependence of the luminescence range and possibility of exciting QDs of different sizes using a single radiation source. Owing to these properties, QDs can compete with organic dyes, which are widely used in biology and medicine. Organic dyes do not possess photostability; each dye has a particular emission range and requires excitation at a definite wavelength, which complicates simultaneous observation of several objects. Furthermore, the preparation of assay kits is complicated, ready specimens require special storage conditions and cannot be stored for long.

The use of QDs as donors is based on stimulated luminescence of acceptors (for example, organic molecules) in the presence of QDs and has been theoretically substantiated by V.M.Agranovich and co-workers.^{688,689}

In the case of the weak bonding of excitons in a semiconductor and in organic compounds where the width of the corresponding levels is greater than the resonance interaction energy, which is true for most organic compounds, incoherent non-radiative energy transfer from the donor to the acceptor, *i.e.*, the Förster resonance energy transfer, takes place.⁶⁹⁰ In this case, QD is the donor and an organic molecule is the acceptor. For effective energy transfer, the distance from the donor to the acceptor should be 2 to 5 nm. If the time of energy transfer from QD to an organic compound is shorter than or equal to the Wannier-Mott exciton lifetime, a significant part of energy from the excited QD can pass to the organic compounds. The general procedure for energy calculation in the hybrid nanostructure⁶⁹¹ was applied to determine the Förster energy transfer rate. The calculation of the Joule loss for the electric field generated by the excitonic polarization of QD in an organic medium showed that the transfer time is approximately 20 ps, which is significantly

shorter than the exciton lifetime in QDs.⁶⁸⁹ However, in some hybrid configurations, not only energy transfer but also charge carrier transfer can take place, which may change the phase composition of QDs and change the aggregative stability of colloids.^{692,693} On the other hand, charge transfer enables the use of QDs for photocatalysis.

Colloidal quantum dots are used most often in biology and medicine, because they can be inserted into living cells or tissues. The implementation of these methods requires nontoxic, bioinert or bioactive materials. Therefore, of most importance is the toxicity of compounds used to obtain QDs, including the solvent and stabilizer that functionalize the surface of molecules and semiconductor core. The use of organic solvents to produce colloids allows better control over the size and shape of QDs. Quantum dots obtained in toxic organic solvents exhibit intense luminescence, but they require longterm complex preparation for the use in a living cell or a living body and a special protocol for each type of objects. An alternative is the use of bioinert water. The existing difficulties of attaining the desired physicochemical properties are gradually overcome when water is used, and nowadays water-soluble QDs compete with those obtained in organic liquids.^{301,694} The use of bioinert or bioactive organic molecules for stabilization of semiconductor QDs is a prospective strategy, which, together with stabilization, solves the problems of environmental protection from the possible toxic effects of the core and functionalizes QDs for the subsequent use. By selection of the ligand, it is possible to affect the size, shape, interaction with proteins, circulation in the body and drug transfer^{695,696} and to develop methods for selective cell treatment.⁶⁹⁷ Specific surface modification is also necessary for target-based drug screening and real-time active biosensing of cellular processes.698

The studies directed towards the practical use in vivo are related, first of all, to QDs that show luminescence at the boundary between red and infrared and in the near-infrared spectral region, *i.e.*, in the range from 650 to 1200 nm. This interest is based on deep penetration of this radiation into living tissues and high signal-to-noise ratio, which allows successful use of these QDs for imaging, photoablation and photodynamic therapy.^{699,700} Near-IR light penetrates through 10 cm of breast tissue and 4 cm of skull tissue when a few-microwatt sources are used.⁷⁰¹ The radiation absorption or scattering is determined by the properties of irradiated tissues. Scattering depends on the composition and morphology of particular body tissue, while haemoglobin, melamine and water absorb radiation in this frequency range.⁷⁰²⁻⁷⁰⁴ Thus, the local distribution of body tissues can control the energy distribution and set the boundaries for IR-activated drug release. These factors are taken into account for the development of targeted drug delivery to minimize the adverse side effects in the treatment of inoperable cancer. A recent achievement in this field is appearance of theranostics.^{705,706} According to this method, remarkable optical properties, broad absorption range and anticancer activity of silver sulfide (Ag₂S)-based QDs are used simultaneously for imaging and hyperthermia of cancer cells.707,708

The whole range of issues related to toxicity attracts considerable attention of both the researchers who develop particular applications and those who explore the general issues.^{709–711} Resent studies have proved that toxicity cannot be determined by a single parameter, but depends on numerous factors. Oh *et al.*⁷¹² showed that these factors include QD concentration, size and surface properties, shell composition, functionalizing compounds and residence time in a biological medium.^{695,713,714} Positively charged particles are more likely to



Figure 22. Index of cytotoxicity for aqueous colloidal solutions of CdS in various concentrations (green columns) after the synthesis and for precursors according to methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium (MTT) assay data, CPT is camptothecin (control).⁷¹⁶

be toxic, while negatively charged particles would rather have low toxicity.⁷¹⁵ For example, the toxicity of cadmium-containing QDs was initially attributed to the release of cadmium ions. The latest cytotoxicity assays for CdS QDs *in vitro* using various cell cultures demonstrated that aqueous colloidal solutions have moderate toxicity caused by the remainders of precursors used for the synthesis (Fig. 22).⁷¹⁶

After washing with acetone and redissolution, the index of cytotoxicity (IC) of CdS QDs decreased to15–18% depending on the concentration, which gave low-toxic aqueous colloidal solutions of CdS ODs with concentrations of 2 to 8 mM.

Quantum dots can penetrate into cells and be accumulated in tissues. On the one hand, this makes them applicable for therapy when they are accumulated in the branched vascular network formed in a cancerous tumour. On the other hand, uncontrolled penetration and accumulation can cause damage to both the body and the environment. The mechanism of penetration into the cell has not been ultimately clarified. Particular mechanisms for the cellular uptake of QDs include phagocytosis, pinocytosis and receptor- or caveolin-mediated endocytosis, with the choice depending on both the cell and particle characteristics. The mechanism can be either passive or active depending on the size and surface properties (Fig. 23).717 According to some data, the renal filtration threshold for QDs is 6-8 nm, but attached ligands increase the hydrodynamic diameter and allow blood circulation of QDs.718,719 Some other data indicate that nanoparticles coated by special organic ligands, with a total size



Figure 23. Possible mechanisms of cellular uptake of nanoparticles and quantum dots depending on the shape, size, charge and molecules attached to the surface. Phagocytosis (1) and macropinocytosis (2) for aggregates and large nanoparticles; different mechanisms of pinocytosis (2-9) depending on the shape and attached molecules; direct uptake (10) and pore formation (11) for nanoparticles either positively charged and/ or less than 10 nm in size.⁷¹⁷ The picture is published according to the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License.

of 39 nm, are able to penetrate into the cell nucleus through the nuclear pore. 720

Although the unsolved issues of QD toxicity retard their use in vivo, the development of in vitro studies continues apace. In this case, it is necessary to take into account the QD charge and size and the concentration of colloidal solutions.695,721,722 Several stages of QD interaction with the cells were detected. In the first stage, QDs are accumulated on the cell membrane, and then they subsequently penetrate into the cytoplasm and the nucleus.⁷¹⁴ The degree of uptake depends on the time of conjugation and cell type, functional state and activity. The time needed for QD penetration into cells and nucleus may range from 15 min to two hours. The development of personalized medicine requires new diagnostic methods without labourintensive sample preparation processes or the use of expensive equipment. One of such methods is the fluorescence immunoassay. As an example, the efficacy of using aqueous colloidal solutions of CdS QDs for fluorescence diagnosis of herpes infection was demonstrated in relation to human cytomegalovirus (CMV). The LECh-3 diploid cells (Cell Culture Laboratory of the Ekaterinburg Research Institute of Viral Infections) were infected with this virus (reference strain AD169, titer 5.0 lg, tissue cytopathogenic dose of 50 mL⁻¹).⁷²³ The test specimens for fluorescence microscopy were prepared



Figure 24. Micrographs (optical luminescence microscopy) of the changes in healthy cells after infection with CMV: (*a*) healthy cell monolayer; (*b*) 24 h after the infection: monolayer loosening, change of cell shape to more rounded, enlargement of nuclei, intense luminescence of nuclear cells; (*c*) 48 h after the infection: some of nuclear inclusions are surrounded by a light rim, which imparts the 'owl's eye' look (marked in red); voids with remaining parts of cell matrix fibres are seen in place of destroyed cells; and cell orientation disorder. Simultaneously, cells without visible changes can also be seen; (*d*) 72 h after the infection: complete destruction of the monolayer, remainder of the cell matrix.

for healthy cells 24, 48 and 72 h after introduction of infection by adding CdS QDs into test tubes containing monolayers of infected cells on a cover glass. After 60 min, the glasses were taken out and dried at room temperature. Intact culture samples incubated with QDs and infected cells at all stages without QDs were used as controls. The results of cell examination are depicted in Fig. 24. The changes in cell structure under the influence of viral reproduction were observed for three days up to the formation 'owl's eye', an indication of CMV infection, and the subsequent complete destruction.

The continuous development of new methods for the synthesis of non-toxic QDs and appearance of new applications in medicine and biology will undoubtedly contribute to successful solution of challenges of medicine of the future.

4.2. Luminescent nanothermometry

Temperature is a key physical quantity, which is of fundamental importance both in itself and as a parameter for measuring other physical properties. Among all sensors, temperature sensors have the largest share, accounting for 75 to 80% of the global market.⁷²⁴ Monitoring of local temperature at a nanoscale is a relevant task of nanoscience and nanotechnology; solution of this problem is important for the development of micro- and nanoelectronics, integrated photonics and nanobiotechnology. Exact measurement of the local temperature with a high spatial resolution is still a very complicated task for usual thermometers due to the insufficient contact surface area between the thermometer and the object/area that is measured. Therefore, quantum dots are of considerable interest for optical nanothermometry owing to the small size and unique optical properties. Irrespective of the type of QD material, these properties depend on changes in the ambient temperature. Nanoparticles absorb light and then they convert the absorbed energy either into optical energy via emission or into thermal energy via various non-radiative mechanisms.725 Quantum dots are characterized by high PL quantum yield, narrow luminescence band, flexible selection of the excitation wavelength, high stability to photodegradation compared to traditional organic fluorophores and a broad spectral range of operation due to the quantum size effect.^{726–732}

Wang et al.⁷³³ reported a concept of using QDs as temperature sensors and studied PL of CdTe nanocrystals where the PL intensity I decreased linearly with temperature in the 303-333 K range (30–60 °C). The sensitivity S of this sensor was 1.1% K⁻¹ The maximum of the luminescence spectrum occurred at λ_m of 518 nm upon excitation at 350 nm. On heating to higher temperatures, irreversible quenching took place, caused by oxidation and decomposition of the organic stabilizer. The use of QDs as colloidal solutions is not always convenient from the practical standpoint, because a film obtained by evaporation cannot be transferred to other surfaces and reused. To solve this problem, Liang et al.734 prepared ultrathin films by layer-bylayer assembly of CdTe QDs and layered double hydroxide (LDH) and used them for temperature measurements in the range of 296-353 K (23-80 °C). It was shown that temperature rise is accompanied by a fivefold linear decrease in the luminescence I and a shift of λ_m from 558 to 568 nm. The S values for these characteristics were $1.47\%\,K^{-1}$ and 0.193 nm K⁻¹, respectively, and the structures showed a reversible change in these characteristics in eight successive heating-cooling cycles. Data on the temperature sensitivity of CdTe QDs and advantages of the composite structure are summarized in Table 1. In the case of a QD solution or a film,

quenching is caused by only the temperature dependence of the non-radiative relaxation rate, whereas in the composite, there appears an additional quenching factor: reversible QD aggregation. Furthermore, inorganic LDH is more stable than the organic matrix. The synthesis of layered composite from QDs and polydiallyldimethylammonium (PDDA) chloride demonstrated that after 5 hours of UV irradiation, PL intensity decreased by 55.6%, while *I* of the CdTe-LDH luminescence decreased by 38.7%.

Apart from the absolute intensity and spectral shift, the ratio of I for different luminescence bands and the PL lifetime τ_0 can serve as temperature-sensitive parameters. The use of these values to detect temperature in the range of 80-360 K was demonstrated by Kalytchuk et al.736 in relation to colloidal CdTe QDs embedded into a sodium chloride protective matrix (CdTe@NaCl). The samples exhibited exciton and defectrelated luminescence, and the intensity ratio of appropriate bands I_x/I_d formed the basis for ratiometric temperature measurement. This approach does not depend on the concentration or other local inhomogeneities of the probe and reduces the effect of factors that change the absolute intensities. The dependence of this parameter on T was non-linear and was described by a third-degree polynomial. In these cases, sensor is often characterized by pseudo-linear absolute and maximum relative S values, which were 0.007 K^{-1} and $0.61\% \text{ K}^{-1}$ for CdTe@NaCl at 199 K. The use of τ_0 as the temperature-sensitive parameter also eliminates the effects of concentration or probe geometry as well as the light intensity scattering and fluctuations from the excitation source. Study of the lifetime of the defectrelated PL of the composite demonstrated that this characteristic follows a non-linear dependence and can be effectively used for temperature measurement in the 80-320 K range. The pseudolinear and relative S values at 320 K were 1.9 ns K^{-1} and 52.8% K⁻¹, respectively. The obtained values markedly exceed the sensitivity of CdTe-based probes functioning by measuring the exciton luminescence lifetime.735 The embedding of CdHgTe QDs into the sodium chloride matrix afforded a sensor operating in the near-IR range.¹⁷⁸ It was found that increase in the temperature of CdHgTe@NaCl from 80 to 340 K is accompanied by a linear shift of the luminescence maximum from 875 to 915 nm, characterized by absolute and relative S of 0.15 nm K⁻¹ and 0.02% K⁻¹, respectively. Simultaneously, the PL lifetime decreases from 77 to 55 ns and is described using a stretched exponential function. The absolute value of pseudo-linear S was 0.09 ns K⁻¹, while the maximum relative S was 1.4% K⁻¹ at T = 80 - 85 K (see Table 1). The CdTe@NaCl and CdHgTe@ NaCl composites demonstrate a high photothermal stability and can also be used as luminescence thermometers for non-invasive non-contact estimation of the local temperature in various modes: ratiometric, spectral and temporal ones.

The temperature determination based on PL quenching and the spectral shift of the luminescence band was demonstrated by Maestro *et al.*⁷³⁷ As sensors, the authors used CdSe QDs excited in the single- (SPE) and two-photon (TPE) modes. The twophoton excitation makes it possible to localize the luminescence range, which provides a higher spatial resolution, and to minimize the influence of autofluorescence. In both excitation modes, a temperature rise in the range of 303-333 K (30-60 °C) induces a 5-nm red shift of the PL band, but the changes in intensity are considerably different. In the case of single-photon excitation, *I* decreases by 25%, while in the case of two-photon excitation, it decreases by 75%. This is due to the strong temperature dependence of the two-photon absorption crosssection. Maestro *et al.*⁷³⁷ demonstrated the application of these

Sensor	Temperature-sensitive parameters	λ_m , nm	$\lambda_{\rm ex}, {\rm nm}$	T range, K	Sensitivity S	Ref.
CdTe	Ι	518	350	303-333	1.1% K ⁻¹	733
CdTe-LDH	Ι	550	360	296-353	1.47% K ⁻¹	734
	λ_m	550	360	296-353	0.193 nm K ⁻¹	734
CdTe solution	Ι	550	360	296-353	0.57% K ⁻¹	734
CdTe film	Ι	550	360	296-353	0.83% K ⁻¹	734
CdTe	τ_0	510	405	293-323	0.24 ns K ⁻¹	735
CdTe@NaCl	I_x/I_d	570/700	405	80-360	0.007 K ^{-1 †} 0.61% K ⁻¹ (199 K) [‡]	736
	λ_m	570	405	80-360	0.11 nm K ⁻¹ 0.02% K ⁻¹ (80–100 K) [‡]	736
	$ au_0$	700	405	80-320	1.9 ns K ^{-1 †} 52.8% K ⁻¹ (320 K) [‡]	736
CdHgTe@NaCl	λ_m	940	405	80-340	0.15 nm K^{-1} $0.02\% \text{ K}^{-1}$	178
	$ au_0$	940	405	80-340	0.09 ns K ⁻¹ [†] 1.4% K ⁻¹ (80–85K) [‡]	178
CdSe	I (SFE)	650	488/377 (SFE) 800 (DFE)	303-333	0.8% K ^{-1 §}	737
	I (DFE)	650	488/377 (SFE) 800 (DFE)	303-333	2.5% K ^{-1 §}	737
	λ_m	650	488/377 (SFE) 800 (DFE)	303-333	0.16 nm K ⁻¹	737
CdTe@PR48 resin8	ML (λ_m, τ_0)	625	532	10-300 298-319	NA	738
CdSe/CdS/ZnS@squalane	$\lambda_m(E)$	600 (2.07 эВ)	488	295-393	0.32 meV K ⁻¹	739
CdSe/ZnS@silicone	Ι	627	561	303-333	$0.8\%~{ m K}^{-1}$	740
	λ_m	627	561	303-333	0.068 nm K ⁻¹	740
CdS _x Se _{1-x} /ZnS@varnish VGE-7031	λ_m	540(630)	450	50-323	0.15 nm K ^{-1 §}	741
ZnS-AgInS ₂	Ι	530	395	296-353	1.15% K ⁻¹	742
	λ_m	530	395	296-353	0.12 nm K ⁻¹	742
Ag/Ag ₂ S	Ι	1235	800	288-323	3% K ⁻¹ (288 K)	184
	I(1235)/I(1311)	1235	800	288-323	2% K ⁻¹	184
	λ_m	1235	800	288-323	2 nm K ⁻¹	184
CuInS ₂ /ZnS@varnish	Ι	665	405	140-340	>1% K ⁻¹ 2.3% K ⁻¹ (340K) ^{$, \$}	743
CuInS ₂ /ZnS@ amphiphilic micelles	Ι	647	488	273-333	2% K ⁻¹ (298 K)	744
PbS/CdS/CdSe@ PMMA	$I_{\rm PbS}/I_{\rm CdSe}$	910/670	560	180-300	0.014 K ⁻¹ 1.22% K ⁻¹ (300 K) [‡]	745
PbS/CdS@PMMA	$I_{\rm PbS}/I_{\rm CdSe}$	630/480	400	150 - 280	0.113 K ⁻¹	746
	$I_{\rm PbS}/I_{\rm CdSe}$	630/480	400	280-373	0.015 K ⁻¹	746
	$\lambda_m(PbS)$	630	400	230-350	0.336 nm K ⁻¹	746
	$\tau_0(PbS)$	630	400	150-350	14.1 ns K ⁻¹	746

Table 1. Comparison of the performance of QD-based luminescent nanothermometers.

Note. X/Y are core/shell quantum dots (the core is made of X and the shell is made of Y); X : Y are Y-doped X quantum dots; X@Y are X quantum dots embedded into the Y matrix; *I* is the photoluminescence intensity; λ_m is the maximum wavelength in the photoluminescence (PL) spectrum; λ_{ex} is the PL excitation wavelength; τ_0 is the PL lifetime; SPE is the single-photon excitation; TPE is the two-photon excitation; ML is machine learning; PMMA is polymethyl methacrylate; *S* is the temperature sensitivity of the sensor (the temperature at which this sensitivity is attained is given in parentheses). [†] Pseudo-linear absolute *S* value; [‡] maximum relative *S* value; [§] our estimate based on the data of cited publications. NA means the absence of data.

nanocrystals for visualization of temperature gradients in biocompatible liquids and their potential for intracellular imaging.

A modern approach of luminescent temperature monitoring is the use of machine learning (ML). Lewis *et al.*⁷³⁸ utilized this approach for measurements of *T* in microfluidic devices using the luminescence of CdTe QDs, which were embedded into the PR48 resin to form a sensitive channel. The authors noted that the accuracy of temperature determination for the study of biological processes in devices of this type is limited to approximately 1 K over a range of tens of degrees. This limitation was overcome by the developed machine learning

algorithm, which was optimized for temperature measurement in two different ranges, 10-300 and 298-319 K. Data on the temperature dependence and lifetime of the PL band were applied to the input of the neural network. In the low-temperature region, the attained accuracy was 7.7 K, or 0.4 K in the case of training over the range of 100 K or more. For the hightemperature region, the accuracy was 0.1 K. The demonstrated use of ML technique for increasing the accuracy of temperature measurement in the microfluidic media opens up prospects for enhancement of biological studies and expansion of micro- and nanofluidic applications.

Albahrani *et al.*⁷³⁹ proposed a procedure for the use of CdSe/ CdS/ZnS quantum dots to measure the temperature and pressure in thin-film liquid flows. Solution of this problem is needed for characterization of elastohydrodynamic lubrication of various mechanical components, *e.g.*, gears, bearings, cams, followers, *etc.* Quantum dots were mixed with squalane, which acted as a model lubricant with known rheological properties. The authors revealed a linear relationship between the PL energy and temperature in the 295–393 K range, characterized by S = 0.32 meV K⁻¹. It was noted that the mentioned QDs also have prospects for application in micro- or nanofluidics, nanoectronics, photonics, biophysics and biomedicine.

The use of CdSe/ZnS QDs for the fabrication of a temperaturesensitive composite based on silicone (PlatSil® SiliGlass) using inkjet printing was demonstrated by Birchall *et al.*⁷⁴⁰ Additive manufacturing technologies make it possible to print sensors on the surface of various materials and endow them with the desired geometric characteristics. The resulting composite demonstrated a linear decrease in the PL intensity in the range of 303–333 K (30–60 °C) and had S = 0.8% K⁻¹. This was accompanied by a red shift of the luminescence maximum, which also followed a linear dependence and had an angular coefficient of 0.068 nm K⁻¹. As benefits of the spectral method, the authors noted the independence on QD concentration and excitation power.

Tycko⁷⁴¹ used the CdS_xSe_{1-x}/ZnS quantum dots to design a temperature-sensitive paint for real-time temperature monitoring in the magic-angle spinning nmR spectroscopy (MAS nmR). Quantum dots of two different sizes, emitting at 540 and 620 nm, were mixed with the VGE-7031 varnish and applied on a surface to give a thin film. As the temperature was increased from 10 to 323 K, the photoluminescence maxima of the film underwent a 18 nm red shift. Meanwhile, at temperatures below 50 K, large errors appeared due to very small shifts of λ_m .

Ruiz *et al.*¹⁸⁴ proposed a nanothermometer using Ag/Ag₂S nanocrystals as multi-parameter sensors functioning in the second biological window $(1-1.3 \ \mu\text{m})$. Quantum dots demonstrate a non-linear temperature sensitivity of luminescence intensity, which amounts to 3% K⁻¹ at room temperature. Apart from the temperature-dependent quenching, the infrared emission of QDs undergoes considerable shift from 1235 to 1311 nm on heating in the 288–323 K (15–50 °C) range, which allows measuring the temperature irrespective of the QD concentration with the thermal sensitivity $S = 2 \ \text{nm K}^{-1}$. The implementation of the ratiometric mode through monitoring of the intensity ratio at 1235 and 1311 nm wavelengths provides an almost temperature-independent sensitivity of 2% K⁻¹.

The ZnS-AgInS₂ nanocrystals can also be used as a temperature sensor.⁷⁴² A two-component luminescence sensor for simultaneous measurement of pressure and temperature was proposed by Kameya *et al.*⁷⁴⁷ Owing to a broad spectrum of QD excitation, it is possible to avoid the overlap of spectral signals of various sensor components with the same excitation

wavelength, which cannot be attained when a system with two dyes is used.

Marin et al.⁷⁴³ performed temperature measurements using CuInS₂ QDs passivated by 3-mercaptopropyltrimethoxysilane, which acted as a solvent, a source of sulfur and a stabilizer. The PL quantum yield for the obtained nanocrystals was approximately 6%, being increased to 55% after coating with ZnS shell. A polymer film with nanocrystals was manufactured and employed for detecting the temperature in the range from 140 to 340 K upon excitation at 405 nm. To determine the temperature, the PL spectral shift was analyzed, particularly, the spectrum was deconvoluted into three Gaussian components, then the ratio of the sum of integrated intensities of the longwavelength bands to the intensity of the component with a maximum at 642 nm was calculated. The S value of the composite non-linearly increased with increasing T and was more than 1% K⁻¹ at temperatures above 280 K. The proposed sensor is promising for the in vivo luminescence thermometry for biological applications owing to the absence of toxic metals in the material.

Zhang *et al.*⁷⁴⁴ described a system for temperature measurement based on non-toxic CuInS₂/ZnS QDs encapsulated into amphiphilic micelles suitable for intracellular and *in vivo* applications. Micelles of 10.1 ± 2.5 nm size exhibited intense PL with a luminescence band at approximately 650 nm and S = 2.0% K⁻¹, which does not depend on the pH, ionic strength or the protein concentration. It was found that at a concentration of 300 µg mL⁻¹, micelles have no cytotoxicity against HeLa or PC-3 cells. The indicated structures exhibit high intracellular sensitivity and a linear correlation between the PL intensity and temperature, which provide accurate monitoring and prospects for hyperthermia applications.

A trend in the development of QD-based nanothermometers is to use structures emitting simultaneously in two ranges. Thus, in a single QD, there are several excited states of various natures, each being responsible for a particular PL band with an individual temperature dependence. In this case, the intensity ratio is detected, instead of the absolute intensity. This allows self-calibration of the system, thus increasing the accuracy and reliability. Liu et al.745 reported a nanothermometer with two luminescence bands in the visible and near-infrared ranges based on the core/barrier/shell quantum dots-PbS/CdS/CdSe in PMMA. The device provided accurate measurements and high spatial resolution at the micro- and nanoscale as a result of simultaneous measurement of a number of temperaturedependent parameters. The S value of the sensor, which was 1.22% K⁻¹ in the 180–300 K temperature range, was provided by the ratiometric response based on integrated intensities of bands with maxima at 670 and 910 nm, corresponding to the luminescence of CdSe and PbS. In addition, a linear temperature dependence was also followed by the shift of PL maxima and by a change in the lifetime (see Table 1). The stability of characteristics was verified in five heating-cooling cycles. The many-parameter temperature determination enables selfcalibration and increases the accuracy of nano-sized thermometers.

Zhao *et al.*⁷⁴⁶ proposed the PbS/CdS system with two luminescence bands as the temperature sensor. One band was located at 480 nm and corresponded to luminescence of the CdS shell, while the other one had a maximum at 630 nm and was associated with the PbS core. For studying the temperature dependences, QDs were placed into a PMMA matrix and excited with light at 400 nm. In the low-temperature region (120-150 K), the intensity ratio of the bands virtually did not change, while in

the 150–280 and 280–373 K ranges, linear dependences with coefficients of 0.113 and 0.015 K⁻¹, respectively, were observed. The PbS luminescence band was blue-shifted with increasing temperature. In the 230–350 K range, the dependence was linear with S = 0.336 nm K⁻¹. In addition, the PL lifetime increased from 400 to 3300 ns as the temperature decreased from 373 to 120 K. The sensitivity in the mode of τ_0 measurement was 14.1 ns K⁻¹ in the range of 150–350 K. The linear response in the ratiometric, spectral and temporal modes of operation makes PbS/CdS QDs promising sensors for local temperature measurement with a nanoscale spatial resolution.

4.3. Quantum technologies: photon sources and detectors and memristor structures

Quantum dots have become widespread as the basis for lightemitting diodes that have higher efficiency than organic compounds.⁷⁴⁸ A distinctive feature of light-emitting diodes with a QD-based conversion layer is the possibility of controlling the luminescence spectrum owing to the specified QD size distribution and a broad absorption spectrum. QD-based lightemitting diodes are already used in household light sources, coming to replace conventional (semiconductor, organic, hybrid) LEDs. Thus, the fabrication technology of newgeneration QLED displays started to be widely used.

Quantum dots also formed the basis for high-performance, but still exceptionally compact laser media. It was a challenging task to attain generation in semiconductor nanocrystals, because several excitons should be excited to produce a population inversion in QDs. This was first done by V.I.Klimov's research team in close-packed layers of CdSe nanocrystals of 1.2 nm size.¹⁷⁰ Subsequently, a method for laser generation in QDs without excitation of multi-excitons was proposed for structures with distributed Bragg gratings in quantum wells, dots and with quantum cascades (see Ref. 749 and references therein).

Owing to the photon antibunching inherent in single QDs, they may perfectly serve as the basis of single photon sources, a key element for quantum technologies. Most often, molecular epitaxy, which allows QDs to be precisely positioned on substrates or inside optical waveguides and microresonators, is used for this purpose. One more promising application of QDs in quantum technologies is implementation of quantum memory devices.⁷⁴⁹

Quantum dots, which possess a broad absorption spectrum and a specified emission range, represent an ideal base for various detectors and light converters. For example, QDs can markedly extend the working spectral range of conventional detectors to near- $(1.3-1.5 \,\mu\text{m})$ and medium- $(20-200 \,\mu\text{m})$ IR ranges when they are used on a photoactive Si surface. The advancement of detector devices into the IR region meets today's demands of optoelectronic technology and telecommunications, new challenges of quantum optics and non-invasive medical diagnosis. Furthermore, QDs can be easily integrated into various integrated photonic devices.^{749,750}

Along with memristor layered nanostructures based on inorganic materials,^{751–754} hybrid organic/inorganic nanocomposites (HOINs) using colloidal semiconductor quantum dots in a polymer matrix are promising functional media for non-volatile resistive memory cells, or memristors.^{755,756} Currently, studies of HOIN-memristors are being actively developed owing to their relatively low cost, easy manufacture by spin coating,^{755–772} good cycling stability (>10³ cycles),^{760,767} the possibility of fabricating flexible electronic

devices $^{762-764,\,768}$ and memory chips with crossbar architecture. $^{765,\,770,\,771}$

In these devices, the information is stored as a charge localized on QDs during the charge carrier transport through the memristor active layer (Table 2).^{755–772} As a rule, QDs act as electron traps, providing controlled formation or destruction of conductive electrical channels between the electrodes in a polymer matrix [*e.g.*, PMMA; polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP); polyimide (PI), *etc.*] under the action of external control voltage U.^{757–765,767–772} The controlled formation or destruction of conductive channels of anionic vacancies, *e.g.*, sulfur vacancies V_s (Ref. 757), and metal ions, *e.g.*, Ag⁺ (Refs 757 and 765), is also possible.

The application of voltage U > 0 induces the 'Set' procedure, and the memristor switches from the initial high resistance state (HRS) to the low resistance state (LRS), or from the switchedoff to the switched-on state. The ratio of the HRS to LRS currents defines the memory window of a memristive cell, which is $>10^3$ (see Table 2). Subsequently, when U < 0 is applied, the 'Reset' procedure is implemented, and the memristor switches from LRS to HRS. In HOIN-memristors, the bipolar switching mode is implemented^{757-765,767-772} even when |U| < 1 V (Refs 757, 765, 769, 771) from the first 'Set' procedure. These low-voltage resistive memory cells require no electroforming, which is an additional engineering advantage over memristive devices that require preliminary electroforming.751,752

Charge localization on QDs leads, as a rule, to the space charge limited current (SCLC) in HRS and Ohmic type of current in LRS (see Table 2).^{757–765,767,768,770–772}

If conductive channels with cross-sections commensurable with the size of a single charge trap appear in the active layer, quantum conductors with conductivity $G_0 = e^2/(\pi\hbar) \approx 77.5 \,\mu\text{S}$ are formed. This, in turn, gives rise to discrete resistive states in the memristor, with integer and/or semi-integer values of $0.5G_0$, $1G_0$, $1.5G_0$, $3G_0$, $4G_0$ and $5G_0$,⁷⁵⁷ and the possibility of fabrication of multi-level non-volatile memory cells.

The change in the resistive state (LRS \leftrightarrow HRS) of an HOIN memristor based on QDs may be induced by light, which implies the existence of an additional external optical control channel.^{755,756,758,765} This control method improves the performance characteristics of the memristor, for example, this leads to a decrease in the switching voltage and the corresponding HRS current.⁷⁶⁵ Furthermore, under external electrical and/or optical stimulation, HOIN memristors can emulate the operation of biological synapses and demonstrate high plasticity,^{758,765} which opens up prospects for creating solid models of synapses for neurochips, elements of neurocomputing systems and artificial neural networks.^{755,756}

The switching parameters and characteristics of memristors are determined by the material of electrodes, charge carrier traps and the polymer matrix. A typical HOIN memristor has a layered vertical sandwich structure consisting of two (top and bottom) electrodes and a functional (active) layer between them. The controlled resistive switching induced by an external electric field and/or optical stimulation takes place particularly in this layer.^{757–760,762–765,767–772} Horizontal HOIN memristors in which two electrodes (the left- and right-hand ones) and the active layer between them are located in one plane on an isolating substrate were also reported.^{756,761} For example, Fu *et al.*⁷⁶¹ studied a multi-level memory cell with a photoinduced change in the phase composition based on MoS₂ QDs and graphene electrodes located on the Si/SiO₂ substrate.

No.	Electrode/active layer/electrode	Cell area (or diameter Ø)/ active layer thickness	Switching voltage for the set/reset procedure, V	Memory window	Stability period, s	Number of switching cycles	Conduction mechanism	Ref.
1	Al/RSF/CdSe/ITO	1 mm ² / 200 nm	$\pm 0.7, \pm 1/\pm 0.4$	30	104	10 ³	SCLC, Ohmic	767
2	Al/PMMA:(CdSe/ZnS)/ITO	3×3 mm ² / 205 nm	$2.1\pm0.2/$ -1.3±0.3	$10^3 - 10^4$	104	4×10^2	SCLC	772
3	Al/PVP:CdSe/Al	1 mm ² / 350 nm	0.61/-0.50	6.1×10^{4}	3.5×10^{4}	1.5×10^{2}	SCLC, Ohmic	771
4	Al/PVP:CdS/ITO Al/PVP:(CdS/ZnS)/ITO Al/PVP:(CdS/PbS)/ITO	-/<700 nm	0.9/-0.4 1.0/-0.6 1.0/-1.0	25 28 2	_	-	Schottky, RT	769
5	Al/PVP:CdS/ITO	–/247 nm	0.8-1.4/ -(0.52-0.75)	4.7×10^{4}	6×10^4	2×10^2	SCLC	770
6	Al/PMMA:(InP/ZnSe/ZnS)/ITO/PEN	Ø 1 mm/ 300 nm	1.3-2.1/ -(2.3-3.1)	8.5×10^{3}	104	10 ²	SCLC	768
7	Ag/(InP/ZnS)/ITO	$0.5 \times 0.5 \text{ mm}^2/9 - 14 \text{ nm}$	1.27±0.23, 0.71±0.27 [†] / -0.86±0.29	1.85×10^{2}	3×10^{4}	5	SCLC, $\Pi \Phi$, Ag conductors	765
8	Ag/PMMA/WSe ₂ /PMMA/ITO/PET	Ø 0.5 mm/ 515 nm	0.54-1.14/ -(1.66-2.60)	104	7×10^{3}	50	TEE, SCLC, Ohmic	764
9	Al/WS ₂ QD-PVP/ITO/PEN	0.008; 0.018; 1 [‡] cm ² /44 nm	0.7/-2.7	104	104	2.5×10^{2}	SCLC, Ohmic	763
10	Ag/PMSSQ/MoS ₂ /PMSSQ/ITO/PET	Ø 0.5 mm/ 350 nm	1.0/-3.8	104	7×10^3	10	SCLC, Ohmic	762
11	Graphene/MoS ₂ /Graphene	_	4.0/1.8 -3.5/-1.6 1.15/0.5 -1.2/-0.5	>2	_	10 ²	PF, TEE, SCLC	761
12	Cu/PVA:MoS ₂ /Cu	5×5 mm²/ 90 μm	2.0/-2.5	150	10 ⁴	10 ³	Schottky, SCLC, Ohmic	760
13	Al/PI: MoS ₂ /PEDOT: PSS/ITO	-/107 nm	1.4/-(1.9-3.5)	3×10^3	3×10^4	1.2×10^2	SCLC, Ohmic	759
14	Au/PMMA/(CdSe/ZnS)/CsPbBr ₃ /ITO	–/350 nm	2/-2 §	_	_	-	SCLC	758
15	Al/AgBiS ₂ /ITO	0.2×0.2 mm ² / 150 nm	0.3/-0.25 0.7/-0.7 §	Quanti- zation	10 ²	5×10^2	SCLC, Ohmic V _s -, Ag conductors	757

Table 2. Characteristics of memristive structures based on colloidal Q.	Ds
---	----

Note. RSF is regenerated silk fibroin; PMMA is polymethyl methacrylate; PVP is polyvinylpyrrolidone; PMSSQ is polymethyl silsesquioxane; PVA is polyvinyl alcohol; PI is polyimide; PEDOT: PSS is poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene): poly(styrene sulfonate); ITO is indium tin oxide; PEN is polyethylene naphthalate; PET is polyethylene terephthalate; SCLC is space charge limited current; Ohmic is ohmic conductivity; PT is phase transition; TEE is thermoelectron emission; Schottky is conductivity limited by the Schottky barrier; RT is resonance tunnelling; PF is Poole–Frenkel emission. [†] Structure switching voltage upon optical stimulation. [‡] Three structures with different areas were studied. [§] Switching voltage in the pulse mode.

5. Conclusion

The modern methods for QD synthesis in the solid matrix and in colloidal solutions considered in this review clearly demonstrate a quantum leap that has recently taken place in this area. The previously developed methods for QD synthesis in a solid matrix such as glass melt quenching followed by low-temperature annealing and the sol-gel method were supplemented by ion implantation, ion exchange and femtosecond laser irradiation. New methods allow more precise control of the QD shape and size, which makes the obtained QD ensembles more uniform and their properties more definite and predictable. Synthesis in non-aqueous and aqueous colloidal solutions gave new QDs in terms of both the chemical composition and molecular composition of the stabilizing shells. This development of synthesis methods resulted in enhancement of QD properties and expansion of the scope of their applicability.

Analysis of various processes for the synthesis and properties of QDs revealed causes for the influence of the synthesis method on the QD behaviour, namely generation of different atomic defects and different structures of the interfaces between QDs and their environment. Since different types of atomic defects and interface structures give rise to different electronic features of QDs, the exciton spectra and dynamics change, which can be used to study the proper QDs. In addition, owing to the relationship between the QD optical properties and crystallization and passivation techniques, it is possible to expand the areas of practical use of QDs.

The controlled synthesis of QDs with specified properties suggests that QDs will be used more extensively in the luminescent sensing of gases, heavy metals and toxic compounds. The luminescence labelling and imaging of tissues and cells in vivo and in vitro would become customary in biomedicine in a near future, and the quantum dots would become major components of the element base for photovoltaics, photodynamic therapy, quantum cryptography, laser technology, luminescent temperature sensors, luminescent pH indicators and optoelectronic devices. In addition, from general considerations, it can be assumed that photoactive QDs would become the base for photocatalysts and photosorbents operating under the exposiure to light over a wide range of wavelengths.

Among the currently unsolved issues in this field, mention should be made of providing the reproducibility of the atomic structure of quantum dots and the possibility of scaling up their manufacture. The active work along this line indicates that these challenges would be solved in the near future.

The authors are grateful to the RF Ministry of Science and Higher Education for the support: project FUWF-2024-0010 (S.V.Rempel and Yu.V.Kuznetsova), project FEUZ-2023-0014 (I.A.Weinstein, A.S.Vokhmintsev and S.S.Savchenko); I.Yu. Eremchev and A.V.Naumov are grateful to the Moscow State Pedagogical University (theme of the state assignment for the RF Ministry of Education No. 124031100005-5). A.A.Rempel thank wishes post-graduate to students N.S.Belova-Kozhevnikova, A.S.Vorokh and I.D.Popov and Professor Dr. Andreas Magerl for the joint experimental work on quantum dots.

6. List of abbreviations and symbols

CCD — charge coupled device; CMV - cytomegalovirus; DA — donor – acceptor; HOIN - hybrid organic/inorganic nanocomposites; HRS — high resistance state; IC — index of cytotoxicity; ITO — indium tin oxide; LA - longitudinal acoustic phonon; LDH — layered double hydroxide; LO — longitudinal optical phonon; LRS - low resistance state; MAS nmR — magic-angle spinning nmR spectroscopy; MEG — multi-exciton generation; ML — machine learning; MTT — methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium; OLED-QDs — organic light emitting diode – quantum dots; PEDOT : PSS — poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) : poly-(styrene sulfonate); PEN — polyethylene naphthalate; PET — polyethylene terephthalate; PF — Poole – Frenkel emission; PI — polyimide; PL — photoluminescence; PMMA — poly(methyl methacrylate); PMSSQ — polymethylsilsesquioxane; PSF — point spread function; PT — phase transition; PVA — polyvinyl alcohol; PVP — polyvinylpirrolidone; QCSE - quantum-confined Stark effect ODs — quantum dots; REE — rare earth elements; RSF — regenerated silk fibroin; RT — resonant tunnelling;

SCLC — space charge limited current;

SERS — surface enhanced Raman scattering;

SPE — single-photon excitation;

TBP — tri-n-butylphosphine;

TCD — tissue cytopathogenic doses;

TEE — thermoelectron emission;

TEM — transmission electron microscopy;

TERS — tip enhanced Raman scattering;

TGA — thioglycolic acid;

TO — transverse optical phonon;

TOP — tri-n-octylphosphine;

TOPO — tri-n-octylphosphine oxide;

TOPSe — tri-n-octylphosphine selenide;

TPE — two-photon excitation;

TTA — 4,4,4-trifluoro-1-(thiophen-2-yl)butane-1,3-dione;

X/Y — core/shell quantum dots: the core is made of X and

the shell is made of Y;

X:Y — Y-doped X quantum dots;

X@Y - X quantum dots embedded in Y matrix;

T — absolute temperature;

 T_g — glass transition temperature;

 T_m — matrix melting temperature;

k—Boltzmann constant;

 $E_{nl}^{e(h)}$ — energy states for electrons (holes);

n — principal quantum number;

l — orbital quantum number;

 \hbar — Planck's constant;

e — electron charge;

 $m_{e(h)}^*$ — effective mass of an electron (hole);

 $R \xrightarrow{\sim}$ radius of a spherical nanocrystal; E_g^{eff} — effective band gap for quantum dots;

 $\vec{E_g}$ — bulk semiconductor band gap;

 μ — reduced effective mass;

 $k_{n,l}$ — wave vector;

 ω — frequency;

 ε — dielectric constant;

 $E_{\rm Ry}^*$ — exciton Rydberg energy;

H— half-width of the spectral absorption (or luminescence) band of a QD ensemble;

 Δr — size distribution of nanocrystals in an ensemble;

d - QD diameter;

 λ — position of the long-wavelength absorption maximum;

 $\hat{\sigma}$ — electron Pauli matrix;

 \hat{J} — hole Pauli matrix;

 a_0 — lattice constant;

 ε_{exch} — exchange strength constant;

J — total angular momentum;

M — projection of the total angular momentum;

 Δ — hyperfine splitting;

 Δ_{int} — crystal field splitting;

 Δ_{asvm} — splitting arising from QD ellipticity;

 γ — degree of ellipticity;

c — semi-major axis of an ellipse;

b — semi-minor axis of an ellipse;

 ΔE_{ss} — Stokes shift;

 E_d — donor binding energy;

 E_a — acceptor binding energy;

 $r_d - r_a$ — distance between the donor and the acceptor; t — time:

 τ_{th} — relaxation time of thermalization;

 τ_{au} — relaxation time for the Auger process;

 τ_{re} — relaxation time for exciton recombination;

 τ_0 — luminescence lifetime;

m — average number of quencher molecules per donor;

 $\tau_{\rm D}$ — luminescence lifetime of the donor without a quencher;

 k_a — quenching rate constant;

- β band gap temperature coefficient;
- A_F Fan parameter;
- $\langle n_s \rangle$ Bose–Einstein factor for phonons with the $\hbar \omega$ energy;
- Θ effective phonon temperature;
- S_{hr} Huang–Rhys parameter;

w — half-width of the optical band of a single nanocrystal;

 σ — exciton-acoustic phonon coupling coefficient;

 A_h exciton-longitudinal optical phonon coupling coefficient;

 Δ_w — homogeneous broadening of the optical band of a single QD;

 Δ_I — inhomogeneous broadening of the optical band of a QD ensemble;

 Δ_T — temperature-dependent broadening of the optical band of a QD ensemble;

 η — efficiency of radiative transitions;

 E_q — activation energy for quenching;

I—photoluminescence intensity;

 I_0 — photoluminescence intensity without quenching;

 $g^{(2)}(\tau)$ — second-order cross-correlation function;

 $\sigma_{X,Y}$ — variance of reconstructed transverse coordinates;

 σ_{PSF} — width of the point spread function;

N — number of photons in the image;

- ξ CCD pixel size;
- φ background signal;
- *S* temperature sensitivity;
- λ_m photoluminescence maximum wavelength; U control voltage;

 G_0 — conductance quantum.

7. References

- 1. D.Bera, L.Qian, T.-K.Tseng, P.H.Holloway. Materials, 3, 2260 (2010); https://doi.org/10.3390/ma3042260
- R.B.Vasiliev, D.N.Dirin, A.M.Gaskov. Russ. Chem. Rev., 80, 2. 1139 (2011);
- https://doi.org/10.1070/RC2011v080n12ABEH004240
- 3. C.M.Evans, L.C.Cass, K.E.Knowles, D.B.Tice, R.P.H.Chang, E.A.Weiss. J. Coord. Chem., 65, 2391 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1080/00958972.2012.695019
- 4. J.M.Pietryga, Y.-S.Park, J.Lim, A.F.Fidler, W.K.Bae, S.Brovelli, V.I.Klimov. Chem. Rev., 116, 10513 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00169
- 5. S.B.Brichkin, V.F.Razumov. Russ. Chem. Rev., 85, 1297 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4656
- 6. F.P.García de Arquer, D.V.Talapin, V.I.Klimov, Y.Arakawa, M.Bayer, E.H.Sargent. Science, 373 (6555), eaaz8541 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz8541
- 7. T.Chen, Y.Chen, Y.Li, M.Liang, W.Wu, Y.Wang. Materials, 16, 5039 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/ma16145039
- 8. L.Goldstein, F.Glas, J.Y.Marzin, M.N.Charasse, G.Le Roux. Appl. Phys. Lett., 47, 1099 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.96342
- 9. R.Dingle, W.Wiegmann, C.H.Henry. Phys. Rev. Lett., 33, 827 (1974); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.33.827
- 10. Molecular Beam Epitaxy and Heterostructures. NATO Sci. Ser. E. (Eds L.L.Chang, K.Ploog). (Dordrecht: Springer, 1985) 728 p.; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-5073-3
- 11. R.Nötzel, N.N.Ledentsov, L.Däweritz, M.Hohenstein, K.Ploog. Phys. Rev. Lett., 67, 3812 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.67.3812
- 12. V.Tasco, N.Deguffroy, A.N.Baranov, E.Tournié, B.Satpati, A.Trampert, M.Dunaevski, A.Titkov. J. Cryst. Growth, 301-302, 713 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2006.09.016

- 13. P.Möck, G.R.Booker, N.J.Mason, R.J.Nicholas, E.Aphandéry, T.Topuria, N.D.Browning. Mater. Sci. Eng. B, 80, 112 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-5107(00)00625-5
- 14. M.Reed, J.Randall, R.Aggarwal, R.Matyi, T.Moore, A.Wetsel. Phys. Rev. Lett., 60, 535 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.60.535
- 15. Y.Chen, T.Chen, Z.Qin, Z.Xie, M.Liang, Y.Li, J.Lin. J. Alloys Compd., 930, 167389 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2022.167389
- 16. S.L.Castro, S.G.Bailey, R.P.Raffaelle, K.K.Banger, A.F.Hepp. J. Phys. Chem. B, 108, 12429 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp049107p
- 17. T.S.Ponomaryova, A.S.Novikova, A.M.Abramova, O.A.Goryacheva, D.D.Drozd, P.D.Strokin, I.Y.Goryacheva. J. Anal. Chem., 77, 402 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1061934822040086
- 18. L.Protesescu, S.Yakunin, M.I.Bodnarchuk, F.Krieg, R.Caputo, C.H.Hendon, R.X.Yang, A.Walsh, M.V.Kovalenko. Nano Lett., 15, 3692 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl5048779
- 19. N.Gaponik, S.G.Hickey, D.Dorfs, A.L.Rogach, A.Eychmüller. Small, 6, 1364 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200902006
- 20. E.U.Condon, P.M.Morse. Quantum Mechanics. (McGraw-Hill, 1929)
- 21. A.S.Davydov. Kvantovaya Mekhanika. (Quantum Mechanics). (Moscow: Fizmatgiz, 1963)
- 22. S.Ryzhanov. Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz., 4, 991 (1934)
- H.Fröhlich. Physica, 4, 406 (1937); 23.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-8914(37)80143-3
- 24. V.B.Sandomirskii. J.Exp. Theor. Phys., 25, 158 (1967)
- 25. B.A.Tavger, V.Y.Demikhovskii. Sov. Phys. Usp., 11, 644 (1969); https://doi.org/10.1070/PU1969v011n05ABEH003739
- 26. R.Katzschmann, A.Rehfeld, R.Kranold. Phys. Status Solidi, 40, K161 (1977); https://doi.org/10.1002/pssa.2210400255
- A.I.Ekimov, A.A.Onushchenko, V.A.Tsekhomskii. Sov. J. 27. Glass Phys. Chem., 6, 511 (1980)
- 28. V.V.Golubkov, A.I.Ekimov, A.A.Onushchenko, V.A.Tzehomskii. Sov. J.Glas. Phys. Chem. 7, 264 (1981)
- 29. A.I.Ekimov, A.A.Onushchenko. JETP Lett., 34, 363 (1981) 30. A.I.Ekimov, A.A.Onushchenko. Fiz. Tekhn. Poluprovodnikov,
- 16. 1215 (1982)
- 31. Al.L.Efros, A.L.Efros. Fiz. Tekhn. Poluprovodnikov, 16, 1209 (1982)
- 32. A.I.Ekimov, A.A.Onushchenko. JETP Lett., 40, 1136 (1984)
- 33. A.I.Ekimov, A.L.Efros, A.A.Onushchenko. Solid State Commun., 56, 921 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-1098(85)80025-9
- Yu.V.Vandyshev, V.S.Dneprovskii, A.I.Ekimov, 34. D.K.Okorokov, L.B.Popova, Al.L.Efros. JETP Lett., 46, 495 (1987)
- 35. A.I.Ekimov, A.L.Efros, M.G.Ivanov, A.A.Onushchenko, S.K.Shumilov. Solid State Commun., 69, 565 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(89)90242-1
- 36. A.I.Ekimov, A.L.Efros, T.V.Shubina, A.P.Skvortsov. J. Lumin., 46, 97 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2313(90)90011-Y
- 37. A.I.Ekimov, F.Hache, D.Ricard, C.Flytzanis, E.Polytechnique, T.U.Minchen, M.C.Schanne-Klein, D.Ricard, C.Flytzanis, I.A.Kudryavtsev, T.V.Yazeva, A.V.Rodina, A.L.Efros. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 10, 100 (1993); https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSAB.10.000100
- 38. T.Itoh, M.Nishijima, A.I.Ekimov, C.Gourdon, A.L.Efros, M.Rosen. Phys. Rev. Lett., 74, 1645 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.1645
- A.Ekimov. J. Lumin., 70, 1 (1996); 39 https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2313(96)00040-3
- 40. K.Kalyanasundaram, E.Borgarello, D.Duonghong, M.Grätzel. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed, 20, 987 (1981); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.198109871
- A.Henglein. Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem., 86, 301 (1982); 41. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbpc.19820860409

- R.Rossetti, L.Brus. J. Phys. Chem., 86, 4470 (1982); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100220a003
- R.Rossetti, S.Nakahara, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 79, 1086 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.445834
- L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 79, 5566 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.445676
- L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 80, 4403 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.447218
- L.Brus. J. Phys. Chem., 90, 2555 (1986); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100403a003
- V.Lesnyak, N.Gaponik, A.Eychmüller. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 42, 2905 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/C2CS35285K
- A.L.Rogach, L.Katsikas, A.Kornowski, D.Su, A.Eychmüller, H.Weller. *Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem.*, 100, 1772 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1002/bbpc.19961001104
- M.L.Steigerwald, A.P.Alivisatos, J.M.Gibson, T.D.Harris, R.Kortan, A.J.Muller, A.M.Thayer, T.M.Duncan, D.C.Douglass, L.E.Brus. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 110, 3046 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00218a008
- M.L.Steigerwald, L.E.Brus. Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci., 19, 471 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ms.19.080189.002351
- C.B.Murray, D.J.Norris, M.G.Bawendi. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 115, 8706 (1993); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00072a025
- Y.Kayanuma. *Phys. Rev. B*, **38**, 9797 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.38.9797
- S.V.Nair, S.Sinha, K.C.Rustagi. *Phys. Rev. B*, **35**, 4098 (1987); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.35.4098
- P.E.Lippens, M.Lannoo. *Phys. Rev. B*, **39**, 10935 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.39.10935
- 55. Y.Kayanuma, H.Momiji. *Phys. Rev. B*, **41**, 10261 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.41.10261
- A.L.Efros, M.Rosen, M.Kuno, M.Nirmal, D.J.Norris, M.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. B*, **54**, 4843 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.54.4843
- V.M.Fomin, V.N.Gladilin, J.T.Devreese, E.P.Pokatilov, S.N.Balaban, S.N.Klimin. *Phys. Rev. B*, **57**, 2415 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.57.2415
- M.I.Vasilevskii, E.I.Akinkina, A.M.de Paula, E.V.Anda. Semiconductors, **32**, 1229 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1134/1.1187596
- S.I.Pokutnyi. Semiconductors, 41, 1323 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063782607110097
- J.M.Ferreyra, C.R.Proetto. *Phys. Rev. B*, 57, 9061 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.57.9061
- N.V.Tkach, Yu. A.Sety. Semiconductors, 40, 1083 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1134/S106378260609017X
- 62. N.V.Tkach, V.A.Golovatskii. Fiz. Tv. Tela, 32, 2512 (1990)
- 63. S.I.Pokutnyi. Fiz. Tv. Tela, 35, 257 (1993)
- S.I.Pokutnyi. Semiconductors, 39, 1066 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1134/1.2042600
- S.I.Pokutnyi. Semiconductors, 40, 217 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063782606020199
- S.V.Nair, L.M.Ramaniah, K.C.Rustagi. *Phys. Rev. B*, **45**, 5969 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.45.5969
- G.Pellegrini, G.Mattei, P.Mazzoldi. J. Appl. Phys., 97, 073706 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1868875
- G.B.Grigoryan, E.M.Kazaryan, A.L.Efros, T.V.Yazeva. *Fiz. Tv. Tela*, **32**, 1772 (1990)
- J.-B.Xia. *Phys. Rev. B*, 40, 8500 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.40.8500
- S.W.Koch, Y.Z.Hu, B.Fluegel, N.Peyghambarian. J. Cryst. Growth, 117, 592 (1992);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0248(92)90820-9 71. Al.L.Efros. *Superlattices Microstruct.*, **11**, 167 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-6036(92)90244-Y
- N.V.Korolev, M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, T.S.Shatskikh. *Physica E*, 68, 159 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physe.2014.10.042
 73. A.Puzder, A.J.Williamson, F.Gygi, G.Galli. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 92, 217401 (2004);
 https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.217401

- S.Niaz, A.D.Zdetsis. J. Phys. Chem. C, 120, 11288 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b02955
- A.V.Gert, M.O.Nestoklon, A.A.Prokofiev, I.N.Yassievich. Semiconductors, 51, 1274 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063782617100098
- S.Sapra, D.D.Sarma. *Phys. Rev. B*, **69**, 125304 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.69.125304
- R.Viswanatha, S.Sapra, T.Saha-Dasgupta, D.D.Sarma. *Phys. Rev. B*, **72**, 045333 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.72.045333
- A.Nazzal, H.Fu. J. Comput. Theor. Nanosci., 6, 1277 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1166/jctn.2009.1176
- O.Voznyy. J. Phys. Chem. C, 115, 15927 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp205784g
- G.W.Bryant, W.Jaskolski. J. Phys. Chem. B, 109, 19650 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0535543
- S.Kilina, S.Ivanov, S.Tretiak. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 131, 7717 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9005749
- L.Protesescu, M.Nachtegaal, O.Voznyy, O.Borovinskaya, A.J.Rossini, L.Emsley, C.Copéret, D.Günther, E.H.Sargent, M.V.Kovalenko. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **137**, 1862 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja510862c
- C.Giansante, I.Infante. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 8, 5209 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.7b02193
- O.Voznyy, E.H.Sargent. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **112**, 157401 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.112.157401
- A.H.Ip, S.M.Thon, S.Hoogland, O.Voznyy, D.Zhitomirsky, R.Debnath, L.Levina, L.R.Rollny, G.H.Carey, A.Fischer, K.W.Kemp, I.J.Kramer, Z.Ning, A.J.Labelle, K.W.Chou, A.Amassian, E.H.Sargent. *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, 7, 577 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2012.127
- O.Voznyy, S.M.Thon, A.H.Ip, E.H.Sargent. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 4, 987 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/jz400125r
- M.A.Hines, P.Guyot-Sionnest. J. Phys. Chem., 100, 468 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9530562
- A.J.Morris-Cohen, M.D.Donakowski, K.E.Knowles, E.A.Weiss. J. Phys. Chem. C, 114, 897 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp909492w
- C.V.Mary Vijila, K.Rajeev Kumar, M.K.Jayaraj. Opt. Mater., 94, 241 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2019.05.046
- S.Ding, M.Hao, T.Lin, Y.Bai, L.Wang. J. Energy Chem., 69, 626 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jechem.2022.02.006
- J.Zhou, Y.Liu, J.Tang, W.Tang. Mater. Today, 20, 360 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2017.02.006
- 92. R.Singh. J. Lumin., **202**, 118 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.05.005
- M.Nirmal, D.J.Norris, M.Kuno, M.G.Bawendi, A.L.Efros, M.Rosen. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **75**, 3728 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.75.3728
- V.I.Klimov. J. Phys. Chem. B, 104, 6112 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9944132
- Z.Hu, Y.Kim, S.Krishnamurthy, I.D.Avdeev, M.O.Nestoklon, A.Singh, A.V.Malko, S.V.Goupalov, J.A.Hollingsworth, H.Htoon. *Nano Lett.*, **19**, 8519 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b02937
- G.D.Scholes, M.Jones, S.Kumar. J. Phys. Chem. C, 111, 13777 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0754583
- A.Jana, K.N.Lawrence, M.B.Teunis, M.Mandal, A.Kumbhar, R.Sardar. *Chem. Mater.*, 28, 1107 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.5b04521
- S.Maiti, T.Debnath, P.Maity, H.N.Ghosh. J. Phys. Chem. C, 119, 8410 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b02420
- M.G.Bawendi, P.J.Carroll, W.L.Wilson, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 96, 946 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.462114
- 100. A.I.Ekimov, I.A.Kudryavtsev, M.G.Ivanov, A.L.Efros. J. Lumin., 46, 83 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2313(90)90010-9
- 101. A. Hässelbarth, A. Eychmüller, H. Weller. Chem. Phys. Lett., 203, 271 (1993); https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-2614(93)85400-I

- A.V.Katsaba, S.A.Ambrozevich, A.G.Vitukhnovsky,
 V.V.Fedyanin, A.N.Lobanov, V.S.Krivobok, R.B.Vasiliev,
 I.G.Samatov. J. Appl. Phys., 113, 186306 (2013);
 https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4804255
- M.Majumder, S.Karan, B.Mallik. J. Lumin., 131, 2792 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2011.06.059
- O.V.Ovchinnikov, M.S.Smirnov, B.I.Shapiro, T.S.Shatskikh, A.S.Perepelitsa, N.V.Korolev. *Semiconductors*, 49, 373 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063782615030173
- O.V.Ovchinnikov, M.S.Smirnov, N.V.Korolev, P.A.Golovinski, A.G.Vitukhnovsky. J. Lumin., 179, 413 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2016.07.016
- A.S.Perepelitsa, M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, A.N.Latyshev, A.S.Kotko. J. Lumin., 198, 357 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.02.009
- M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov. J. Lumin., 227, 117526 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2020.117526
- O.E.Rayevska, G.Y.Grodzyuk, V.M.Dzhagan, O.L.Stroyuk, S.Y.Kuchmiy, V.F.Plyusnin, V.P.Grivin, M.Y.Valakh. J. Phys. Chem. C, 114, 22478 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp108561u
- P.Andreakou, M.Brossard, C.Li, M.Bernechea, G.Konstantatos, P.G.Lagoudakis. *J.Phys. Chem. C*, **117**, 1887 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp3054108
- O.V.Ovchinnikov, M.S.Smirnov, B.I.Shapiro, A.N.Latyshev, T.S.Shatskikh, E.E.Bordyuzha, S.A.Soldatenko. *Theor: Exp. Chem.*, 48, 48 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11237-012-9241-2
- 111. Z.A.Peng, X.Peng. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 123, 1389 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0027766
- 112. F.Wang, R.Tang, W.E.Buhro. *Nano Lett.*, **8**, 3521 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl801692g
- J.T.Kopping, T.E.Patten. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 130, 5689 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja077414d
- A.R.Kortan, R.Hull, R.L.Opila, M.G.Bawendi,
 M.L.Steigerwald, P.J.Carroll, L.E.Brus. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*,
 112, 1327 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00160a005
- D.Kim, M.Miyamoto, T.Mishima, M.Nakayama. J. Appl. Phys., 98, 083514 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2106008
- 116. S.B.Brichkin, M.G.Spirin, L.M.Nikolenko, D.Y.Nikolenko, V.Y.Gak, A.V.Ivanchikhina, V.F.Razumov. *High Energy Chem.*, 42, 516 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0018143908070035
- 117. A.V.Baranov, Y.P.Rakovich, J.F.Donegan, T.S.Perova, R.A.Moore, D.V.Talapin, A.L.Rogach, Y.Masumoto, I.Nabiev. *Phys. Rev. B*, 68, 165306 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.68.165306
- S.N.Azizi, M.J.Chaichi, P.Shakeri, A.Bekhradnia. J. Lumin., 144, 34 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2013.05.054
- 119. M.S.Hosseini, H.Jahanbani. *J. Lumin.*, **140**, 65 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2013.02.050
- O.Adegoke, T.Nyokong. J. Lumin., 134, 448 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2012.08.002
- 121. S.P.Pawar, A.H.Gore, L.S.Walekar, P.V.Anbhule, S.R.Patil, G.B.Kolekar. *Sensors Actuators B: Chem.*, **209**, 911 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2014.12.064
- Z.Chen, J.Chen, Q.Liang, D.Wu, Y.Zeng, B.Jiang. J. Lumin., 145, 569 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2013.07.071
- 123. A.G.Vitukhnovsky. *Physics-Uspekhi*, **54**, 1268 (2011); https://doi.org/10.3367/UFNe.0181.201112k.1341
- 124. A.G.Vitukhnovsky. *Physics-Uspekhi*, **56**, 623 (2013); https://doi.org/10.3367/UFNe.0183.201306h.0653
- B.N.Pal, Y.Ghosh, S.Brovelli, R.Laocharoensuk, V.I.Klimov, J.A.Hollingsworth, H.Htoon. *Nano Lett.*, **12**, 331 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl203620f
- I.Hocaoglu, M.N.Çizmeciyan, R.Erdem, C.Ozen, A.Kurt, A.Sennaroglu, H.Y.Acar. J. Mater. Chem., 22, 14674 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2jm31959d
- L.Sun, J.J.Choi, D.Stachnik, A.C.Bartnik, B.-R.Hyun, G.G.Malliaras, T.Hanrath, F.W.Wise. *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, 7, 369 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2012.63

- S.Coe, W.-K.K.Woo, M.Bawendi, V.Bulović. *Nature*, 420, 800 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01217
- M.Zorn, W.K.Bae, J.Kwak, H.Lee, C.Lee, R.Zentel, K.Char. ACS Nano, 3, 1063 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn800790s
- Y.Zhang, G.Hong, Y.Zhang, G.Chen, F.Li, H.Dai, Q.Wang. ACS Nano, 6, 3695 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn301218z
- 131. C.Li, F.Li, Y.Zhang, W.Zhang, X.-E.Zhang, Q.Wang. ACS Nano, 9, 12255 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b05503
- R.Tang, J.Xue, B.Xu, D.Shen, G.P.Sudlow, S.Achilefu. ACS Nano, 9, 220 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn5071183
- B.A.Kairdolf, A.M.Smith, T.H.Stokes, M.D.Wang, A.N.Young, S.Nie. *Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem.*, 6, 143 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anchem-060908-155136
- 134. V.A.Oleinikov, A.V.Sukhanova, I.R.Nabiev. *Ross. Nanotekhnol.*, **2**, 160 (2007)
- X.Michalet, F.F.Pinaud, L.A.Bentolila, J.M.Tsay, S.Doose, J.J.Li, G.Sundaresan, A.M.Wu, S.S.Gambhir, S.Weiss. *Science*, **307**, 538 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1104274
- M.Bruchez, M.Moronne, P.Gin, S.Weiss, A.P.Alivisatos. Science, 281, 2013 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.281.5385.2013
- 137. G.Hong, A.L.Antaris, H.Dai. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.*, 1, 0010 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-016-0010
- 138. E.Petryayeva, W.R.Algar, I.L.Medintz. *Appl. Spectrosc.*, **67**, 215 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1366/12-06948
- P.Jiang, C.-N.N.Zhu, Z.-L.L.Zhang, Z.-Q.Q.Tian, D.-W.W.Pang. *Biomaterials*, **33**, 5130 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.03.059
- T.Jamieson, R.Bakhshi, D.Petrova, R.Pocock, M.Imani, A.M.Seifalian. *Biomaterials*, 28, 4717 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.07.014
- 141. F.D.Duman, I.Hocaoglu, D.G.Ozturk, D.Gozuacik, A.Kiraz, H.Yagci Acar. *Nanoscale*, 7, 11352 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5NR00189G
- Z.He, H.Zhu, P.Zhou. J. Fluoresc., 22, 193 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10895-011-0946-8
- 143. Q.-F.Ma, J.-Y.Chen, X.Wu, P.-N.Wang, Y.Yue, N.Dai. J. Lumin., 131, 2267 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2011.05.055
- 144. H.Huang, J.Liu, B.Han, C.Mi, S.Xu. J. Lumin., **132**, 1003 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2011.11.010
- 145. L.Tan, A.Wan, H.Li. *Langmuir*, **29**, 15032 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/la403028j
- G.Hong, J.T.Robinson, Y.Zhang, S.Diao, A.L.Antaris, Q.Wang, H.Dai. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 51, 9818 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201206059
- 147. Y.Wang, X.-P.Yan. Chem. Commun., 49, 3324 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cc41141a
- 148. S.Xu, J.Cui, L.Wang. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.*, **80**, 149 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2015.07.017
- 149. Z.Jin, A.Wang, Q.Zhou, Y.Wang, J.Wang. Sci. Rep., 6, 37106 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37106
- W.J.Mir, A.Swarnkar, R.Sharma, A.Katti, K.V Adarsh, A.Nag. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 6, 3915 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.5b01692
- 151. P.V Kamat, N.M.Dimitrijević. Sol. Energy, 44, 83 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-092X(90)90070-S
- 152. B.O'Regan, M.Grätzel. *Nature*, **353**, 737 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1038/353737a0
- P.-J.Wu, J.-W.Yu, H.-J.Chao, J.-Y.Chang. *Chem. Mater.*, 26, 3485 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm500959a
- 154. Y.Xie, S.H.Yoo, C.Chen, S.O.Cho. Mater. Sci. Eng. B, 177, 106 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mseb.2011.09.021
- A.Tubtimtae, K.-L.Wu, H.-Y.Tung, M.-W.Lee, G.J.Wang. *Electrochem. Commun.*, **12**, 1158 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elecom.2010.06.006
- H.Shen, X.Jiao, D.Oron, J.Li, H.Lin. J. Power Sources, 240, 8 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2013.03.168

- 157. A.Pourahmad. *Superlattices Microstruct.*, **52**, 276 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi.2012.05.009
- W.Jiang, Z.Wu, X.Yue, S.Yuan, H.Lu, B.Liang. RSC Adv., 5, 24064 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA15774E
- K.Nagasuna, T.Akita, M.Fujishima, H.Tada. *Langmuir*, 27, 7294 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/la200587s
- 160. H.Abdullah, D.-H.Kuo. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 7, 26941 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b09647
- 161. L.Shao, Y.Gao, F.Yan. Sensors, 11, 11736 (2011); https://doi.org/10.3390/s111211736
- 162. G.Lv, W.Guo, W.Zhang, T.Zhang, S.Li, S.Chen, A.S.Eltahan, D.Wang, Y.Wang, J.Zhang, P.C.Wang, J.Chang, X.-J.Liang. ACS Nano, 10, 9637 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.6b05419
- 163. G.Charron, T.Stuchinskaya, D.R.Edwards, D.A.Russell, T.Nann. J. Phys. Chem. C, 116, 9334 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp301103f
- M.Zhou, S.Chang, C.P.Grover. Opt. Express, 12, 2925 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1364/OPEX.12.002925
- S.N.Molotkov, S.S.Nazin. J. Exp. Theor. Phys. Lett., 63, 687 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1134/1.567087
- S.Chang, M.Zhou, C.P.Grover. Opt. Express, 12, 143 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1364/OPEX.12.000143
- 167. K.C.Goss, G.G.Messier, M.E.Potter. Opt. Express, 20, 5762 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1364/OE.20.005762
- 168. T.Abitbol, D.G.Gray. *Cellulose*, **16**, 319 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-008-9263-z
- Y.V.Vandyshev, V.S.Dneprovskn, V.I.Klimov, D.K.Okorokov. JETP Lett., 54, 442 (1991)
- V.I.Klimov, A.A.Mikhailovsky, S.Xu, A.Malko, J.A.Hollingsworth, C.A.Leatherdale, H.-J.Eisler, M.G.Bawendi. *Science*, **290**, 314 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.290.5490.314
- V.İ.Klimov, S.A.Ivanov, J.Nanda, M.Achermann, I.Bezel, J.A.McGuire, A.Piryatinski. *Nature*, 447, 441 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05839
- 172. F.Fan, O.Voznyy, R.P.Sabatini, K.T.Bicanic, M.M.Adachi, J.R.McBride, K.R.Reid, Y.-S.Park, X.Li, A.Jain, R.Quintero-Bermudez, M.Saravanapavanantham, M.Liu, M.Korkusinski, P.Hawrylak, V.I.Klimov, S.J.Rosenthal, S.Hoogland, E.H.Sargent. *Nature*, **544**, 75 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21424
- Y.Chen, J.Herrnsdorf, B.Guilhabert, Y.Zhang, I.M.Watson, E.Gu, N.Laurand, M.D.Dawson. *Opt. Express*, **19**, 2996 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1364/OE.19.002996
- C.Gies, M.Florian, P.Gartner, F.Jahnke. *Opt. Express*, 19, 14370 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1364/OE.19.014370
- L.Zhang, C.Liao, B.Lv, X.Wang, M.Xiao, R.Xu, Y.Yuan, C.Lu, Y.Cui, J.Zhang. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 9, 13293 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b01669
- C.Foucher, B.Guilhabert, N.Laurand, M.D.Dawson. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **104**, 141108 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4871372
- J.Yang, Y.Liu, Y.Zhao, Z.Gong, M.Zhang, D.Yan, H.Zhu, C.Liu, C.Xu, H.Zhang. *Chem. Mater.*, **29**, 8119 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.7b01958
- S.Kalytchuk, M.Adam, O.Tomanec, R.Zbořil, N.Gaponik, A.L.Rogach. ACS Photonics, 4, 1459 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsphotonics.7b00222
- 179. L.Fan, Y.Li, X.Lin, J.Peng, G.Ju, S.Zhang, L.Chen, F.He, Y.Hu. *RSC Adv.*, 7, 44908 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA08490K
- 180. E.C.Ximendes, U.Rocha, T.O.Sales, N.Fernández, F. Sanz-Rodríguez, I.R.Martín, C.Jacinto, D.Jaque. Adv. Funct. Mater., 27, 1702249 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201702249
- A.Benayas, B.del Rosal, A.Pérez-Delgado, K.Santacruz-Gómez, D.Jaque, G.A.Hirata, F.Vetrone. *Adv. Opt. Mater.*, 3, 687 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1002/adom.201400484
- E.N.Cerón, D.H.Ortgies, B.del Rosal, F.Ren, A.Benayas, F.Vetrone, D.Ma, F.Sanz-Rodríguez, J.G.Solé, D.Jaque,

E.M.Rodríguez. *Adv. Mater.*, **27**, 4781 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201501014

- 183. B.del Rosal, E.Ximendes, U.Rocha, D.Jaque. *Adv. Opt. Mater.*, 5, 1600508 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/adom.201600508
- 184. D.Ruiz, B.del Rosal, M.Acebrón, C.Palencia, C.Sun, J.Cabanillas-González, M.López-Haro, A.B.Hungría, D.Jaque, B.H.Juarez. Adv. Funct. Mater., 27, 1604629 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201604629
- 185. F.Gao, J.Li, F.Wang, T.Yang, D.Zhao. J. Lumin., 159, 32 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2014.10.057
- 186. S.Xu, C.Wang, H.Zhang, Z.Wang, B.Yang, Y.Cui. Nanotechnology, 22, 315703 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1088/0957-4484/22/31/315703
- 187. M.Franke, S.Leubner, A.Dubavik, A.George, T.Savchenko, C.Pini, P.Frank, D.Melnikau, Y.Rakovich, N.Gaponik, A. Eychmüller, A.Richter. *Nanoscale Res. Lett.*, **12**, 314 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1186/s11671-017-2069-x
- R.K.Ratnesh, M.S.Mehata. *AIP Adv.*, 5, 97114 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4930586
- Y.-S.Liu, Y.Sun, P.T.Vernier, C.-H.Liang, S.Y.C.Chong, M.A.Gundersen. J.Phys. Chem. C, 111, 2872 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0654718
- R.Karimzadeh, H.Aleali, N.Mansour. Opt. Commun., 284, 2370 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optcom.2011.01.014
- H.Aleali, L.Sarkhosh, R.Karimzadeh, N.Mansour. *Phys. Status Solidi*, **248**, 680 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1002/pssb.201046107
- T.S.Kondratenko, A.I.Zvyagin, M.S.Smirnov, I.G.Grevtseva, A.S.Perepelitsa, O.V.Ovchinnikov. J. Lumin., 208, 193 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.12.042
- 193. T.S.Kondratenko, M.S.Smirnov, O.V Ovchinnikov, A.I.Zvyagin, T.A.Chevychelova, I.V Taydakov. Bull. Lebedev Phys. Inst., 46, 210 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3103/S106833561906006X
- 194. A.I.Zvyagin, T.A.Chevychelova, I.G.Grevtseva, M.S.Smirnov, A.S.Selyukov, O.V Ovchinnikov, R.A.Ganeev. J. Russ. Laser Res., 41, 670 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10946-020-09923-4
- 195. R.A.Ganeev, I.A.Shuklov, A.I.Zvyagin, D.V.Dyomkin, M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, A.A.Lizunova, A.M.Perepukhov, V.S.Popov, V.F.Razumov. *Opt. Express*, 29, 16710 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1364/OE.425549
- 196. M.S.Smirnov, O.V Ovchinnikov, A.I.Zvyagin, S.A.Tikhomirov, A.N.Ponyavina, V.A.Povedailo, N.T.Binh, P.H.Minh. Opt. Spectrosc., 130, 224 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0030400X22030146
- O.V Ovchinnikov, M.S.Smirnov, A.S.Perepelitsa, T.S.Shatskikh, B.I.Shapiro. *Quantum Electron.*, 45, 1143 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1070/QE2015v045n12ABEH015909
- 198. C.B.Murray, C.R.Kagan, M.G.Bawendi. Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci., 30, 545 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.matsci.30.1.545
- 199. N.Pradhan, D.Reifsnyder, R.Xie, J.Aldana, X.Peng. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 129, 9500 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0725089
- 200. A.Rakovich, D.Savateeva, T.Rakovich, J.F.Donegan, Y.P.Rakovich, V.Kelly, V.Lesnyak, A.Eychmüller. *Nanoscale Res. Lett.*, 5, 753 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11671-010-9553-x
- A.Boulesbaa, A.Issac, D.Stockwell, Z.Huang, J.Huang, J.Guo, T.Lian. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 129, 15132 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0773406
- 202. R.D.Harris, S.Bettis Homan, M.Kodaimati, C.He, A.B.Nepomnyashchii, N.K.Swenson, S.Lian, R.Calzada, E.A.Weiss. *Chem. Rev.*, **116**, 12865 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00102
- 203. X.Li, Z.Huang, R.Zavala, M.L.Tang. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 7, 1955 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.6b00761
- 204. B.J.Walker, G.P.Nair, L.F.Marshall, V.Bulović, M.G.Bawendi. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 131, 9624 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja902813q

- 205. J.E.Halpert, J.R.Tischler, G.Nair, B.J.Walker, W.Liu, V.Bulović, M.G.Bawendi. J. Phys. Chem. C, 113, 9986 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp8099169
- 206. A.S.Karakoti, R.Shukla, R.Shanker, S.Singh. Adv. Colloid Interface Sci., 215, 28 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2014.11.004
- 207. P.J.Pacheco-Liñán, I.Bravo, M.L.Nueda, J.Albaladejo, A.Garzón-Ruiz. ACS Sensors, 5, 2106 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acssensors.0c00719
- V. Morosini, T.Bastogne, C.Frochot, R.Schneider, A.François, F.Guillemin, M.Barberi-Heyob. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.*, 10, 842 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/c0pp00380h
- O.S.Viana, M.S.Ribeiro, A.C.D.Rodas, J.S.Rebouças, A.Fontes, B.S.Santos. *Molecules*, 20, 8893 (2015); https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules20058893
- K.S.Jaiswal, N.N.Kadamannil, R.Jelinek. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.*, 66, 101719 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cocis.2023.101719
- S.Filali, F.Pirot, P.Miossec. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 38, 163 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2019.07.013
- 212. F.Qiao, Y.Xie, Z.Weng, H.Chu. J. Energy Chem., **50**, 230 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jechem.2020.03.019
- K.Ramakrishnan, B.Ajitha, Y.Ashok Kumar Reddy. Sensors Actuators A: Phys., 349, 114051 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sna.2022.114051
- I.L.Medintz, H.T.Uyeda, E.R.Goldman, H.Mattoussi. *Nat. Mater.*, 4, 435 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat1390
- S.R.Whaley, D.S.English, E.L.Hu, P.F.Barbara, A.M.Belcher. *Nature*, 405, 665 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1038/35015043
- C.A.Mirkin, R.L.Letsinger, R.C.Mucic, J.J.Storhoff. *Nature*, 382, 607 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1038/382607a0
- 217. T.Pons, H.Mattoussi. Ann. Biomed. Eng., **37**, 1934 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-009-9715-0
- I.L.Medintz, A.R.Clapp, H.Mattoussi, E.R.Goldman, B.Fisher, J.M.Mauro. *Nat. Mater.*, 2, 630 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat961
- D.M.Willard, L.L.Carillo, J.Jung, A.Van Orden. *Nano Lett.*, 1, 469 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl015565n
- B.Mahler, P.Spinicelli, S.Buil, X.Quelin, J.-P.Hermier, B.Dubertret. *Nat. Mater.*, 7, 659 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2222
- 221. A.I.Ekimov, A.A.Onushchenko. *Pis'ma ZhETF*, **34**, 363 (1981)
 222. A.I.Ekimov. *Phys. Scr.*, **39**, 217 (1991);
- https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-8949/1991/T39/033 223. A.Henglein. J. Phys. Chem., 86, 2291 (1982);
- 225. A.Henglein, J. Phys. Chem., **60**, 2291 (1982), https://doi.org/10.1021/J100210A010
- 224. M.Grätzel, J.Moser. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, **80**, 3129 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.80.10.3129
- 225. A.Fojtik, H.Weller, U.Koch, A.Henglein. Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem., 88, 969 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1002/BBPC.19840881010
- A.W.H.Mau, C.B.Huang, N.Kakuta, A.J.Bard, A.Campion, M.A.Fox, J.M.White, S.E.Webber, A.W.H.Mau. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **106**, 6537 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA00334A014
- 227. Y.M.Tricot, A.Emeren, J.H.Fendler. J. Phys. Chem., 89, 4721 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1021/J100268A015
- M.L.Steigerwald, L.E.Brus. Acc. Chem. Res., 23, 183 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1021/AR00174A003
- R.Rossetti, R.Hull, J.M.Gibson, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 82, 552 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.448727
- 230. R.Rossetti, R.Hull, J.M.Gibson, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 83, 1406 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.449407
- N.Chestnoy, R.Hull, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 85, 2237 (1986); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.451119
- N.Chestnoy, T.D.Harris, R.Hull, L.E.Brus. J. Phys. Chem., 90, 3393 (1986); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100406a018
- 233. A.Henglein. *Chem. Rev.*, **89**, 1861 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1021/cr00098a010
- 234. J.J.Ramsden, M.Grätzel. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1, 80, 919 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1039/f19848000919

- T.Rajh, M.I.Vucemilovic, N.M.Dimitrijevic, O.I.Micic, A.J.Nozik. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **143**, 305 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-2614(88)87385-8
- R.Rossetti, J.L.Ellison, J.M.Gibson, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 80, 4464 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.447228
- A.M.Smith, S.Nie. Acc. Chem. Res., 43, 190 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ar9001069
- P.Reiss. In Semicondactor Nanocrystal Quantum Dots. (Ed. A.L.Rogach). (Vienna: Springer, 2008). P.35; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-211-75237-1_2
- A.L.Efros, L.E.Brus. ACS Nano, 15, 6192 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.1c01399
- I.I.Kitaigorodsky. Tekhnologiya Stekla. (Glass Technology). (Moscow, 1961)
- 241. V.V.Vargin. Proizvodstvo Tsvetnogo Stekla. (Production of Colored Glass). (Moscow, Leningrad: Gizlegprom, 1940)
- 242. W.A.Weyl. *Coloured Glasses*. (London: Dawson's of Pall Mall, 1959)
- N.M.Pavlushkin. *Khimicheskaya Tekhnologiya Stekla I* Sittalov. (Chemical Technology of Glass and Glass Ceramics). (Moscow: Stroiizdat, 1983)
- 244. I.Kotsik, I Nebrzhenskii, I.Fanderlik. *Okrashivanie Stekla.* (*Glass Painting*). (Moscow: Stroiizdat, 1983)
- 245. I.M.Lifshitz, V.V.Slyozov. J.Phys. Chem. Solids, 19, 35 (1961); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3697(61)90054-3
- 246. S.V.Gaponenko. Optical Properties of Semiconductor Nanocrystals. (Cambridge University Press, 1998); https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511524141
- 247. H.Yükselici, Ç.Allahverdi, A.Aşıkoğlu, H.Ünlü, A.Baysal, M.Çulha, R.İnce, A.İnce, M.Feeney, H.Athalin. In *Low Dimensional Semicondactor Structures*. (Eds H.Ünlü, N.Horing). (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2013). P.101; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-28424-3_6
- F.F.Abraham. Homogeneous Nucleation Theory. (Elsevier, 1974); https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-038361-0.X5001-7
- A.I.Ekimov, I.A.Kuryavtsev, M.G.Ivanov, Al.L.Efros. *Fiz. Tv. Tela*, **31** (8), 192 (1989)
- B.G.Potter, J.H.Simmons. *Phys. Rev. B*, **37**, 10838 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.37.10838
- M.Nogami, K.Nagasaka, K.Kotani. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 126, 87 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3093(90)91026-N
- J.A.Medeiros Neto, L.C.Barbosa, C.L.Cesar, O.L.Alves, F.Galembeck. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **59**, 2715 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.105894
- 253. N.F.Borrelli, D.W.Smith. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 180, 25 (1994); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3093(94)90393-X
- C.R.M.De Oliveira, A.M.De Paula, F.O.Plentz Filho, J.A.Medeiros Neto, L.C.Barbosa, O.L.Alves, E.A.Menezes, J.M.M.Rios, H.L.Fragnito, C.H.Brito Cruz, C.L.Cesar. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **439**, 439 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.114049
- A.M.De Paula, L.C.Barbosa, C.H.B.Cruz, O.L.Alves, J.A.Sanjurjo, C.L.Cesar. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **69**, 357 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.118059
- V.C.S.Reynoso, Yu. Liu, R.F.C.Rojas, N.Aranha, C.L.Cesar, L.C.Barbosa, O.L.Alves. J. Mater. Sci. Lett., 15, 1037 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00274899
- A.F.Craievich, O.L.Alves, L.C.Barbosa. J.Appl. Crystallogr., 30, 623 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1107/S0021889897001799
- N.F.Borrelli, D.W.Hall, H.J.Holland, D.W.Smith. J. Appl. Phys., 61, 5399 (1987); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.338280
- G.Kellermann, A.F.Craievich, L.C.Barbosa, O.L.Alves. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 293–295, 517 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3093(01)00769-4
- 260. I.P.Alekseeva, O.V.Atonen, V.V Golubkov, A.A.Onushchenko. *Glass Phys Chem*, **33**, 527 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1087659607060016
- I.P.Alekseeva, O.V.Atonen, V.V.Golubkov, A.A.Onushchenko, E.L.Raaben. *Glass Phys Chem*, **33**, 1 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1087659607010014

- 262. O.V.Atonen, V.V.Golubkov, A.A.Onushchenko. *Glass Phys Chem*, **36**, 389 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1087659610040012
- 263. T.Arai, T.Marino, S.Onari, T.Inokuma. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 32, 297 (1993); https://doi.org/10.7567/JJAPS.32S1.297
- 264. E.V.Kolobkova, A.A.Lipovskii, V.D.Petirikov. *Glas. Phys. Chem.*, **28**, 246 (2002);
 - https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1019966413445
- V.G.Savitski, N.N.Posnov, P.V.Prokoshin, A.M.Malyarevich, K.V.Yumashev, M.I.Demchuk, A.A.Lipovskii. *Appl. Phys. B*, 75, 841 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1007/s00340-002-0951-3
- J.Planelles-Aragó, B.Julián-López, E.Cordoncillo, P.Escribano, F.Pellé, B.Viana, C.Sanchez. *J.Mater. Chem.*, 18, 5193 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1039/B809254K
- B.Mashford, J.Baldauf, T.L.Nguyen, A.M.Funston, P.Mulvaney. J. Appl. Phys., 109, 094305 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3579442/958241
- M.Kaur, S.Gautam, N.Goyal. *Mater. Lett.*, **309**, 131356 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matlet.2021.131356
- 269. D.A.Carder, A.Markwitz, R.J.Reeves, J.Kennedy, F.Fang. *Nucl. Instr. Meth. B*, **307**, 154 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NIMB.2012.12.078
- 270. S.Fan, G.Wu, H.Zhang, Y.Yu, J.Qiu, G.Dong. J. Mater. Chem. C, 3, 6725 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5TC00338E
- S.Mokkapati, P.Lever, H.H.Tan, C.Jagadish, K.E.McBean, M.R.Phillips. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 86, 113102 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1875745/986345
- 272. A.Meldrum, L.A.Boatner, C.W.White. *Nucl. Instr. Meth. B*, **178**, 7 (2001);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-583X(00)00501-2 273. J.Xue, X.Wang, J.H.Jeong, X.Yan. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **383**, 123082
- (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.123082 274. S.Berneschi, G.C.Righini, S.Pelli. *Appl. Sci.*, **11**, 4610 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.3390/app11104610
 275. J.M.Auxier, M.M.Morrell, B.R.West, S.Honkanen,
 A.Schülzgen, N.Peyghambarian, S.Sen, N.F.Borrelli. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 85, 6098 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1839284
- 276. J.M.Auxier, S.Honkanen, A.Schülzgen, M.M.Morrell, M.A.Leigh, S.Sen, N.F.Borrelli, N.Peyghambarian. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 23, 1045 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSAB.23.001037
- 277. K.Xu, J.Heo. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 358, 921 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2012.01.007
- 278. B.So, C.Liu, J.Heo. J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 97, 2420 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSAB.23.001037
- G.Bell, A I Filin, D.A.Romanov, R J Levis. *Appl. Phys. Lett*, 108, 63112 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4939690
- H.D.Zeng, J.R.Qiu, X.W.Jiang, S.L.Qu, C.S.Zhu, F.X.Gan. *Chinese Phys. Lett.*, **20**, 932 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1088/0256-307X/20/6/344
- J.M.P.Almeida, L.De Boni, W.Avansi, C.Ribeiro, E.Longo, A.C.Hernandes, C.R.Mendonca. *Opt. Express*, **20**, 15106 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1364/oe.20.015106
- 282. K.Miura, K.Hirao, Y.Shimotsuma, M.Sakakura, S.Kanehira. *Appl. Phys. A*, **93**, 183 (2008);
- https://doi.org/10.1007/S00339-008-4660-6 283. C.M.Clegg, H.Yang. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, **108**, 252 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOLMAT.2012.09.011
- 284. O.V.Mazurin, M.V.Strel'tsina, T.P.Shvaiko-Shvaikovskaya. Svoistva Stekol i Stekloobrazuyushchikh Rasplavov. Spravochnok. (Properties of Glasses and Glass-forming Melts. Handbook). (St. Petersburg: Nauka, 1998)
- 285. W.Höland, V.Rheinberger, M.Schweiger, K.F.Kelton, B.R.Haywood. *Phil. Trans. R.Soc. A*, **361**, 575 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2002.1152
- T.M.Hayes, L.B.Lurio, P.D.Persans. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter, 13, 425 (2001);
- https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/13/3/305 287. T.M.Hayes, L.B.Lurio, J.Pant, P.D.Persans. *Solid State Commun.*, **117**, 627 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-1098(00)00511-1

- 288. T.M.Hayes, P.D.Persans, A.Filin, C.Peng, W.Huang. *Phys. Scr.*, **2005** (T115), 703 (2005);
- https://doi.org/10.1238/Physica.Topical.115a00703
 289. Y.V.Kuznetsova, A.A.Rempel, M.Meyer, V.Pipich, S.Gerth, A.Magerl. J. Cryst. Growth, 447, 13 (2016);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2016.04.058
- P.D.Persans, T.M.Hayes, L.B.Lurio. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 349, 315 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2004.08.210
- I.D.Popov, B.Sochor, B.Schummer, Y.V.Kuznetsova, S.V.Rempel, S.Gerth, A.A.Rempel. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 529, 119781 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2019.119781 292. P.Alekseeva, V.V.Golubkov, A.A.Onushchenko. *Glass Phys Chem*, **36**, 398 (2010);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S1087659610040024
- 293. B.B.Kale, J.-O.Baeg, S.K.Apte, R.S.Sonawane, S.D.Naik, K.R.Patil. J. Mater. Chem., 17, 4297 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1039/b708269j
- 294. X.Peng, M.C.Schlamp, A.V.Kadavanich, A.P.Alivisatos. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 119, 7019 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja970754m
- 295. M.G.Bawendi, A.R.Kortan, M.L.Steigerwald, L.E.Brus. J. Chem. Phys., 91, 7282 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.457295
- 296. A.Chemseddine, H.Weller. *Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem.*, 97, 636 (1993); https://doi.org/10.1002/BBPC.19930970417
- 297. J.van Embden, A.S.R.Chesman, J.J.Jasieniak. *Chem. Mater.*, 27, 2246 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm5028964
- D.J.Norris, A.L.Efros, S.C.Erwin. Science, 319, 1776 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1143802
- 299. D.Dorfs, A.Eychmüller. In Semicondactor Nanocrystal Quantum Dots. (Vienna: Springer, 2008). P.101; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-211-75237-1 4
- 300. J.Owen, L.Brus. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 139, 10939 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.7b05267
- 301. A.Heuer-Jungemann, N.Feliu, I.Bakaimi, M.Hamaly, A.Alkilany, I.Chakraborty, A.Masood, M.F.Casula, A.Kostopoulou, E.Oh, K.Susumu, M.H.Stewart, I.L.Medintz, E.Stratakis, W.J.Parak, A.G.Kanaras. *Chem. Rev.*, **119**, 4819 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00733
- I.Hadar, J.P.Philbin, Y.E.Panfil, S.Neyshtadt, I.Lieberman, H.Eshet, S.Lazar, E.Rabani, U.Banin. *Nano Lett.*, **17**, 2524 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b00254
- 303. S.Ithurria, B.Dubertret. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 130, 16504 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja807724e
- S.Ithurria, M.D.Tessier, B.Mahler, R.P.S.M.Lobo, B.Dubertret, A.L.Efros. *Nat. Mater.*, 10, 936 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat3145
- 305. N.N.Schlenskaya, Y.Yao, T.Mano, T.Kuroda, A.V.Garshev, V.F.Kozlovskii, A.M.Gaskov, R.B.Vasiliev, K.Sakoda. *Chem. Mater.*, **29**, 579 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.6b03876
- D.A.Kurtina, A.V.Garshev, I.S.Vasil'eva, V.V.Shubin,
 A.M.Gaskov, R.B.Vasiliev. *Chem. Mater.*, **31**, 9652 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.9b02927
- 307. B.M.Saidzhonov, V.F.Kozlovsky, V.B.Zaytsev, R.B.Vasiliev. J. Lumin., 209, 170 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2019.01.052
- A.M.Schimpf, K.E.Knowles, G.M.Carroll, D.R.Gamelin. Acc. Chem. Res., 48, 1929 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.5b00181 309. B.J.Beberwyck, Y.Surendranath, A.P.Alivisatos. J. Phys. Chem. C, **117**, 19759 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp405989z
- W.W.Yu, E.Chang, R.Drezek, V.L.Colvin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **348**, 781 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.07.160
- 311. W.W.Yu. Expert Opin. Biol. Ther., 8, 1571 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.8.10.1571

- 312. A.O.Choi, D.Maysinger. In Semicondactor Nanocrystal Quantum Dots. (Vienna: Springer, 2008). P. 349; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-211-75237-1_12
- 313. R.A.Sperling, W.J.Parak. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A*, **368**, 1333 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2009.0273
- U.Resch, H.Weller, A.Henglein. *Langmuir*, 5, 1015 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1021/la00088a023
- C.Wang, H.Zhang, J.Zhang, H.Sun, B.Yang. J. Phys. Chem. C, 111, 2465 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp066601f
- N.Gaponik, D.V.Talapin, A.L.Rogach, K.Hoppe, E.V.Shevchenko, A.Kornowski, A.Eychmüller, H.Weller. J. Phys. Chem. B, 106, 7177 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp025541k
- A.Shavel, N.Gaponik, A.Eychmüller. J. Phys. Chem. B, 108, 5905 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp037941t
- G.Y.Lan, Y.W.Lin, Y.F.Huang, H.T.Chang. J. Mater. Chem., 17, 2661 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1039/B702469J
- A.M.Kapitonov, A.P.Stupak, S.V.Gaponenko, E.P.Petrov, A.L.Rogach, A.Eychmüller. J. Phys. Chem. B, 103, 10109 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9921809
- M.Kovalenko, E.Kaufmann, D.Pachinger, J.Roither, M.Huber, J.Stangl, G.Hesser, F.Schäffler, W.Heiss. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 128, 3516 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja058440j
- 321. A.L.Rogach, T.Franzl, T.A.Klar, J.Feldmann, N.Gaponik, V.Lesnyak, A.Shavel, A.Eychmüller, Y.P.Rakovich, J.F.Donegan. J. Phys. Chem. C, 111, 14628 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/JP072463Y
- 322. H.Weller, U.Koch, M.Gutiérrez, A.Henglein. Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem., 88, 649 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1002/bbpc.19840880715
- A.J.Nozik, F.Williams, M.T.Nenadović, T.Rajh, O.I.Mićić. J. Phys. Chem., 89, 397 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100249a004
- H.Weller, A.Fojtik, A.Henglein. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **117**, 485 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-2614(85)80287-6
- 325. A.Samadi-maybodi, F.Abbasi, R.Akhoondi. Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Asp., 447, 111 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2014.01.036
- 326. W.J.Parak, D.Gerion, D.Zanchet, A.S.Woerz, T.Pellegrino, C.Micheel, S.C.Williams, M.Seitz, R.E.Bruehl, Z.Bryant, C.Bustamante, C.R.Bertozzi, A.P.Alivisatos. *Chem. Mater.*, 14, 2113 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/CM0107878
- A.I.Bulavchenko, A.N.Kolodin, T.Yu. Podlipskaya, M.G.Demidova, E.A.Maksimovskii, N.F.Beizel', S.V.Larionov, A.V.Okotrub. *Russ. J. Phys. Chem.*, **90**, 1034 (2016); https://doi.org/10.7868/s0044453716050113
- 328. N.S.Kozhevnikova, A.S.Vorokh, A.A.Rempel. *Russ. J. Gen. Chem.*, **80**, 391 (2010);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070363210030035
 329. T.S.Kondratenko, M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, E.V.Shabunya-Klyachkovskaya, A.S.Matsukovich, A.I.Zvyagin, Y.A.Vinokur. Semiconductors, 52, 1137 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063782618090087
- X.Zhao, I.Gorelikov, S.Musikhin, S.Cauchi, V.Sukhovatkin, E.H.Sargent, E.Kumacheva. *Langmuir*, 21, 1086 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/LA048730Y
- S.I.Sadovnikov, A.A.Rempel, A.I.Gusev. Nanostructured Lead, Cadmium, and Silver Sulfides. (Cham: Springer, 2018); https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56387-9
- 332. Y.V.Kuznetsova, I.A.Balyakin, I.D.Popov, B.Schummer, B.Sochor, S.V.Rempel, A.A.Rempel. *J. Mol. Liq.*, **335**, 116130 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLLIQ.2021.116130
- A.L.Rogach. Semiconductor Nanocrystal Quantum Dots. (Vienna: Springer, 2008); https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-211-75237-1
- T.Vossmeyer, L.Katsikas, M.Giersig, I.G.Popovic, K.Diesner, A.Chemseddine, A.Eychmueller, H.Weller. J. Phys. Chem., 98, 7665 (1994); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100082a044
- 335. T.Vossmeyer, G.Reck, L.Katsikas, E.T.K.Haupt, B.Schulz, H.Weller. *Science*, 267, 1476 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.267.5203.1476

- 336. T.Vossmeyer, G.Reck, B.Schulz, L.Katsikas, H.Weller. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 117, 12881 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00156a035
- L.Jing, S.V.Kershaw, Y.Li, X.Huang, Y.Li, A.L.Rogach, M.Gao. *Chem. Rev.*, **116**, 10623 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00041
- A.I.Ekimov, F.Hache, M.C.Schanne-Klein, D.Ricard, C.Flytzanis, I.A.Kudryavtsev, T.V.Yazeva, A.V.Rodina, Al.L.Efros. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 11, 524 (1994); https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSAB.11.000524
- 339. V.V.Klimov. *Nanoplazmonika. (Nanoplasmonics)* (Moscow: Fizmatlit, 2010)
- A.Tomasulo, M.V.Ramakrishna. J. Chem. Phys., 105, 3612 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.472232
- 341. Y.M.Mo, Y.Tang, F.Gao, J.Yang, Y.M.Zhang. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 51, 5995 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ie201826e
- 342. Y.Kobayashi, T.Nishimura, H.Yamaguchi, N.Tamai. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 2, 1051 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/jz200254n
- 343. S.F.Wuister, A.Meijerink. *J. Lumin.*, **102–103**, 338 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2313(02)00525-2
- L.F.F.F.Gonçalves, F.K.Kanodarwala, J.A.Stride, C.J.R.Silva, M.J.M.Gomes. *Opt. Mater.*, 36, 186 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2013.08.026
- A.Aboulaich, D.Billaud, M.Abyan, L.Balan, J.-J.Gaumet, G.Medjadhi, J.Ghanbaja, R.Schneider. ACS Appl. Mater: Interfaces, 4, 2561 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/am300232z
- L.F.F.F.Gonçalves, C.J.R.Silva, F.K.Kanodarwala, J.A.Stride, M.R.Pereira, M.J.M.Gomes. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, **314**, 877 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2014.06.181
- 347. Y.Wang, N.Herron. *Phys. Rev. B*, **42**, 7253 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.42.7253
- 348. W.W.Yu, L.Qu, W.Guo, X.Peng. *Chem. Mater.*, **15**, 2854 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm034081k
- M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, N.A.R.Hazal, A.I.Zvyagin. *Inorg. Mater.*, 54, 413 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S002016851805014X
- 350. H.-Y.Yang, Y.-W.Zhao, Z.-Y.Zhang, H.-M.Xiong, S.-N.Yu. Nanotechnology, 24, 055706 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1088/0957-4484/24/5/055706
- Y.Cao, W.Geng, R.Shi, L.Shang, G.I.N.Waterhouse, L.Liu, L.Z.Wu, C.H.Tung, Y.Yin, T.Zhang. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 55, 14952 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201608019
- 352. S.Lin, Y.Feng, X.Wen, P.Zhang, S.Woo, S.Shrestha, G.Conibeer, S.Huang. J. Phys. Chem. C, 119, 867 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp511054g
- 353. P.Jiang, Z.Q.Tian, C.N.Zhu, Z.L.Zhang, D.W.Pang. Chem. Mater., 24, 3 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm202543m
- 354. J.Song, C.Ma, W.Zhang, X.Li, W.Zhang, R.Wu, X.Cheng, A.Ali, M.Yang, L.Zhu, R.Xia, X.Xu. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 8, 24826 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.6b07768
- 355. D.Asik, M.B.Yagci, F.Demir Duman, H.Yagci Acar. J.Mater. Chem. B, 4, 1941 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5TB02599K
- I.Hocaoglu, F.Demir, O.Birer, A.Kiraz, C.Sevrin, C.Grandfils, H.Yagci Acar. *Nanoscale*, 6, 11921 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/c4nr02935f
- 357. J.Jasieniak, L.Smith, J.Van Embden, P.Mulvaney, M.Califano. J. Phys. Chem. C, 113, 19468 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp906827m
- 358. D.Norris, M.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. B*, **53**, 16338 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.53.16338
- L.W.Wang, A.Zunger. *Phys. Rev. B*, **53**, 9579 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.53.9579
- X.Peng, J.Wickham, A.P.Alivisatos. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 120, 5343 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9805425
- 361. I.Kang, F.W.Wise. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 14, 1632 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1364/josab.14.001632
- H.Weller. Adv. Mater., 5, 88 (1993); https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.19930050204

- 363. Y.Wang, A.Suna, W.Mahler, R.Kasowski. J. Chem. Phys., 87, 7315 (1987); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.453325
- 364. J.R.Caram, S.N.Bertram, H.Utzat, W.R.Hess, J.A.Carr, T.S.Bischof, A.P.Beyler, M.W.B.Wilson, M.G.Bawendi. *Nano Lett.*, **16**, 6070 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b02147
- L.Cademartiri, E.Montanari, G.Calestani, A.Migliori, A.Guagliardi, G.A.Ozin. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 128, 10337 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja063166u
- 366. M.C.Weidman, M.E.Beck, R.S.Hoffman, F.Prins, W.A.Tisdale. ACS Nano, 8, 6363 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn5018654
- 367. I.Moreels, K.Lambert, D.Smeets, D.De Muynck, T.Nollet, J.C.Martins, F.Vanhaecke, A.Vantomme, C.Delerue, G.Allan, Z.Hens. ACS Nano, 3, 3023 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn900863a
- M.G.Bawendi, W.L.Wilson, L.Rothberg, P.J.Carroll, T.M.Jedju, M.L.Steigerwald, L.E.Brus. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 65, 1623 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.65.1623
- U.Banin, G.Cerullo, A.Guzelian, C.Bardeen, A.Alivisatos, C.Shank. *Phys. Rev. B*, **55**, 7059 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.55.7059
- D.O.Demchenko, L.W.Wang. *Phys. Rev. B*, **73**, 1 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.73.155326
- J.Li, J.B.Xia. *Phys. Rev. B*, 62, 12613 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.62.12613
- A.L.Efros, M.Rosen. *Phys. Rev. B*, **58**, 7120 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.58.7120
- 373. B.Yang, J.E.Schneeloch, Z.Pan, M.Furis, M.Achermann. *Phys. Rev. B*, **81**, 73401 (2010);
- https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.81.073401
 374. C.D.M.Donegá, R.Koole. J. Phys. Chem. C, 113, 6511 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp811329r
- M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, T.S.Kondratenko,
 A.S.Perepelitsa, I.G.Grevtseva, S.V.Aslanov. *Opt. Spectrosc.*,
 125, 107 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0030400X18070214
- 376. S.Savchenko, A.Vokhmintsev, I.Weinstein. In Core/Shell Quantum Dots. Lecture Notes in Nanoscale Science and Technology. (Eds X.Tong, Z.M.Wang). (Cham: Springer, 2020). Vol. 28. P.165; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-46596-4 5
- 377. S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. Opt. Mater. Express, 7, 354 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1364/OME.7.000354
- S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. J.Phys. Conf. Ser., 741, 012151 (2016);
- https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/741/1/012151 379. A.I.Zvyagin, T.A.Chevychelova, K.S.Chirkov, M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov. *Russ. Acad. Sci. Phys.*, **86**, 1183 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3103/S1062873822100264
- S.I.Sadovnikov, A.I.Gusev, A.A.Rempel. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, **17**, 12466 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/c5cp00650c
- 381. S.I.Sadovnikov, A.I.Gusev. J. Mater. Chem. A, 5, 17676 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ta04949h
- S.I.Sadovnikov, A.I.Gusev, A.A.Rempel. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, **17**, 20495 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5CP02499D
- 383. S.I.Sadovnikov, A.I.Gusev, A.A.Rempel. *Rev. Adv. Mater. Sci.*, 41, 7 (2015)
- S.I.Sadovnikov, A.I.Gusev, A.V.Chukin, A.A.Rempel. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, **18**, 4617 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1039/c5cp07224g
- 385. S.I.Sadovnikov, A.I.Gusev. J. Therm. Anal. Calorim., 131, 1155 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-017-6691-8
- R.Zamiri, H.A.Ahangar, A.Zakaria, G.Zamiri, M.Shabani, B.Singh, J.M.F.Ferreira. *Chem. Cent. J.*, 9, 28 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1186/s13065-015-0099-y
- 387. C.Korte, J.Janek. J. Phys. Chem. Solids, 58, 623 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3697(96)00172-2
- W.P.Lim, Z.Zhang, H.Y.Low, W.S.Chin. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 43, 5685 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200460566
- Y.F.Liu, L.Wang, W.Z.Shi, Y.H.Zhang, S.M.Fang. RSC Adv., 4, 53142 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ra08360a

- 390. S.H.Liu, X.F.Qian, J.Yin, L.Hong, X.L.Wang, Z.K.Zhu. J. Solid State Chem., 168, 259 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1006/jssc.2002.9719
- 391. J.F.Zhu, Y.J.Zhu, M.G.Ma, L.X.Yang, L.Gao. J. Phys. Chem. C, 111, 3920 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0677851
- 392. Y.Zhang, Y.Liu, C.Li, X.Chen, Q.Wang. J. Phys. Chem. C, 118, 4918 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp501266d
- 393. Y.Du, B.Xu, T.Fu, M.Cai, F.Li, Y.Zhang, Q.Wang. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 132, 1470 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja909490r
- 394. T.G.Schaaff, A.J.Rodinone. J. Phys. Chem. B, 107, 10416 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp034979x
- 395. K.Akamatsu, S.Takei, M.Mizuhata, A.Kajinami, S.Deki, S.Takeoka, M.Fujii, S.Hayashi, K.Yamamoto. *Thin Solid Films*, **359**, 55 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-6090(99)00684-7
- A.Sahu, A.Khare, D.D.Deng, D.J.Norris. *Chem. Commun.*, 48, 5458 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2cc30539a
- 397. M.A.Langevin, D.Lachance-Quirion, A.M.Ritcey, C.N.Allen. J. Phys. Chem. C, 117, 5424 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp311206e
- P.Junod, H.Hediger, B.Kilchör, J.Wullschleger. *Philos. Mag.*, 36, 941 (1977); https://doi.org/10.1080/14786437708239769
- 399. J.R.L.Fernandez, M.de Souza-Parise, P.C.Morais. Surf. Sci., 601, 3805 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.susc.2007.04.149
- 400. F.F.Vol'kenshtein. Zh. Fiz. Khim., 21, 1317 (1947)
- 401. F.F.Vol'kenshtein. Elektronnye Protsessy na Poverkhnosti Poluprovodnikov pri Khemosorbtsii. (Electronic Processes on the Surface of Semiconductors During Chemisorption). (Moscow: Nauka, 1987)
- 402. V.L.Bonch-Bruevich. Zh. Fiz. Khim., 27, 662 (1953)
- 403. J.D.Levine, P.Mark. *Phys. Rev.*, **144**, 751 (1966); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.144.751
- M.I.Molotskii, A.N.Latyshev, K.V.Chibisov. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 190, 383 (1970)
- 405. N.Bloom, J.Van Reenen. NBER Work. Pap., 01, 89 (2013)
- 406. R.C.Baetzold. J. Phys. Chem. B, **101**, 8180 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp971625v
- 407. S.Pokrant, K.B.Whaley. *Eur. Phys. J. D*, **6**, 255 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1007/s100530050307
- B.Fritzinger, R.K.Capek, K.Lambert, J.C.Martins, Z.Hens. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 132, 10195 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja104351q
- 409. S.Y.Chung, S.Lee, C.Liu, D.Neuhauser. J. Phys. Chem. B, 113, 292 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp8062299
- 410. F.Grassi, M.Argeri, L.Marchese, M.Cossi. J. Phys. Chem. C, 117, 26396 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp4102465
- 411. I.Du Fossé, S.C.Boehme, I.Infante, A.J.Houtepen. *Chem. Mater.*, 33, 3349 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.1c00561
- 412. C.Zhou, J.Song, X.Zhang, L.Sun, L.Zhou, N.Huang, Y.Gan, M.Chen, W.Zhang. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol., 16, 3848 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2016.11789
- 413. A.Eychmüller, A.Hässelbarth, L.Katsikas, H.Weller. J. Lumin., 48–49, 745 (1991);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2313(91)90232-K
 414. L.Manna, D.J.Milliron, A.Meisel, E.C.Scher, A.P.Alivisatos. *Nat. Mater.*, 2, 382 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat902
- 415. T.K.Das, S.Karmakar, S.Maiti, S.Kundu, A.Saha. Spectrochim. Acta Part A: Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc., 227, 117536 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2019.117536
- 416. C.Ding, C.Zhang, X.Yin, X.Cao, M.Cai, Y.Xian. Anal. Chem., 90, 6702 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.8b00514
- 417. G.Rotko, J.Cichos, E.Wysokińska, M.Karbowiak, W.Kałas. Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 181, 119 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.04.068
- D.H.Ortgies, Á.L.García-Villalón, M.Granado, S.Amor, E.M.Rodríguez, H.D.A.Santos, J.Yao, J.Rubio-Retama, D.Jaque. *Nano Res.*, **12**, 749 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12274-019-2280-4

- 419. C.Li, Y.Zhang, M.Wang, Y.Zhang, G.Chen, L.Li, D.Wu, Q.Wang. *Biomaterials*, **35**, 393 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.10.010
- L.Tan, S.Liu, Q.Yang, Y.Shen. Langmuir, 31, 3958 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/la5049979
- 421. A.Bera, B.Busupalli, B.L.V.Prasad. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.*, **6**, 12006 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b02292
 422. D.Aydemir, M.Hashemkhani, E.G.Durmusoglu, H.Y.Acar, N.N.Ulusu. *Talanta*, **194**, 501 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2018.10.049
- 423. K.Deka, M.P.C.Kalita. Pramana J. Phys., 86, 1119 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12043-015-1132-3
- 424. S.Yin, F.Huang, J.Zhang, J.Zheng, Z.Lin. J. Phys. Chem. C, 115, 10357 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp112173u
- 425. S.Premkumar, D.Nataraj, G.Bharathi, S.Ramya, T.D.Thangadurai. *Sci. Rep.*, 9, 18704 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55097-8
- B.O.Dabbousi, J.Rodriguez-Viejo, F.V.Mikulec, J.R.Heine, H.Mattoussi, R.Ober, K.F.Jensen, M.G.Bawendi. J. Phys. Chem. B, 101, 9463 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp971091y
- 427. H.S.Chen, B.Lo, J.Y.Hwang, G.Y.Chang, C.M.Chen, S.J.Tasi, S.J.J.Wang. J. Phys. Chem. B, 108, 17119 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp047035w
- 428. A.Mandal, J.Nakayama, N.Tamai, V.Biju, M.Isikawa. J. Phys. Chem. B, 111, 12765 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp074603
- 429. Y.Xia, S.Liu, K.Wang, X.Yang, L.Lian, Z.Zhang, J.He, G.Liang, S.Wang, M.Tan, H.Song, D.Zhang, J.Gao, J.Tang, M.C.Beard, J.Zhang. *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, **30**, 1907379 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201907379
- 430. L.Hu, S.Huang, R.Patterson, J.E.Halpert. J. Mater. Chem. C, 7, 4497 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1039/c8tc06495d
- 431. M.Nirmal, C.B.Murray, M.G.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. B*, **50**, 2293 (1994); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.50.2293
- 432. O.Labeau, P.Tamarat, B.Lounis. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **90**, 4 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.257404
- 433. H.Htoon, P.J.Cox, V.I.Klimov. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **93**, 187402 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.187402
- 434. D.Norris, A.L.Efros, M.Rosen. Phys. Rev. B, 53, 16347 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.53.16347
- M.Kuno, J.K.Lee, B.O.Dabbousi, F.V.Mikulec, M.G.Bawendi. J. Chem. Phys., 106, 9869 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.473875
- 436. Y.R.Wang, C.B.Duke. *Phys. Rev. B*, **37**, 6417 (1988); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.37.6417
- 437. P.Horodyská, P.Němec, D.Sprinzl, P.Malý, V.N.Gladilin, J.T.Devreese. *Phys. Rev. B*, **81**, 45301 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.81.045301
- 438. D.Kim, T.Mishima, K.Tomihira, M.Nakayama. J. Phys. Chem. C, **112**, 10668 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp8009172
- A.Kanti Kole, C.Sekhar Tiwary, P.Kumbhakar. J. Lumin., 155, 359 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2014.07.004
- 440. R.M.Krsmanović Whiffen, D.J.Jovanović, Z.Antić, B.Bártová, D.Milivojević, M.D.Dramićanin, M.G.Brik. J. Lumin., 146, 133 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2013.09.032
- 441. H.Labiadh, B.Sellami, A.Khazri, W.Saidani, S.Khemais. *Opt. Mater.*, 64, 179 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2016.12.011
- 442. M.W.Porambo, A.L.Marsh. *Opt. Mater.*, **31**, 1631 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2009.03.013
- 443. M.Stefan, S.V.Nistor, D.Ghica, C.D.Mateescu, M.Nikl, R.Kucerkova. *Phys. Rev. B.*, **83**, 45301 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.83.045301
- 444. S.V.Nistor, M.Stefan, L.C.Nistor, E.Goovaerts, G.Van Tendeloo. *Phys. Rev. B*, 81, 35336 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.81.035336
- 445. V.Proshchenko, Y.Dahnovsky. *Chem. Phys.*, **461**, 58 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphys.2015.09.001
- 446. N.Pradhan. ChemPhysChem, **17**, 1087 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/cphc.201500953

- 447. H.Y.Chen, T.Y.Chen, D.H.Son. J. Phys. Chem. C, **114**, 4418 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp100352m
- 448. D.Jiang, L.Cao, G.Su, H.Qu, D.Sun. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, **253**, 9330 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2007.05.067
- 449. A.A.Bol, A.Meijerink. J. Phys. Chem. B, 105, 10203 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp010757s
- 450. M.Hossu, R.O.Schaeffer, L.Ma, W.Chen, Y.Zhu, R.Sammynaiken, A.G.Joly. *Opt. Mater.*, **35**, 1513 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2013.03.014
- 451. S.Zhou, X.Chu, J.Li, F.Fang, X.Fang, Z.Wei, F.Chen, X.Wang. J. Appl. Phys., 116, 14306 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4887080
- 452. W.Xu, X.Meng, W.Ji, P.Jing, J.Zheng, X.Liu, J.Zhao, H.Li. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **532**, 72 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2012.02.001
- 453. H.Yang, P.H.Holloway, G.Cunningham, K.S.Schanze. J. Chem. Phys., **121**, 10233 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1808418
- V.G.Klyuev, D.V.Volykhin, M.S.Smirnov, N.S.Dubovitskaya. J. Lumin., 192, 893 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2017.08.023
- 455. M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, I.V.Taidakov,
 S.A.Ambrozevich, A.G.Vitukhnovsky, A.I.Zvyagin,
 G.K.Uskov. *Opt. Spectrosc.* 125, 249 (2018);
 https://doi.org/10.1134/S0030400X18080210
- D.A.Metlina, M.T.Metlin, S.A.Ambrozevich, I.V.Taydakov, K.A.Lyssenko, A.G.Vitukhnovsky, A.S.Selyukov, V.S.Krivobok, D.F.Aminev, A.S.Tobokhova. J. Lumin., 203, 546 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.07.005
- 457. N.Bao, Y.Liu, Z.W.Li, H.Yu, H.T.Bai, L.Xia, D.W.Feng, H.B.Zhang, X.T.Dong, T.Y.Wang, J.Han, R.Y.Wu, Q.Zhang. *J. Lumin.*, **177**, 409 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2016.05.025
- X.Ye, W.Zhuang, Y.Hu, T.He, X.Huang, C.Liao, S.Zhong, Z.Xu, H.Nie, G.Deng. J. Appl. Phys., 105, 64302 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3086624
- M.Stefan, C.Leostean, O.Pana, D.Toloman, A.Popa, I.Perhaita, M.Senilă, O.Marincas, L.Barbu-Tudoran. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, **390**, 248 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2016.08.084
- 460. J.Y.Park, D.W.Jeong, K.M.Lim, Y.H.Choa, W.B.Kim, B.S.Kim. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, **415**, 8 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2017.02.026
- J.Li, Z.Zhang, J.Lang, J.Wang, Q.Zhang, J.Wang, Q.Han, J.Yang. J. Lumin., 204, 573 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.08.059
- 462. L.Yang, H.Zheng, Q.Liu, S.Zhou, W.Zhang. J. Lumin., 204, 189 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.08.038
- 463. R.Zhao, P.Wang, T.Yang, Z.Li, B.Xiao, M.Zhang. J. Phys. Chem. C, 119, 28679 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b10444 464. P.Saha Chowdhury, A.Patra. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, **8**,
- 404. F.Sana Chowdhily, A.Fata. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., 6, 1329 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1039/b517788j
- M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov. J. Lumin., 213, 459 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2019.05.046
- 466. S.Tiwari, S.Tiwari. Cryst. Res. Technol., **41**, 78 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/crat.200410534
- 467. Y.Wang, A.Suna, J.McHugh, E.F.Hilinski, P.A.Lucas, R.D.Johnson. J. Chem. Phys., 92, 6927 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.458280
- 468. M.O'Neil, J.Marohn, G.McLendon. J. Phys. Chem., 94, 4356 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100373a089
- D.I.Chepic, A.L.Efros, A.I.Ekimov, M.G.Ivanov,
 V.A.Kharchenko, I.A.Kudriavtsev, T.V.Yazeva. J. Lumin., 47, 113 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2313(90)90007-X
- 470. S.Santhi, E.Bernstein, F.Paille. J. Lumin., 117, 101 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2005.04.011
- 471. D.G.Kim, T.Mishima, M.Nakayama. *Physica E*, **21**, 363 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physe.2003.11.037
- I.V.Taydakov, A.A.Akkuzina, R.I.Avetisov, A.V.Khomyakov, R.R.Saifutyarov, I.C.Avetissov. J. Lumin., 177, 31 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2016.04.017

- 473. J.Ke, X.Li, Q.Zhao, Y.Hou, J.Chen. *Sci. Rep.*, **4**, 5624 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1038/srep05624
- 474. A.Issac, C.Von Borczyskowski, F.Cichos. *Phys. Rev. B*, **71**, 161302 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.71.161302
- M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Buganov, E.V.Shabunya-Klyachkovskaya, S.A.Tikhomirov, O.V.Ovchinnikov, A.G.Vitukhnovsky, A.S.Perepelitsa, A.S.Matsukovich, A.V.Katsaba. *Physica E*, 84, 511 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physe.2016.07.004
- 476. M.S.Smirnov, D.I.Stasel'ko, O.V.Ovchinnikov, A.N.Latyshev, O.V.Buganov, S.A.Tikhomirov, A.S.Perepelitsa. *Opt. Spectrosc.*, **115**, 651 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0030400X13110246
- 477. M.R.Hummon, A.J.Stollenwerk, V.Narayanamurti, P.O.Anikeeva, M.J.Panzer, V.Wood, V.Bulović. *Phys. Rev. B*, 81, 115439 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.81.115439
- 478. M.Abdellah, K.J.Karki, N.Lenngren, K.Zheng, T.Pascher, A.Yartsev, T.Pullerits. *J.Phys. Chem. C*, **118**, 21682 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp506536h
- 479. S.Karan, M.Majumder, B.Mallik. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.*, 11, 1220 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2pp25023c
- X.Huang, E.Lindgren, J.R.Chelikowsky. *Phys. Rev. B*, 71, 165328 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.71.165328
- 481. M.Jones, S.S.Lo, G.D.Scholes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 106, 3011 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0809316106
- 482. P.S.Salter, M.J.Booth. *Light Sci. Appl.*, 8, 110 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41377-019-0215-1
 482. K.Dahak, *Appl. Phys. B*, 129, 18 (2022);
- 483. K.Dobek. Appl. Phys. B, 128, 18 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/s00340-021-07718-2
- A.I.Zvyagin, T.A.Chevychelova, K.S.Chirkov, M.S.Smirnov, O.V.Ovchinnikov. *Optik*, **272**, 170276 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2022.170276
- 485. Y.Wang, N.Herron. J. Phys. Chem., 95, 525 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1021/j100155a009
- 486. D.E.Prasuhn, A.Feltz, J.B.Blanco-Canosa, K.Susumu, M.H.Stewart, B.C.Mei, A.V.Yakovlev, C.Loukov, J.M.Mallet, M.Oheim, P.E.Dawson, I.L.Medintz. ACS Nano, 4, 5487 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn1016132
- 487. V.T.K.Lien, C.V.Ha, L.T.Ha, N.N.Dat. J. Phys.: Conf. Ser., 187, 012028 (2009);
 1000011742 (2000)1742 (2000110000)
- https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/187/1/012028
 488. C.W.Raubach, Y.V.B.De Santana, M.M.Ferrer, V.M.Longo, J.A.Varela, W.Avansi, P.G.C.Buzolin, J.R.Sambrano, E.Longo. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **536**, 96 (2012);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2012.03.090
- T. Uchihara, H.Kato, E.Miyagi. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem., 181, 86 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotochem.2005.11.005
- 490. J.Mooney, M.M.Krause, J.I.Saari, P.Kambhampati. *Phys. Rev. B*, 87, 81201 (2013);
- https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.87.081201
 491. M.M.Krause, P.Kambhampati. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 17, 18882 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/c5cp02173a
- 492. Y.Zhang, J.Xia, C.Li, G.Zhou, W.Yang, D.Wang, H.Zheng, Y.Du, X.Li, Q.Li. J. Mater. Sci., 52, 9424 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-017-1131-5
- O.V.Ovchinnikov, I.G.Grevtseva, M.S.Smirnov, T.S.Kondratenko, A.S.Perepelitsa, S.V.Aslanov, V.U.Khokhlov, E.P.Tatyanina, A.S.Matsukovich. *Opt. Quantum Electron.*, **52**, 198 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-020-02314-8
- 494. Y.P.Gu, R.Cui, Z.L.Zhang, Z.X.Xie, D.W.Pang. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 134, 79 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja2089553
- 495. C.Ji, Y.Zhang, T.Zhang, W.Liu, X.Zhang, H.Shen, Y.Wang, W.Gao, Y.Wang, J.Zhao, W.W.Yu. *J. Phys. Chem. C*, **119**, 13841 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b01030
- 496. B.Dong, C.Li, G.Chen, Y.Zhang, Y.Zhang, M.Deng, Q.Wang. *Chem. Mater.*, **25**, 2503 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm400812v
- 497. B.Ramezanloo, M.Molaei, M.Karimipour. J. Lumin., **204**, 419 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.08.049

- 498. D.Q.Vo, D.D.Dung, S.Cho, S.Kim. Korean J. Chem. Eng., 33, 305 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-015-0141-8
- 499. L.J.Shi, C.N.Zhu, H.He, D.L.Zhu, Z.L.Zhang, D.W.Pang, Z.Q.Tian. RSC Adv., 6, 38183 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ra04987g
- 500. M.Yarema, S.Pichler, M.Sytnyk, R.Seyrkammer, R.T.Lechner, G.Fritz-Popovski, D.Jarzab, K.Szendrei, R.Resel, O.Korovyanko, M.A.Loi, O.Paris, G.Hesser, W.Heiss. ACS Nano, 5, 3758 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn2001118
- S.Chand, A.Dahshan, N.Thakur, V.Sharma, P.Sharma. Infrared Phys. Technol., 105, 103162 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infrared.2019.103162
- I.Grevtseva, O.Ovchinnikov, M.Smirnov, S.Aslanov, V.Derepko, A.Perepelitsa, T.Kondratenko. J. Lumin., 257, 119669 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2023.119669
- 503. Q.Yin, W.Zhang, Y.Zhou, R.Wang, Z.Zhao, C.Liu. J. Lumin., 250, 119065 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2022.119065
- M.J.Fernée, E.Thomsen, P.Jensen, H.Rubinsztein-Dunlop. Nanotechnology, 17, 956 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1088/0957-4484/17/4/020
- 505. N.Torres-Gomez, D.F.Garcia-Gutierrez, A.R.Lara-Canche, L.Triana-Cruz, J.A.Arizpe-Zapata, D.I.Garcia-Gutierrez. J. Alloys Compd., 860, 158443 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2020.158443
- 506. D.Kim, T.Kuwabara, M.Nakayama. J. Lumin., **119–120**, 214 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2005.12.033
- 507. R.H.Gilmore, Y.Liu, W.Shcherbakov-Wu, N.S.Dahod, E.M.Y.Lee, M.C.Weidman, H.Li, J.Jean, V.Bulović, A.P.Willard, J.C.Grossman, W.A.Tisdale. *Matter*, 1, 250 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matt.2019.05.015
- S.Nakashima, A.Hoshino, J.Cai, K.Mukai. J. Cryst. Growth, 378, 542 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2012.11.024
- 509. P.A.Loiko, G.E.Rachkovskaya, G.B.Zacharevich, K.V.Yumashev. J. Lumin., 143, 418 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2013.05.057
- E.Kolobkova, Z.Lipatova, A.Abdrshin, N.Nikonorov. *Opt. Mater.*, **65**, 124 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2016.09.033
- I.Grevtseva, T.Chevychelova, O.Ovchinnikov, M.Smirnov, T.Kondratenko, V.Khokhlov, A.Zvyagin, M.Astashkina, K.Chirkov. *Opt. Quantum Electron.*, 55, 433 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-023-04658-3
- P.Nandakumar, C.Vijayan, Y.V.G.S.Murti. J. Appl. Phys., 91, 1509 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1425077
- 513. N.Herron, Y.Wang, H.Eckert. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **112**, 1322 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00160a004
- 514. P.Reiss, M.Protière, L.Li. *Small*, **5**, 154 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200800841
- V.S.Dneprovskii, V.I.Klimov, D.K.Okorokov, Y.V.Vandyshev. *Solid State Commun.*, 81, 227 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(92)90504-3
- S.L.Sewall, R.R.Cooney, K.E.H.Anderson, E.A.Dias, D.M.Sagar, P.Kambhampati. J. Chem. Phys., **129**, 84701 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2971181
- 517. P.Kambhampati. Acc. Chem. Res., 44, 1 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ar1000428
- V.Klimov, A.Mikhailovsky, D.McBranch, C.Leatherdale, M.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. B*, 61, R13349 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.61.R13349
- 519. P.Kambhampati. *Chem. Phys.*, **446**, 92 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphys.2014.11.008
- 520. S.Xu, A.A.Mikhailovsky, J.A.Hollingsworth, V.I.Klimov. *Phys. Rev. B*, **65**, 045319 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.65.045319
- 521. R.R.Cooney, S.L.Sewall, E.A.Dias, D.M.Sagar, K.E.H.Anderson, P.Kambhampati. *Phys. Rev. B*, **75**, 245311 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.75.245311
- 522. E.Hendry, M.Koeberg, F.Wang, H.Zhang, C.De Mello Donegá, D.Vanmaekelbergh, M.Bonn. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96, 57408 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.057408

- 523. P.Tyagi, P.Kambhampati. J. Chem. Phys., **134**, 94706 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3561063
- 524. J.I.Saari, E.A.Dias, D.Reifsnyder, M.M.Krause, B.R.Walsh, C.B.Murray, P.Kambhampati. J. Phys. Chem. B, 117, 4412 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp307668g
- 525. V.I.Klimov, D.W.McBranch. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **80**, 4028 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.80.4028
- T.Inoshita, H.Sakaki. *Phys. Rev. B*, 46, 7260 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.46.7260
- 527. S.A.Crooker, T.Barrick, J.A.Hollingsworth, V.I.Klimov. Appl. Phys. Lett., 82, 2793 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1570923
- F.Wu, J.Z.Zhang, R.Kho, R.K.Mehra. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, 330, 237 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2614(00)01114-3
- 529. V.Klimov, P.H.Bolivar, H.Kurz. *Phys. Rev. B*, **53**, 1463 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.53.1463
- S.Logunov, T.Green, S.Marguet, M.A.El-Sayed. J. Phys. Chem. A, 102, 5652 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp980387g
- 531. S.Hunsche, T.Dekorsy, V.Klimov, H.Kurz. *Appl. Phys. B*, **62**, 3 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01081240
- V.I.Klimov, C.J.Schwarz, D.W.Mc Branch, C.A.Leatherdale, M.G.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. B*, **60**, R2177 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.60.R2177
- P.Kambhampati. J. Phys. Chem. C, 115, 22089 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp2058673
- M.C.Brelle, J.Z.Zhang, L.Nguyen, R.K.Mehra. J. Phys. Chem. A, 103, 10194 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp991999j
- J.J.H.Pijpers, R.Ulbricht, K.J.Tielrooij, A.Osherov, Y.Golan, C.Delerue, G.Allan, M.Bonn. *Nat. Phys.*, 5, 811 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1038/nphys1393
- 536. G.Nootz, L.A.Padilha, L.Levina, V.Sukhovatkin, S.Webster, L.Brzozowski, E.H.Sargent, D.J.Hagan, E.W.Van Stryland. *Phys. Rev. B*, 83, 155302 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.83.155302
- 537. O.E.Semonin, J.M.Luther, S.Choi, H.Y.Chen, J.Gao, A.J.Nozik, M.C.Beard. *Science*, 334, 1530 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1209845
- S.Lin, Y.Feng, X.Wen, T.Harada, T.W.Kee, S.Huang, S.Shrestha, G.Conibeer. J. Phys. Chem. C, 120, 10199 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b02607
- 539. J.E.Martin, L.E.Shea-Rohwer. J. Lumin., **121**, 573 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2005.12.043
- F.T.Rabouw, M.Kamp, R.J.A.Van Dijk-Moes, D.R.Gamelin, A.F.Koenderink, A.Meijerink, D.Vanmaekelbergh. *Nano Lett.*, 15, 7718 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b03818
- 541. S.L.Sewall, R.R.Cooney, P.Kambhampati. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 94, 243116 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3157269
- R.R.Cooney, S.L.Sewall, K.E.H.Anderson, E.A.Dias, P.Kambhampati. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **98**, 177403 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.177403
- 543. S.L.Sewall, R.R.Cooney, K.E.H.Anderson, E.A.Dias, P.Kambhampati. *Phys. Rev. B*, **74**, 235328 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.74.235328
- 544. O.V.Prezhdo. Acc. Chem. Res., 42, 2005 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ar900157s
- U.Bockelmann, G.Bastard. *Phys. Rev. B*, **42**, 8947 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.42.8947
- H.Benisty, C.M.Sotomayor-Torrès, C.Weisbuch. *Phys. Rev. B*, 44, 10945 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.44.10945
- 547. U.Bockelmann, T.Egeler. *Phys. Rev. B*, **46**, 15574 (1992), https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.46.15574
- A.L.Efros, V.A.Kharchenko, M.Rosen. Solid State Commun., 93, 281 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(94)00760-8
- 549. P.Guyot-Sionnest, M.Shim, C.Matranga, M.Hines. *Phys. Rev. B*, **60**, R2181 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.60.R2181
- M.Califano, A.Franceschetti, A.Zunger. *Nano Lett.*, **5**, 2360 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl051027p
- P.Dahan, V.Fleurov, P.Thurian, R.Heitz, A.Hoffmann, I.Broser. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter, 10, 2007 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/10/9/007

- C.Burda, S.Link, T.C.Green, M.A.El-Sayed. J. Phys. Chem. B, 103, 10775 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp991503y
- 553. L.Jin, G.Sirigu, X.Tong, A.Camellini, A.Parisini, G.Nicotra, C.Spinella, H.Zhao, S.Sun, V.Morandi, M.Zavelani-Rossi, F.Rosei, A.Vomiero. *Nano Energy*, **30**, 531 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nanoen.2016.10.029
- L.Cheng, Y.Cheng, J.Xu, H.Lin, Y.Wang. *Mater. Res. Bull.*, 140, 111298 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.materresbull.2021.111298
- 555. L.Cademartiri, J.Bertolotti, R.Sapienza, D.S.Wiersma, G.Von Freymann, G.A.Ozin. J. Phys. Chem. B, 110, 671 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0563585
- 556. W.Zhang, J.Liu, C.Liu. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, **609**, 122285 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2023.122285
- 557. F.Yue, J.W.Tomm, D.Kruschke. *Phys. Rev. B*, **89**, 081303 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.89.081303
- D.Li, C.Liang, Y.Liu, S.Qian. J. Lumin., 122–123, 549 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2006.01.214
- 559. K.Edme, S.Bettis Homan, A.B.Nepomnyashchii, E.A.Weiss. *Chem. Phys.*, **471**, 46 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphys.2015.09.012
- 560. B.L.Wehrenberg, C.Wang, P.Guyot-Sionnest. J. Phys. Chem. B, 106, 10634 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp021187e
- H.Du, C.Chen, R.Krishnan, T.D.Krauss, J.M.Harbold, F.W.Wise, M.G.Thomas, J.Silcox. *Nano Lett.*, 2, 1321 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl025785g
- I.D.Avdeev, M.O.Nestoklon, S.V.Goupalov. *Nano Lett.*, 20, 8897 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.0c03937
- 563. J.Sun, W.Yu, A.Usman, T.T.Isimjan, S.Dgobbo, E.Alarousu, K.Takanabe, O.F.Mohammed. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 5, 659 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/jz5000512
- 564. E.N.Bodunov. Opt. Spectrosc. 131, 96 (2023); https://dx.doi.org/10.21883/EOS.2023.01.55524.91-22
- 565. T.Förster. Zeitschrift fur Naturforsch. A, 4, 321 (1949); https://doi.org/10.1515/zna-1949-0501
- 566. R.Koole, B.Luigjes, M.Tachiya, R.Pool, T.J.H.Vlugt, C.De Mello Donegá, A.Meijerink, D.Vanmaekelbergh. J. Phys. Chem. C, 111, 11208 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp072407x
- 567. M.Tachiya. J.Chem. Phys., **76**, 340 (1982); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.442728
- 568. S.Sadhu, M.Tachiya, A.Patra. J. Phys. Chem. C, **113**, 19488 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp906160z
- E.N.Bodunov, Y.A.Antonov, A.L.Simões Gamboa. J. Chem. Phys., 146, 114102 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4978396
- 570. E.N.Bodunov, A.L.Simões Gamboa. J. Phys. Chem. C, **123**, 25515 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b07619
- 571. J.Bardeen, W.Shockley. *Phys. Rev.*, **80**, 72 (1950); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.80.72
- 572. A.Olkhovets, R.-C.Hsu, A.Lipovskii, F.W.Wise. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **81**, 3539 (1998);
- https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.3539 573. Y.P.Varshni. *Physica*, **34**, 149 (1967);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-8914(67)90062-6 574. I.A.Vainshtein, A.F.Zatsepin, V.S.Kortov. *Phys. Solid State*,
- **41**, 905 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1134/1.1130901 575. H.Y.Fan. *Phys. Rev.*, **82**, 900 (1951);
- https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.82.900
 576. S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. *Tech. Phys. Lett.*, 43, 297 (2017);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063785017030221
- 577. F.Yue, J.W.Tomm, D.Kruschke, B.Ullrich, J.Chu. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **107**, (2015); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4926806
- 578. T.Skettrup. *Phys. Rev. B*, **18**, 2622 (1978); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.18.2622
- 579. A.Manoogian, J.C.Woolley. *Can. J. Phys.*, **62**, 285 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1139/p84-043
- L.Vina, S.Logothetidis, M.Cardona. *Phys. Rev. B*, **30**, 1979 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.30.1979

- A.Zilli, M.De Luca, D.Tedeschi, H.A.Fonseka, A.Miriametro, H.H.Tan, C.Jagadish, M.Capizzi, A.Polimeni. ACS Nano, 9, 4277 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b00699
- R.Pässler, E.Griebl, H.Riepl, G.Lautner, S.Bauer, H.Preis, W.Gebhardt, B.Buda, D.J.As, D.Schikora, K.Lischka, K.Papagelis, S.Ves. J. Appl. Phys., 86, 4403 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.371378
- 583. K.P.O'Donnell, X.Chen. Appl. Phys. Lett., 58, 2924 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.104723
- A.Narayanaswamy, L.F.Feiner, P.J.van der Zaag. J. Phys. Chem. C, 112, 6775 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp800339m
- A.Narayanaswamy, L.F.Feiner, A.Meijerink, P.J.van der Zaag. ACS Nano, 3, 2539 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn9004507
- A.Joshi, K.Y.Narsingi, M.O.Manasreh, E.A.Davis, B.D.Weaver. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **89**, 131907 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2357856
- 587. J.F.Suyver, S.F.Wuister, J.J.Kelly, A.Meijerink. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 2, 5445 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1039/b006950g
- A.Joshi, M.O.Manasreh, E.A.Davis, B.D.Weaver. Appl. Phys. Lett., 89, 1 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2354031
- D.Valerini, A.Cretí, M.Lomascolo, L.Manna, R.Cingolani, M.Anni. *Phys. Rev. B*, **71**, 235409 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.71.235409
- P.T.K.Chin, C.D.M.Donegá, S.S.Van Bavel, S.C.J.Meskers, N.A.J.M.Sommerdijk, R.A.J.Janssen. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 129, 14880 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0738071
- 591. P.Jing, J.Zheng, M.Ikezawa, X.Liu, S.Lv, X.Kong, J.Zhao, Y.Masumoto. J. Phys. Chem. C, 113, 13545 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp902080p
- 592. S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. J. Phys.: Conf. Ser., 961, 012003 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/961/1/012003
- 593. L.Chen, H.Bao, T.Tan, O.V.Prezhdo, X.Ruan. J. Phys. Chem. C, 115, 11400 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp201408m
- S.Rudin, T.L.Reinecke, B.Segall. *Phys. Rev. B*, 42, 11218 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.42.11218
- 595. M.R.Salvador, M.W.Graham, G.D.Scholes. J. Chem. Phys., 125, 184709 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2363190
- I.A.Weinstein, A.F.Zatsepin. *Phys. Status Solidi*, 1, 2916 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/pssc.200405416
- 597. I.A.Weinstein, A.F.Zatsepin, V.S.Kortov. J. Non. Cryst. Solids, 279, 77 (2001);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3093(00)00396-3
 598. M.S.Gaponenko, A.A.Lutich, N.A.Tolstik, A.A.Onushchenko, A.M.Malyarevich, E.P.Petrov, K.V.Yumashev. *Phys. Rev. B*, 82, 1 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.82.125320
- F.Gindele, K.Hild, W.Langbein, U.Woggon. J. Lumin., 87, 381 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2313(99)00409-3
- S.S.Savchenko, I.A.Weinstein. Nanomaterials, 9, 716 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9050716
- M.Leroux, N.Grandjean, B.Beaumont, G.Nataf, F.Semond, J.Massies, P.Gibart. J. Appl. Phys., 86, 3721 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.371242
- P.Dorenbos. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter, 17, 8103 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/17/50/027
- 603. M.A.Reshchikov. *Phys. Status Solidi*, **218**, 2000101 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/pssa.202000101
- 604. S.V.Nikiforov, V.S.Kortov, D.L.Savushkin, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. *Radiat. Meas.*, **106**, 155 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radmeas.2017.03.020
- 605. I.A.Weinstein, V.S.Kortov, A.S.Vohmintsev. *J.Lumin.*, **122–123**, 342 (2007);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2006.01.172 606. A.M.A.Henaish, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. *AIP Conf.*
- Proc., 1717, 040030 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4943473
 607. A.O.Shilov, S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, A.V.Chukin, M.S.Karabanalov, M.I.Vlasov, I.A.Weinstein. J. Sib. Fed.

Univ. Math. Phys., 14, 224 (2021);

https://doi.org/10.17516/1997-1397-2021-14-2-224-229 608. J.Zhang, J.Tolentino, E.R.Smith, J.Zhang, M.C.Beard,

- A.J.Nozik, M.Law, J.C.Johnson. J. Phys. Chem. C, 118, 16228 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp504240u
- 609. A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. J. Lumin., 230, 117623 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2020.117623
- S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. J. Phys.: Conf. Ser., 1537, 012015 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1537/1/012015
- S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. *AIP Conf. Proc.*, **2015**, 020085 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5055158
- 612. S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. In Advanced Photonics 2018. (Washington, DC: OSA, 2018). P. NoW1J.4; https://doi.org/10.1364/NOMA.2018.NoW1J.4
- 613. S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. J. Lumin., 242, 118550 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2021.118550 614. C.M.Gee, M.Kastner. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **42**, 1765 (1979); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.42.1765
- R.W.Collins, W.Paul. *Phys. Rev. B*, 25, 5257 (1982); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.25.5257
- L.Vaccaro, M.Cannas, R.Boscaino. J. Lumin., 128, 1132 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2007.11.076
- 617. A.F.Zatsepin, E.A.Buntov, A.L.Ageev, J. Lumin., **130**, 1721 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2010.03.039
- A.F.Zatsepin, A.I.Kukharenko, E.A.Buntov, V.A.Pustovarov, S.O.Cholakh. *Glass Phys Chem*, **36**, 166 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1087659610020033
- A.F.Zatsepin, I.S.Zhidkov, A.I.Kukharenko, D.A.Zatsepin, M.P.Andronov, S.O.Cholakh. *Opt. Mater.*, 34, 807 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2011.11.012
- 620. I.A.Weinstein, S.S.Savchenko. *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, **72**, 534 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11172-023-3817-8
- 621. T.T.Pham, T.K.Chi Tran, Q.L.Nguyen. Adv. Nat. Sci. Nanosci. Nanotechnol., 2, 025001 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1088/2043-6262/2/2/025001
- 622. R.Shirazi, O.Kopylov, A.Kovacs, B.E.Kardynał. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **101**, 091910 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4749276
- A.Franceschetti, H.Fu, L.W.Wang, A.Zunger. *Phys. Rev. B*, 60, 1819 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.60.1819
- 624. O.I.Mićić, H.M.Cheong, H.Fu, A.Zunger, J.R.Sprague, A.Mascarenhas, A.J.Nozik. J. Phys. Chem. B, 101, 4904 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9704731
- L.Biadala, B.Siebers, Y.Beyazit, M.D.Tessier, D.Dupont, Z.Hens, D.R.Yakovlev, M.Bayer. ACS Nano, 10, 3356 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b07065
- Y.Zhao, T.Song, K.Matras-Postolek, P.Yang. J. Lumin., 211, 394 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2019.04.006
- Y.Zhao, C.Riemersma, F.Pietra, R.Koole, C.de Mello Donegá, A.Meijerink. ACS Nano, 6, 9058 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn303217q
- B.Li, W.Liu, L.Yan, X.Zhu, Y.Yang, Q.Yang. J. Appl. Phys., 124, (2018); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5031056
- R.Singh, S.Akhil, V.G.V.Dutt, N.Mishra. *Nanoscale Adv.*, 3, 6984 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/d1na00663k
- H.Li, W.Zhang, Y.Bian, T.K.Ahn, H.Shen, B.Ji. *Nano Lett.*, 22, 4067 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c00763
- M.Orrit, W.E.Moerner. In *Physics and Chemistry at Low Temperatures*. (Ed L.Khriachtchev). (Jenny Stanford Publishing, 2019). P. 381; https://doi.org/10.1201/9780429066276-12
- A.V.Naumov, A.A.Gorshelev, Y.G.Vainer, L.Kador, J.Köhler. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 48, 9747 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200905101
- 633. E.Betzig. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 54, 8034 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201501003
- M.Grundmann, J.Christen, N.N.Ledentsov, J.Böhrer,
 D.Bimberg, S.S.Ruvimov, P.Werner, U.Richter, U.Gösele,
 J.Heydenreich, V.M.Ustinov, A.Y.Egorov, A.E.Zhukov,

P.S.Kop'ev, Z.I.Alferov. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **74**, 4043 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.4043

- M.Nirmal, B.O.Dabbousi, M.G.Bawendi, J.J.Macklin, J.K.Trautman, T.D.Harris, L.E.Brus. *Nature*, 383, 802 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1038/383802a0
- 636. B.Lounis, H.A.Bechtel, D.Gerion, P.Alivisatos, W.E.Moerner. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **329**, 399 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2614(00)01042-3
- 637. A.P.Beyler, L.F.Marshall, J.Cui, X.Brokmann, M.G.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **111**, 177401 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.177401
- 638. E.A.Podshivaylov, M.A.Kniazeva, A.A.Gorshelev, I.Y.Eremchev, A.V.Naumov, P.A.Frantsuzov. J. Chem. Phys., 151, 174710 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5124913
- 639. S.O.M.Hinterding, S.J.W.Vonk, E.J.van Harten, F.T.Rabouw. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.*, **11**, 4755 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.0c01250 640. J.-M.Yang, H.Yang, L.Lin. *ACS Nano*, **5**, 5067 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn201142f
- A.Pillonnet, P.Fleury, A.I.Chizhik, A.M.Chizhik, D.Amans, G.Ledoux, F.Kulzer, A.J.Meixner, C.Dujardin. *Opt. Express*, 20, 3200 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1364/OE.20.003200
- M.Rakhlin, S.Sorokin, D.Kazanov, I.Sedova, T.Shubina, S. Ivanov, V.Mikhailovskii, A.Toropov. *Nanomaterials*, **11**, 916 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/nano11040916
- 643. A.L.Efros, M.Rosen. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **78**, 1110 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.78.1110
- 644. M.Kuno, D.P.Fromm, H.F.Hamann, A.Gallagher, D.J.Nesbitt. J. Chem. Phys., 115, 1028 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1377883
- 645. K.T.Shimizu, R.G.Neuhauser, C.A.Leatherdale, S.A.Empedocles, W.K.Woo, M.G.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. B*, 63, 205316 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.63.205316
- 646. J.Tang, R.A.Marcus. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **95**, 107401 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.107401
- 647. I.S.Osad'ko, I.Y.Eremchev, A.V Naumov. J. Phys. Chem. C, **119**, 22646 (2015);
- https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b04885
 648. D.E.Gómez, J.van Embden, P.Mulvaney, M.J.Fernée, H.Rubinsztein-Dunlop. ACS Nano, 3, 2281 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/nn900296q
- 649. K.Zhang, H.Chang, A.Fu, A.P.Alivisatos, H.Yang. *Nano Lett.*, 6, 843 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl060483q
- P.A.Frantsuzov, S.Volkán-Kacsó, B.Jankó. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103, 207402 (2009);
- https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.207402 651. E.A.Podshivaylov, M.A.Kniazeva, A.O.Tarasevich,
- I.Y.Eremchev, A.V Naumov, P.A.Frantsuzov. *J. Mater. Chem. C*, **11**, 8570 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1039/D3TC00638G
- X.Han, G.Zhang, B.Li, C.Yang, W.Guo, X.Bai, P.Huang, R.Chen, C.Qin, J.Hu, Y.Ma, H.Zhong, L.Xiao, S.Jia. *Small*, 16, 2005435 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.202005435
- 653. P.J.Whitham, K.E.Knowles, P.J.Reid, D.R.Gamelin. *Nano* Lett., **15**, 4045 (2015);
- https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b01046
 654. M.A.Becker, C.Bernasconi, M.I.Bodnarchuk, G.Rainò,
 M.V.Kovalenko, D.J.Norris, R.F.Mahrt, T.Stöferle. ACS Nano,
 14, 14939 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.0c04401
- 655. G.Yuan, D.E.Gómez, N.Kirkwood, K.Boldt, P.Mulvaney. ACS Nano, 12, 3397 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.7b09052
- Y.-S.Park, J.Lim, N.S.Makarov, V.I.Klimov. *Nano Lett.*, **17**, 5607 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b02438
- 657. P.J.Whitham, A.Marchioro, K.E.Knowles, T.B.Kilburn, P.J.Reid, D.R.Gamelin. J. Phys. Chem. C, **120**, 17136 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b06425
- A.Marchioro, P.J.Whitham, H.D.Nelson, M.C.De Siena, K.E.Knowles, V.Z.Polinger, P.J.Reid, D.R.Gamelin. J. Phys. Chem. Lett., 8, 3997 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.7b01426

- T.Basché, W.E.Moerner, M.Orrit, H.Talon. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*,
 69, 1516 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.69.1516
- 660. R.Brouri, A.Beveratos, J.-P.Poizat, P.Grangier. *Opt. Lett.*, **25**, 1294 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1364/OL.25.001294
- 661. P.Michler, A.Imamoglu, M.D.Mason, P.J.Carson, G.F.Strouse, S.K.Buratto. *Nature*, **406**, 968 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1038/35023100
- 662. Y.-S.Park, S.Guo, N.S.Makarov, V.I.Klimov. ACS Nano, 9, 10386 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b04584
- 663. J.M.Lupton, J.Vogelsang. Appl. Phys. Rev., 8, 41302 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0059764
- 664. G.Nair, J.Zhao, M.G.Bawendi. Nano Lett., 11, 1136 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl104054t
- 665. Y.-S.Park, A.V Malko, J.Vela, Y.Chen, Y.Ghosh, F.García-Santamaría, J.A.Hollingsworth, V.I.Klimov, H.Htoon. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **106**, 187401 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.187401
- 666. I.Y.Eremchev, A.O.Tarasevich, M.A.Kniazeva, J.Li, A.V.Naumov, I.G.Scheblykin. *Nano Lett.*, 23, 2087 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04004
- 667. V.A.Baitova, M.A.Knyazeva, I.A.Mukanov, A.O.Tarasevich, A.V Naumov, A.G.Son, S.A.Kozyukhin, I.Y.Eremchev. *JETP Lett.*, **118**, 560 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1134/S002136402360283X
- 668. G.E.Cragg, A.L.Efros. *Nano Lett.*, **10**, 313 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl903592h
- 669. I.Y.Eremchev, Y.G.Vainer, A.V.Naumov, L.Kador. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, **13**, 1843 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/C0CP01690J
- S.A.Empedocles, D.J.Norris, M.G.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 77, 3873 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.77.3873
- 671. S.A.Empedocles, M.G.Bawendi. *Science*, **278**, 2114 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1126/science.278.5346.2114
- 672. R.G.Neuhauser, K.T.Shimizu, W.K.Woo, S.A.Empedocles, M.G.Bawendi. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **85**, 3301 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.85.3301
- 673. J.Müller, J.M.Lupton, A.L.Rogach, J.Feldmann, D.V.Talapin, H.Weller. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **93**, 167402 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.167402
- D.E.Gómez, J.van Embden, P.Mulvaney. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 88, (2006); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2193967
- 675. K.R.Karimullin, A.I.Arzhanov, I.Yu.Eremchev,
 B.A.Kulnitskiy, N.V.Surovtsev, A.V.Naumov. *Laser Phys.*,
 29, 124009 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1088/1555-6611/ab4bdb
- 676. V.M.Dzhagan, Y.M.Azhniuk, A.G.Milekhin, D.R.T.Zahn. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys., 51, 503001 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6463/aada5c
- I.Yu. Eremchev, M.Yu. Eremchev, A.V.Naumov. *Phys. Usp.*, 62, 294 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3367/UFNe.2018.06.038461 (2019)
- K.I.Mortensen, L.S.Churchman, J.A.Spudich, H.Flyvbjerg. *Nat. Methods*, 7, 377 (2010);
- https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1447
 679. I.Yu.Eremchev, D.V.Prokopova, N.N.Losevskii, I.T.Mynzhasarov, S.P.Kotova, A.V.Naumov. *Phys. Usp.*, 65, 617 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.3367/UFNr.2021.05.038982 680. K.A.Lidke, B.Rieger, T.M.Jovin, R.Heintzmann. *Opt. Express*,
- 13, 7052 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1364/OPEX.13.007052X
 681. Yu.Eremchev, N.A.Lozing, A.A.Baev, A.O.Tarasevich, M.G.Gladush, A.A.Rozhentsov, A.V.Naumov. *Jetp Lett.*, 108, 30 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0021364018130076
- B.N.G.Giepmans, T.J.Deerinck, B.L.Smarr, Y.Z.Jones, M.H.Ellisman. *Nat. Methods*, 2, 743 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth791
- 683. J.Yao, M.Yang, Y.Duan. *Chem. Rev.*, **114**, 6130 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/cr200359p
- 684. K.Khalid, X.Tan, H.F.Mohd Zaid, Y.Tao, C.Lye Chew, D.-T.Chu, M.K.Lam, Y.-C.Ho, J.W.Lim, L.Chin Wei. *Bioengineered*, **11**, 328 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1080/21655979.2020.1736240

- G.De Crozals, R.Bonnet, C.Farre, C.Chaix. *Nano Today*, 11, 435 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2016.07.002
- R.Ladj, A.Bitar, M.Eissa, Y.Mugnier, R.Le Dantec, H.Fessi, A.Elaissari. J. Mater. Chem. B, 1, 1381 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2tb00301e
- K.Zarschler, L.Rocks, N.Licciardello, L.Boselli, E.Polo, K.P.Garcia, L.De Cola, H.Stephan, K.A.Dawson. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnol., Biol. Med.*, **12**, 1663 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2016.02.019
- 688. V.M.Agranovich, M.D.Galanin. Perenos Energii Electronnogo Vozbuzhdeniya v Kondensirovannykh Sredakh. (Electronic Excitation Energy Transfer in Condensed Matter). (Moscow: Nauka, 1977). 383 p.
- V.M.Agranovich, D.M.Basko. Jetp Lett., 69, 250 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1134/1.568013
- 690. H.Haug. Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem.,, 88, 687 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1002/bbpc.19840880729
- 691. V.M.Agranovich, G.C.La Rocca, F.Bassani. Jept Lett., 66, 748 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1134/1.567592
- S.V Rempel, Y.V Kuznetsova, A.A.Rempel. *Mendeleev Commun.*, 28, 96 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mencom.2018.01.033
 693. S.V.Rempel, Yu.V.Kuznetsova, E.Yu. Gerasimov, A.A.Rempel'. *Phys. Solid State*, **59**, 1629 (2017);
- A.A.Rempet . *Phys. Solid State*, **99**, 1629 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063783417080224
- 694. Y.Zheng, S.Gao, J.Y.Ying. *Adv. Mater.*, **19**, 376 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200600342
- 695. S.V Rempel, N.N.Aleksandrova, Y.V Kuznetsova, E.Y.Gerasimov. *Inorg. Mater.*, **52**, 101 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0020168516020126
- 696. M.Liu, X.Zheng, V.Grebe, D.J.Pine, M.Weck. *Nat. Mater.*, **19**, 1354 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41563-020-0744-2
- 697. Z.Wang, Z.Wang, J.Li, C.Tian, Y.Wang. Nat. Commun., 11, 2670 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16506-z
- O.Kovtun, X.Arzeta-Ferrer, S.J.Rosenthal. *Nanoscale*, 5, 12072 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/c3nr02019c
- J.Frangioni. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 7, 626 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2003.08.007
- D.E.J.G.J.Dolmans, D.Fukumura, R.K.Jain. Nat. Rev. Cancer, 3, 380 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1071
- 701. R.Weissleder. Nat. Biotechnol., 19, 316 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1038/86684
- A.Vogel, V.Venugopalan. Chem. Rev., 103, 577 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/cr010379n
- 703. M.H.Niemz. *Laser-tissue Interactions*. (Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 2002)
- 704. R.W.Waynant, I.K.Ilev, I.Gannot. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A*, 359, 635 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2000.0747
- 705. B.Purushothaman, J.M.Song. *Biomater. Sci.*, **9**, 51 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/d0bm01576h
- 706. V.M.Tolmachev, V.I.Chernov, S.M.Deyev. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 91 (3), RCR5034 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR5034
- 707. J.Zhang, G.Hao, C.Yao, J.Yu, J.Wang, W.Yang, C.Hu, B.Zhang. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 8, 16612 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.6b04738
- 708. J.Zhao, Q.Zhang, W.Liu, G.Shan, X.Wang. Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 211, 112295 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2021.112295
- 709. S.Nikazar, V.S.Sivasankarapillai, A.Rahdar, S.Gasmi,
 P.S.Anumol, M.S.Shanavas. *Biophys. Rev.*, 12, 703 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12551-020-00653-0
- J.Liu, M.Yu, C.Zhou, J.Zheng. *Mater. Today*, 16, 477 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mattod.2013.11.003
- 711. A.P.Sarapultsev, S.V.Rempel, Ju.V.Kuznetsova, G.P.Sarapultsev. J. Ural Med. Acad. Sci., 97 (2016); https://doi.org/10.22138/2500-0918-2016-15-3-97-111
- 712. E.Oh, R.Liu, A.Nel, K.B.Gemill, M.Bilal, Y.Cohen, I.L.Medintz. *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, **11**, 479 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2015.338

- 713. A.S.Kritchenkov, M.N.Kurasova, A.A.Godzishevskaya, E.S.Mitrofanova, A.R.Egorov, N.Z.Yagafarov, M.J.Ballesteros Meza, A.G.Tskhovrebov, A.A.Artemjev, E.V Andrusenko, V.N.Khrustalev. *Mendeleev Commun.*, **31**, 504 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mencom.2021.07.022
- S.V.Rempel, N.S.Kozhevnikova, N.N.Aleksandrova, A.A.Rempel. *Inorg. Mater.*, 47, 223 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0020168511030186
- 715. A.E.Nel, L.Mädler, D.Velegol, T.Xia, E.M.V Hoek, P.Somasundaran, F.Klaessig, V.Castranova, M.Thompson. *Nat. Mater.*, 8, 543 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2442
- 716. E.S.Vorontsova, Y.V Kuznetsova, M.V Ulitko, S.V Rempel. Mendeleev Commun., 33, 218 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mencom.2023.02.022
- M.Sousa de Almeida, E.Susnik, B.Drasler, P.Taladriz-Blanco, A.Petri-Fink, B.Rothen-Rutishauser. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 50, 5397 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0CS01127D
- M.Yu, J.Zheng. ACS Nano, 9, 6655 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b01320
- 719. J.Liu, R.Hu, J.Liu, B.Zhang, Y.Wang, X.Liu, W.-C.Law, L.Liu, L.Ye, K.-T.Yong. *Mater. Sci. Eng.: C*, 57, 222 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2015.07.044
- 720. N.Panté, M.Kann. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, **13**, 425 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.01-06-0308
- 721. S.V.Rempel, A.A.Podkorytova, A.A.Rempel. *Phys. Solid State*, **56**, 568 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1063783414030251
- 722. S.V.Rempel', N.S.Kozhevnikova, N.N.Aleksandrova, A.A.Rempel'. *Dokl. Chem.*, 440, 241 (2011); https://doi. org/10.1134/S001250081107010X
- 723. S.V.Rempel, N.N.Aleksandrova, A.A.Rempel. Dalnevost. Zh. Infekts. Patologii, 20, 106 (2012)
- 724. P.Kumar, R.Patel, N.Shrivastava, M.Patel, S.Rondeau-Gagné, G.S.Selopal. *Appl. Mater. Today*, **35**, 101931 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmt.2023.101931
- 725. M.Chern, J.C.Kays, S.Bhuckory, A.M.Dennis. *Methods Appl. Fluoresc.*, 7, 012005 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1088/2050-6120/aaf6f8
- 726. Z.Jia, C.Shi, X.Yang, J.Zhang, X.Sun, Y.Guo, X.Ying. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf., 22, 4644 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.13236
- 727. L.Đačanin Far, M.D.Dramićanin. *Nanomaterials*, **13**, 2904 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/nano13212904
- 728. C.D.S.Brites, R.Marin, M.Suta, A.N.Carneiro Neto, E.Ximendes, D.Jaque, L.D.Carlos. *Adv. Mater.*, **35**, 1 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.202302749
- I.V.Barbosa, L.J.Q.Maia, A.Ibanez, G.Dantelle. *Opt. Mater.: X*, 18, (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omx.2023.100236
- 730. D.Jaque, F.Vetrone. *Nanoscale*, **4**, 4301 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2nr30764b
- C.D.S.Brites, P.P.Lima, N.J.O.Silva, A.Millán, V.S.Amaral, F.Palacio, L.D.Carlos. *Nanoscale*, 4, 4799 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2nr30663h
- S.S.Savchenko, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein. AIP Conf. Proc., 1717, 040028 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4943471
- 733. S.Wang, S.Westcott, W.Chen. *J. Phys. Chem. B*, **106**, 11203 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/jp026445m
- 734. R.Liang, R.Tian, W.Shi, Z.Liu, D.Yan, M.Wei, D.G.Evans, X.Duan. Chem. Commun., 49, 969 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/C2CC37553B
- P.Haro-González, L.Martínez-Maestro, I.R.Martín, J.García-Solé, D.Jaque. *Small*, 8, 2652 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201102736
- 736. S.Kalytchuk, O.Zhovtiuk, S.V.Kershaw, R.Zbořil, A.L.Rogach. *Small*, **12**, 466 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201501984
- L.M.Maestro, E.M.Rodríguez, F.S.Rodríguez, M.C.I.De La Cruz, A.Juarranz, R.Naccache, F.Vetrone, D.Jaque, J.A.Capobianco, J.G.Solé. *Nano Lett.*, 10, 5109 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/nl1036098

- C.Lewis, J.W.Erikson, D.A.Sanchez, C.E.McClure,
 G.P.Nordin, T.R.Munro, J.S.Colton. ACS Appl. Nano Mater.,
 3, 4045 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsanm.0c00065
- S.M.B.Albahrani, T.Seoudi, D.Philippon, L.Lafarge, P.Reiss, H.Hajjaji, G.Guillot, M.Querry, J.M.Bluet, P.Vergne. *RSC Adv.*, 8, 22897 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1039/C8RA03652G
- 740. L.Birchall, A.Foerster, G.A.Rance, A.Terry, R.D.Wildman, C.J.Tuck. Sensors Actuators A: Phys., 347, 113977 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sna.2022.113977
- 741. R.Tycko. *J.Magn. Reson.*, **244**, 64 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmr.2014.04.021
- 742. Y.Matsuda, T.Torimoto, T.Kameya, T.Kameyama, S.Kuwabata, H.Yamaguchi, T.Niimi. Sensors Actuators B: Chem., 176, 505 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2012.09.005
- 743. R.Marin, A.Vivian, A.Skripka, A.Migliori, V.Morandi,
 F.Enrichi, F.Vetrone, P.Ceroni, C.Aprile, P.Canton. ACS Appl. Nano Mater., 2, 2426 (2019);
 https://doi.org/10.1021/acsanm.9b00317
- 744. H.Zhang, Y.Wu, Z.Gan, Y.Yang, Y.Liu, P.Tang, D.Wu. J. Mater. Chem. B, 7, 2835 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1039/c8tb03261k
- 745. J.Liu, H.Zhang, G.S.Selopal, S.Sun, H.Zhao, F.Rosei. ACS Photonics, 6, 2479 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsphotonics.9b00763
- 746. H.Zhao, A.Vomiero, F.Rosei. *Small*, 11, 5741 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201502249
- 747. T.Kameya, Y.Matsuda, Y.Egami, H.Yamaguchi, T.Niimi. Sensors Actuators B: Chem., 190, 70 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2013.08.011
- 748. S.Cho, J.Kwag, S.Jeong, Y.Baek, S.Kim. *Chem. Mater.*, **25**, 1071 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm3040505
- 749. A.I.Arzhanov, A.O.Savostianov, K.A.Magaryan, K.R.Karimullin, A.V.Naumov. *Photonics Russia*, **16**, 96 (2022); https://doi.org/10.22184/1993-7296.FRos.2022.16.2.96.112
- S.J.Lee, Z.Ku, A.Barve, J.Montoya, W.-Y.Jang, S.R.J.Brueck, M.Sundaram, A.Reisinger, S.Krishna, S.K.Noh. *Nat*.
- Commun., 2, 286 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1283 751. A.A.Rempel, A.A.Valeev, A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein.
- *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **90**, 1397 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4991 752. A.S.Vokhmintsev, I.A.Weinstein, R.V.Kamalov,
- I.B.Dorosheva. *Bull. Russ. Acad. Sci. Phys*, **78**, 932 (2014); https://doi.org/10.3103/S1062873814090317
- 753. V.P.Tolstoy, L.B.Gulina, A.A.Meleshko. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 92 (3), RCR5071 (2023); https://doi.org/10.57634/RCR5071
- 754. S.A.Kozyukhin, P.I.Lazarenko, A.I.Popov, I.L.Eremenko. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **91** (9), RCR5033 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR5033
- 755. V.K.Sangwan, M.C.Hersam. *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, **15**, 517 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-020-0647-z
- 756. B.Sun, T.Guo, G.Zhou, S.Ranjan, Y.Jiao, L.Wei, Y.N.Zhou, Y.A.Wu. *Mater. Today Phys.*, **18**, 100393 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtphys.2021.100393
- 757. H.Sharma, N.Saini, A.Kumar, R.Srivastava. J. Mater. Chem. C, 11, 11392 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1039/d3tc01050c
- 758. Z.Chen, Y.Yu, L.Jin, Y.Li, Q.Li, T.Li, Y.Zhang, H.Dai, J.Yao. *Mater. Des.*, 188, (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2019.108415
- 759. H.An, Y.Ge, M.Li, T.W.Kim. *Adv. Electron. Mater.*, 7, 1 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/aelm.202000593
- 760. S.Koduvayur Ganeshan, V.Selamneni, P.Sahatiya. New J. Chem., 44, 11941 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1039/d0nj02053b
- 761. X.Fu, L.Zhang, H.D.Cho, T.W.Kang, D.Fu, D.Lee, S.W.Lee, L.Li, T.Qi, A.S.Chan, Z.A.Yunusov, G.N.Panin. *Small*, 15, 1 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201903809

- C.Perumal Veeramalai, F.Li, T.Guo, T.W.Kim. *Dalt. Trans.*, 48, 2422 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1039/c8dt04593c
- 763. H.An, Y.H.Lee, J.H.Lee, C.Wu, B.M.Koo, T.W.Kim. Sci. Rep., 10, 1 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-62721-5
- 764. C.Perumalveeramalai, F.Li, T.Guo, T.W.Kim. *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, 40, 1088 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1109/LED.2019.2918701
- 765. J.Wang, Z.Lv, X.Xing, X.Li, Y.Wang, M.Chen, G.Pang,
 F.Qian, Y.Zhou, S.T.Han. *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, **30**, 1 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201909114
- 766. B.Das, J.Devi, P.K.Kalita, P.Datta. J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Electron., 29, 546 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10854-017-7946-7
- 767. B.K.Murgunde, M.K.Rabinal. Org. Electron., 48, 276 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgel.2017.06.015
- 768. D.H.Kim, C.Wu, D.H.Park, W.K.Kim, H.W.Seo, S.W.Kim, T.W.Kim. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 14843 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b18817
- H.Das, Q.Xu, P.Datta. J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Electron., 32, 7049 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10854-021-05415-6
 A.Betal, J.Bera, A.Sharma, A.K.Rath, S.Sahu. Phys. Chem.
- *Chem. Phys.*, **25**, 3737 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1039/d2cp05014e
- 771. J.Bera, A.Betal, A.Sharma, U.Shankar, A.K.Rath, S.Sahu. ACS Appl. Nano Mater., 5, 8502 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsanm.2c01894
- 772. M.Kim, S.Oh, S.Song, J.Kim, Y.H.Kim. *Appl. Sci.*, **11**, (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/app11115020